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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBRE

KEY FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

FEMKRR
Year ended 31 March
BZE3ANALEE
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss ZEBEE 2022 2021 Change
-] %

- Revenue (HK$'000) - A (FHT) 116,656 158,729 (42,073) (26.51)%
- Gross loss (HK$'000) -EE(FTAL) (8,394) (24,278) 15,884 (65.43)%
- Loss before tax (HK$'000) -BREEE(TAL) (375,244) (514,965) 139,721 (27.13)%
Owners EEA
Loss for the year and attributable to the owners N2 E1HEA ATEIL FREE

of the Company (HK$'000) (F#T) (371,735) (521,821) 150,086 (28.76)%
Basic and diluted loss per share (HK dollars) — SREA K #8518 (8 T) (0.69) (1.26) 0.57 (45.24)%

As at 31 March
R3A31H
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position #& BN & 2022 2021 Change
28 %

Net assets (HK$'000) BEFE(TEL) 190,159 189,128 1,031 0.55%
Cash and cash equivalents (HK$'000) Re kERRS(THETL) 31,770 153,787 (122,017) (79.34)%
Promissory notes, bank and other borrowings A 24 « BT R EMEE

(HK$'000) (F#T) 2,802,264 2,908,705 (106,441) (3.66)%
Equity attributable to owners of the Company A2 Bl A AEHEL

(HK$'000) (F#T) 190,159 189,128 1,031 0.55%
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KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBRE

FEMKLER

2022 2021 Change
#E
Gross profit margin® EFERO (7.20)% (15.30)% 8.10 percentage
points
(EERE
Return on equity®® BREE S E®RD (195.49)% (275.91)%  80.42 percentage
points
HaDE

Current ratio (times)® TENLL & () 1.49 1.71

Gearing ratio (times)® BERABELE(E® 14.74 15.38

(1)

4)

Gross profit margin represents gross profit divided by revenue of the
Group.

Return on equity is defined as the ratio of loss attributable to owners of
the Company to total equity attributable to owners of the Company.

Current ratio is defined as the ratio of total current assets to total current
liabilities.

Gearing ratio represents promissory notes, bank and other borrowings,
including current and non-current portions, divided by total equity.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERBE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”), | am pleased to present the result of Man Sang
International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2022
(“Fy22™).

PERFORMANCE

The coronavirus (“COVID-19”) resurgence sparked across the
world during FY22. Travel restrictions and city-wide lockdowns
have adversely affected our renovation and decoration
business in Wenzhou, China, our shopping mall and serviced
apartment operation in Chongqging, China, as well as our hotel
and resort operation in Hokkaido, Japan. The sales plan of
our Chongging apartment was also adversely affected by
the price reduction strategy adopted by property developers
on residential projects nearby as from 2021. The property
management operation segment was relatively stable during
Fy22.

Revenue of the Group decreased to HK$116,656,000 during
FY22, decreased by HK$42,073,000 as compared to the
prior year. The COVID-19 pandemic has been affecting the
economy of the world in recent years, the significant impact
on the economic growth affected our business in China and
Japan.

The loss attributable to the equity holders of the Company
decreased to HK$371,735,000 (FY21: HK$521,821,000),
and the total comprehensive expenses for FY22 attributable
to owners of the Company was HK$323,153,000 (FY21:
HK$397,998,000) which was mainly attributable to (i) gross loss
of HK$8,394,000 mainly arising from unsatisfactory result of
the serviced apartment operation and hotel operation in Japan
resulted from travel restrictions and lockdowns measures;
(ii) decrease in fair value of investment properties amounted
to HK$69,366,000; (iii) the impairment loss on properties
held for sale amounted to HK$5,710,000; and (iv) increase
in finance cost to HK$185,602,000 (FY21: HK$154,398,000)
as finance cost was not capitalised during the year following
the completion of our property redevelopment project in
Chongging.

AANERRES(EZDG((EBE)MAER
REBBERAG(EAAR)REMB AR (HE
[REB DEZE202243A318 IEFE ([20224F 8
BEEDRELSE -

HEERR

2022F IR FEHATHRES [FAEBMRKRS])
ERIRBEANBRBE - RERG REREH R
MRFPBUAM A RS REMER ZAIRFEE
BEHNBEYEELRERNAEZELEUREMRA
A BEMEERERNSEEXNTFFE - B
2021F PAZR - BN ER A ABIHE B NIZIY
¥R mYEHTETEEB KR EREN T
Z o PRo022FMREE - METEEEDIARE
BIE -

REBR2022F T HEERHNRAR D =
116,656,0008 7T * BEFH L 42,073,000/%8
T ARRASEBOLFR —EFERIRK
B HEEERNEAFENTZETRMAEFEH
=R

RARERTF ARGEEBRADE371,735,000
BIL (2021 F M BRFE  521,821,000/87T) °
RNATHEB AEM2022E MEEZE RN EK
Y 4858 /5323,153,000/8 7 (2021 FH B FE -
397,998,000/ 7T) * £ Z A A(i)8,394,00078 7T Y
FiE - EFEZELERERS REBERES RS
AABLERAABELBEERMNIES (i)
REYERN R BER 69,366,000 7T : (iii)#F
TER EWERER85,710,0008 7T : K (iv)81 5%
B AN AN E 185,602,00058 7T (2021 EE B B E
154,398,000/ L) + THREMNEENYES
BIEB® TR - FRBEMERANERELATE -
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PROSPECTS

Due to the resurgence of COVID-19 in Mainland China, we
expect the operating environment will remain uncertain,
however, the long-term positive trend will not change. In the
future, the Company will continue to focus on (i) monitoring the
financial performance of the existing businesses; (ii) reducing
the operating expenses and fees; and (iii) improving the
profitability of each asset to generate stable income and cash
flows, and lower the gearing ratio and the finance costs.

In addition, the Group will continue to identify investment and
merger and acquisition opportunities with growth potential
to enhance its overall financial performance and diversify its
investment portfolio with an aim to diversify risks and create
value for shareholders.

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt
gratitude to all our shareholders, customers and other
business partners for their long-term attention and support
to the Group over the years. | would also like to thank the
senior management team and all staff of the Group for their
dedication and hard work to the Group during the past year.

Hu Xingrong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 June 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERENWED

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

The Board is pleased to report the results of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2022 (“FY22”). During FY22, basic loss
per share was HK$0.69 (for the year ended 31 March 2021
(“FY21"): HK$1.26), and total comprehensive expenses was
approximately HK$326,969,000 (FY21: HK$396,025,000).

BUSINESS REVIEW

During FY22, the Group had engaged in four business streams
including (i) property development, sales and leasing of
properties; (i) provision of property management services; (iii)
provision of renovation and decoration services; and (iv) hotel
operation in Hokkaido, Japan, to create diversified income
sources for the Group.

Chonggqing Property
Revenue: HK$37,418,000 (FY21: HK$62,053,000)

Chongging Kingstone Land Co., Limited* (EEEAREBEHH
fR A ®]) (“Chongging Kingstone”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, holds a property located at 77
Qingnian Road, Yuzhong District, Chongqing, the PRC (the
“Chongging Property”). It is close to Jiefangbei Walking Street
which is a local and national famous pedestrian lane with
numerous retail shops.

Chongqging Property comprises residential apartments
(for sale), serviced apartments (for lease) managed by an
internationally renowned hotel management group and a
shopping mall (for lease).

Included in the Chongqging Property, the shopping mall is
classified as “Investment Properties”, the fair value of which
amounted to HK$1,957,299,000 as at 31 March 2022, which
was equivalent to 58.39% of total assets of the Group.

Despite the prolonged impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic,
revenue from serviced apartments and the shopping mall
recorded improvement, benefitting from occupancy rate and
letting rate increment. Revenue from the sale of residential
apartments was lower than expected. The overall result is
inevitably affected by the COVID-19 situation. However, we
believe that the rental income from serviced apartments and
shopping mall will remain as the steady income source of the
Group in the long run.

MEEE
BEECMAERAEEHE2022F3A318IEF
[E([2022F I FE]) 2 548 ° R2022F B F
ER - BREXREEF0.69ETT(HE2021F3A4
B1RIEFE (2021 FHBEE]) : 1.2687L) * M
2R ST B EE X /5326,969,00058 7T (20214 B X
¥ 1 396,025,000/ 7T) °

¥KE R

R2022FHFE - AEBPRENIEEY - 81
(VWEZR -  HERBEDE  (HEEDEEE
BRS¢ (iR EE REMRE © R(v)R B A4t
BEEENE - AAKERES T AR

E2UE S

WA :37,418,0008 L (2021 FHKREFEE :
62,053,000/% 7T)

ARREEE2ENBAREEEAEMBRAF
(EEEANBAURTEEET AT RS FIK
TTRZMETEEME] - ZYMEEOBRES
TH TEEEE REHNEZEMNENEE
FITH

EEVXEEEARUERHEERR)  mEAK
HMEEEEEEEERNREALAT(EAHEER
#) MEDEE(EREERR) -

EEMEBRIEAIREMEIZEYES
R2022F3H31H 2 AR BEA1,957,299,000/8
T MHERASEEREE 258.39% °

/\

BEXIFUERRSRBHETE  TarkA
ERREBEREM - REARERBEDE SR
ADEBENRZE - FEABNHEWART LA
B BREETAELHIIHUBTRAESRE
MEE - Rl BPBERERE  REARSE
KBRS anES EANRAREBHRE WAL
R o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Property Management
Revenue: HK$30,919,000 (FY21: HK$26,249,000)

In 2020, the Group entered into the property management
industry and created synergies with the Group’s other
businesses and has diversified the income sources of the
Group.

Zhejiang Huiyong Property Management Service Co., Ltd. (#
TTHE K Y2 E IR AR A R A 7)) (“Huiyong Property”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company was recognised as
the “2020 Top 100 Property Management Companies in China”
by the China Index Academy and was awarded the title of
“China Property Service Company with Featured Brands” in
2021.

Huiyong Property has over 12 subsidiaries in multiple
provinces such as Zhejiang, Guangdong, Sichuan, Jiangsu,
Fujian, Shanxi, Guizhou, Qinghai and Anhui. The properties
under management comprised of a variety of property types
including residential communities, retail premises, office
premises, sales offices and scenic areas, etc.

Huiyong Property has successfully enlarged its operation scale
through taking on new projects, thus contributed to its revenue
increment.

Huiyong Property is committed to building an advanced
property service platform, constructing a smart property
management information system, introducing a “platform +
steward” service model that creates a community that focuses
on comfort, family, health and smart ecology, to provide
property owners with a first-class community environment,
smart information system and complete security protection, as
well as satisfy the needs of property owners in terms of food,
shopping, housing, amusement and entertainment, thereby
creating a pleasant community with comfortable offices and

happy living.

Renovation and Decoration
Revenue: HK$40,329,000 (FY21: HK$62,394,000)

The Group’s entering into the renovation and decoration
industry in 2020 has led the Group to acquire resources, skills
and techniques to expand new businesses and complement
other businesses.

EEENWED T

E 3¢
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED T

Wenzhou Beichen Construction Co., Ltd. (&Mt = E &
BB AR (“Beichen Construction”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, is principally engaged in
renovation and decoration and engineering services in the PRC
and holds the PRC Grade One construction and decoration
engineering contractor qualification.

The business of Beichen Construction is mainly in Zhejiang
and is gradually expanding outside the province. It specialises
in various renovation and decoration projects for residential
buildings, hotels, shopping malls, office buildings, schools and
hospitals, and has completed various projects with exquisite
craftsmanship and sound construction management.

Hotel operation in Japan
Revenue: HK$7,990,000 (FY21: HK$8,033,000)

Tafutsu Kabushiki Kaisha* (k2 &4t % %) (“Doof Japan”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, operates
a resort hotel and a 18-hole golf course located in Hokkaido,
Japan.

The prolonged COVID-19 pandemic inhibited the inbound
tourism in Japan. However, as the vaccination rates continue
to rise, the Japanese government has begun to open up the
borders and continuously increased the number of entry
permits. It is expected that full entry will be opened shortly,
providing full support to the operation of the hotel and golf
course.

As to hotel operations management, guided by the principle
of “taking root in the local market for common development”,
the Group continued to launch a series of marketing activities
for the local market in Japan and Hokkaido to develop and
enrich the product lines of the hotel and golf course to meet
the needs of customers at different levels, which has had a
positive impact on the business performance.

Given the beauty of its natural environment, the Hokkaido
hotel will gradually improve its operation and management
capabilities. It is expected that the future income generated by
Doof Japan and its subsidiaries will have considerable room
for improvement as the global pandemic ends.

ARrlzRE2EMBARRMNIEEEZRERA
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H ==
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BAEEEE
WA 7,990,000 T (2021 FH B FE ¢
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LOOKING FORWARD

The redevelopment of Chongqging Property has been
completed. We believe that the serviced apartments will
gradually generate positive returns in the future, as a result
of its geographical advantage and managerial experience.
However, the shopping mall operation is still in its nurturing
stage. The sales of residential apartments have also fallen
short of expectations due to the effects of the volatile pandemic
in Mainland China. Nonetheless, we believe that with the
improvement of the pandemic, the shopping mall operation
and the sales of residential apartments will have potential
growth.

As new projects are successively undertaken by the Group,
Huiyong Property and Beichen Construction continue to
generate revenue growth for the Group and the business
scope of the Group gradually expands.

We expect that the global pandemic will be contained and the
COVID-19 vaccination rate will gradually increase. We believe
that the tourism industry in Japan will gradually recover and
the hotel performance will improve in the long run.

The Group will continue to focus on (i) monitoring the financial
performance of the existing businesses; (ii) reducing operating
expenses and fees; and (iii) improving the profitability of each
asset to generate stable income and cash flows and lower the
gearing ratio and the finance costs.

On the basis of further improving the existing business,
the Group will also proactively look for more investment
opportunities with promising outlooks and prospects and
continue to create value for shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue, gross loss and gross loss margin

Revenue of the Group for FY22 amounted to HK$116,656,000
(FY21: HK$158,729,000), which comprised of leasing income
from the Chongaging Property, income from the Japan resort
hotel, property management service income and renovation
and decoration income. The decrease in revenue by
HK$42,073,000 as compared to the prior year was mainly
contributed from the decrease in overall revenue of Chongging
Property.

EEENWED T

BERRK
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SERAEEHRRRALR - NEBE X586 E
TER FZHEA o
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Tt ERRBEZRSXE  BEBRKETED
BESER  BEXERERL -

AEERBFERIN()EERREREBNMBE
R (NREEEXHRER  RiREBREEE
MAEMESN  UWEERBTEMBRARBRSR - &M
[REAREERNBEL R RPFHEA

AEEGEE-TRAREXEBHER L - BKE
BEREZEARRIASNRERE  HER/K
REVEEE -

Bt 75 121

WA - EBREBEE

RNEE R 20225 B B E 2 WA %116,656,000
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED T

Gross loss of the Group decreased by 65.43% from
HK$24,278,000 in FY21 to HK$8,394,000 in FY22. The negative
profit margin decreased to 7.20% in FY22 (FY21: 15.30%). The
improvement in gross loss mainly arose from the increased
occupancy rate of serviced apartments and shopping mall in
Chongging and the reduction in the cost of operation, which
resulted in significant improvement in the rental income and
gross loss of the Group’s Chongaging Property. However,
the pandemic had a serious impact on the overall economic
environment and consumption, so that revenue from the
Group’s operations could not fully offset the corresponding
cost of sales and gross loss arose therefrom.

Selling and administrative expenses

Selling and administrative expenses mainly comprised of
selling expenses of HK$13,835,000 (FY21: HK$18,358,000)
and administrative expenses of HK$82,830,000 (FY21:
HK$103,742,000). The selling and administrative expenses
have been reduced effectively as a result of strengthened cost
control measures during FY22.

Loss and total comprehensive expenses for the year
attributable to owners of the Company

The loss attributable to the equity holders of the Company
decreased to HK$371,735,000 (FY21: HK$521,821,000),
and the total comprehensive expenses for FY22 attributable
to owners of the Company was HK$323,153,000 (FY21:
HK$397,998,000) which was mainly attributable to (i) gross loss
of HK$8,394,000 mainly arising from unsatisfactory result of
the serviced apartment operation and hotel operation in Japan
resulted from travel restrictions and lockdowns measures;
(ii) decrease in fair value of investment properties amounted
to HK$69,366,000; (iii) the impairment loss on properties
held for sale amounted to HK$5,710,000; and (iv) increase
in finance cost to HK$185,602,000 (FY21: HK$154,398,000)
as finance cost was not capitalised during the year following
the completion of our property redevelopment project in
Chongging.

NEBZEEB2021FH HFER24,278,000
7 TT R 1 65.43% 2 20225 B £ & #98,394,000
BT > BRERE D E2022F M EENT.20%
(PN EMBEE : 15.30%) - EEMETELH
REENRS A ABSEmEHAEHHEE A RES
STHERE  AEBENEEMELRRAREERY
BEEEENRE - MEBHERLCBEREREEY
BEE  BYASKEEBHRAELT2EHEE
FERISHERA - FAILEETERE -

HERTHEX
HERITHERAZETERIEHEERM=T 13,835,000
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Liquidity and capital resources

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s total equity was
HK$190,159,000 (2021: HK$189,128,000), represented a
slightly increase of 0.55% as compared to prior year, which
was mainly attributable to (i) the exchange gain on translation
of foreign operations of HK$48,641,000 as a result of the
appreciation of Renminbi against Hong Kong dollars; (ii)
allotment and issue of 142,500,000 subscription shares to repay
part of the promissory notes (i.e. the promissory notes to be
offsetted of HK$228,000,000); and (iii) allotment and issue of
62,500,000 subscription shares to repay the principal amount
of unsecured borrowing from Mr. Hu of HK$100,000,000.
Such impact on total equity was partially offset by the loss
attributable to the equity holders of the Company for FY22
amounted to HK$371,735,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group obtained
a bank loan with principal amount of RMB1,250,000,000,
equivalent to HK$1,362,500,000, which carries a fixed interest
of 7% per annum and will mature on 30 March 2035. Such loan
was utilised to repay other borrowings with shorter repayment
terms and higher interest charges.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of HK$31,770,000 (2021: HK$153,787,000). Cash
and bank balances were mainly denominated in Renminbi.
The Group’s current assets amounted to HK$544,014,000
(2021: HK$670,556,000). The current ratio, represented by
total current assets divided by total current liabilities, was 1.49
(2021: 1.71).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had current liabilities
of HK$364,548,000 (2021: HK$391,629,000) and total
borrowings, representing bank and other borrowings,
promissory notes and unsecured borrowings from a Director,
amounted to HK$2,802,264,000 (2021: HK$2,908,705,000)
which are interest bearing and denominated in Renminbi
or Hong Kong dollars. The Group does not currently use
any derivatives to manage interest rate risk. Gearing ratio,
represented by total borrowings divided by total equity, was
14.74 (2021: 15.38). Approximately HK$47,714,000 (2021:
HK$20,636,000) of the total borrowings will be due in the
coming twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
As at 31 March 2022, the Group had capital commitment
of HK$1,963,000 (2021: HK$1,898,000), while its net
current assets and cash and cash equivalents amounted to
HK$179,466,000 (2021: HK$278,927,000) and HK$31,770,000
(2021: HK$153,787,000), respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED T

In view of the above, the directors of the Company have
reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections covering a period
of twelve months from 31 March 2022 which have taken into
account the following measures:

(1) The operation of the project of Chongging Kingstone,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
is expected to continue to generate operating cash
inflows to the Group;

The continuous financial support from Mr. Hu with
unutilised facilities as at 31 March 2022 amounted to
approximately HK$414,646,000 available for drawdown
at the Group’s request; and

The continuous financial support from a related
company which is beneficially owned by Mr. Hu with
unutilised facilities as at 31 March 2022 amounted to
approximately HK$75,309,000 available for drawdown
at the Group’s request.

Based on the above, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the Group will have sufficient working capital to fulfill
its financial obligations as and when they fall due in the coming
twelve months from 31 March 2022. Accordingly, the directors
of the Company are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare
these consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates

The Group principally operates its businesses in PRC, Hong
Kong and Japan. The Group has subsidiaries operating in PRC
and Japan, in which most of their transactions are denominated
in Renminbi (“RMB”) and Japanese Yen (“JPY”) respectively.
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange fluctuations from
RMB and JPY which are the main foreign currency transacted
by the Group during FY22.

The Group did not enter into any foreign exchange contract
as hedging measures during FY22. The Group manages
its foreign currency risk against RMB and JPY by closely
monitoring their movements and may use hedging derivatives,
such as foreign currency forward contracts, to manage its
foreign currency risk as appropriate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Human resources and remuneration policy

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a total workforce of
393 (2021: 399). The total staff cost, including Directors’
emoluments and mandatory provident fund contributions,
amounted to HK$72,688,000 (2021: HK$67,245,000).
Employees are remunerated based on their performance and
experience. Remuneration package is determined by reference
to market conditions and individual performance. In order
to align the interests of staff, Directors and consultants with
the Group, share options may be granted to staff, Directors
and consultants under the Group’s share option scheme (the
“2012 Share Option Scheme”). There were no share options
outstanding under the 2012 Share Option Scheme as at 31
March 2022.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for those Hong Kong
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme,
and follows the national pension system (“National Pension
System”) for the employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Japan, contributions of which are made based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries, and the
employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme (the “Central Pension Scheme”, together with the
MPF Scheme and National Pension System, the “Defined
Contribution Schemes”) operated by the local municipal
government, in which these subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage, which was pre-determined
by the local municipal government, of the sum of basic salary
and allowance of employees to the Central Pension Scheme.
The contributions by the Group for the Defined Contribution
Schemes are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the relevant rules of the
respective schemes.

The Group’s contributions to the Defined Contribution Schemes
vest fully and immediately with the employees. Accordingly,
(i) for each of the two years ended 31 March 2021 and 31
March 2022, there was no forfeiture of contributions under the
Defined Contribution Schemes; and (ii) there were no forfeited
contributions available for the Group to reduce its existing level
of contributions to the Defined Contribution Schemes as at 31
March 2021 and 31 March 2022.

For each of the two years ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March
2022, the Group did not have any defined benefit plan.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED T

USE OF PROCEEDS

Connected Transaction in relation to Subscriptions of New
Shares under Specific Mandates

On 17 August 2021, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement (the “Subscription Agreement I”) with Total Idea
International Limited (“Total Idea”), a company incorporated
under the laws of British Virgin Islands and indirectly wholly
owned by Mr. Hu, pursuant to which Total Idea conditionally
agreed to subscribe for and the Company conditionally
agreed to allot and issue 142,500,000 subscription shares at
the subscription price of HK$1.60 per subscription share in
settlement of certain promissory notes issued by the Company
to Total Idea with a principal amount of HK$228,000,000 (the
“Promissory Notes”).

On the even day, the Company entered into another
subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement I1”,
together with the Subscription Agreement |, the “Subscription
Agreements”) with Faithful Goal International Limited (“Faithful
Goal”), a company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong
and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and Mr. Hu, pursuant to which Mr. Hu conditionally agreed to
subscribe for and the Company conditionally agreed to allot
and issue 62,500,000 subscription shares at the subscription
price of HK$1.60 per subscription share in settlement of the
principal amount of unsecured borrowings from Mr. Hu by
Faithful Goal of HK$100,000,000 (the “Loan”).

The subscription shares under the Subscription Agreement
| and Subscription Agreement Il ranked pari passu in all
respects with the then existing issued shares of HK$0.50
each. The subscription shares under the Subscription
Agreement | have a nominal value of HK$71,250,000 and the
subscription shares under the Subscription Agreement Il have
a nominal value of HK$31,250,000. The total subscription
shares (the “Subscription Share(s)”) have a nominal value of
HK$102,500,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The subscription price of HK$1.60 per Subscription Share
represents:

(i a premium of approximately 5.26% over the closing
price per share of HK$1.52 as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on 17 August 2021, being the date of the
Subscription Agreements;

(ii) a premium of approximately 1.91% over the average
closing price per share of HK$1.57 as quoted on
the Stock Exchange for the last five consecutive
trading days immediately preceding the date of the
Subscription Agreements; and

(i) a discount of approximately 2.44% to the average
closing price per share of HK$1.64 as quoted on
the Stock Exchange for the last ten consecutive
trading days immediately preceding the date of the
Subscription Agreements.

As at 10 September 2021, being the latest practicable date
prior to the printing of the circular dated 16 September
2021 in relation to the above-mentioned subscriptions (the
“Subscriptions”) for the purpose of ascertaining certain
information contained herein, the aggregate outstanding
principal amount of the promissory notes issued by the
Company to Total Idea was HK$778,000,000 and the Loan in
the principal sum of HK$100,000,000 was outstanding.

The Subscriptions were completed on 12 October 2021.
Pursuant to the Subscription Agreements, the Subscription
Shares were registered in the name of China DaDi Group
Limited, the nominee of both Total Idea and Mr. Hu.

As the aggregated subscription price for the Subscription
Shares under the Subscription Agreements were satisfied by
setting off the aggregate principal sums of the Promissory
Notes and the Loan as intended, there were no cash proceeds
from the Subscriptions.

The related professional fees and all related expenses of
about HK$0.78 million were borne by the Company. The net
subscription price (calculated as the aggregated subscription
price under the Subscription Agreements (after deducting
related professional fees and all related expenses) divided
by the number of Subscription Shares) is approximately
HK$1.5962 per Subscription Share.

For details of the Subscriptions, please refer to the circular
dated 16 September 2021 and announcements dated 17
August 2021, 5 October 2021 and 30 November 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED T

Charge on Asset and Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2022, the Chongging Property was pledged to
secure banking borrowings granted to Chongging Kingstone.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Save as disclosed above, the Group held no significant
investment as at 31 March 2022.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
Save as disclosed herein, for FY22, there were no other
material acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries, associates
or joint ventures by the Group.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Save as disclosed herein, there has been no change in the
capital structure of the Group during FY22. The capital of the
Group only comprises ordinary shares.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

CHAIRMAN

Mr. Hu Xingrong, aged 42, was appointed as the chairman of
the Board and an executive Director of the Company on 2 May
2018. He is also the chairman of the nomination committee and
a member of the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr.
Hu is responsible for the business strategy and direction of the
Company and provides leadership for the Board and ensure
proper and effective functioning of the Board. He has over 18
years of experience in corporate management, investment
and business development. He is currently the chairman of the
board of directors of Doof International Holding Group Limited*
(ZHFEBEREEAR DA (“Doof Group”), a company
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and
is a large-scale comprehensive privately-owned enterprise
group. Mr. Hu is also a beneficial owner of China DaDi Group
Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Meanwhile,
Mr. Hu serves as the President of Wenzhou Enterprises
Chamber of Commerce in Beijing* (At 7B M P EEE), the
Honorary President of Hong Kong Wenzhou Entrepreneurs
Association Limited and a committee member of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference of Xinjiang Uygur
Autonomous Region.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Huang Xiaohai, aged 53, was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 2 May 2018. He is also a member
of each of the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Huang is responsible for the
overall implementation of the Company’s strategies and the
co-ordination of overall business operations. He has over 31
years of extensive experience in banking and financial sectors.
He graduated from China University of Petroleum (Beijing). Mr.
Huang is currently working as a vice president in Doof Group.

Mr. Jin Jianggui, aged 52, was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 5 November 2018. Mr. Jin
graduated from Hangzhou Dianzi University with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Finance. He has over 27 years of extensive
experience in banking and finance sectors. Mr. Jin is currently
a vice president of Doof Group.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEAEREBE

Mr. Li Zhenyu, aged 47, was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 5 November 2018. Mr. Li
graduated from Tsinghua University with a Doctor of
Philosophy in Chemical Engineering. Mr. Li has over 18 years
of extensive experience in natural resources sector and before
joining the Company, he had been working in China National
Petroleum Corporation from 1999 to 2017 and the position last
held was the strategy research supervisor of the petrochemical
institute. Mr. Li is currently a vice president of Doof Group.

Mr. Xu Haohao, aged 38, was appointed as an executive
Director and chief executive officer of the Company on 30 July
2019 and 2 September 2019 respectively. Mr. Xu is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Xu holds a
bachelor’s degree in Financial Administration from University of
Winnipeg, Canada and an EMBA degree from City University of
Hong Kong. Mr. Xu has over 10 years of experience in financial
and corporate management and before joining the Company
as the executive Director on 30 July 2019, he had been
working in Hong Kong Airlines Limited as General Manager,
Finance from 2012 to 2014. Mr. Xu has been an executive
director of CWT International Limited (stock code: 521)
("CWT"), a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), from December 2014 to
June 2019. He was also appointed as an executive president
of CWT from February 2015 to March 2018, co-chairman of
CWT from March 2018 to June 2019, chief executive officer of
CWT from November 2018 to February 2019, chairman of the
nomination committee, executive committee and investment
committee and member of the remuneration committee of CWT
from March 2018 to June 2019. Mr. Xu was also a director of
HY Energy Group Co., Ltd.(B# &R B Ax 17 B R A 7)) (stock
code: 600387), an A-Shares listed company on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange, from May 2018 to May 2019. Mr. Xu was a
non-executive director of AID Life Science Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8088), a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
from November 2016 to September 2019.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Pau Yee Ling, aged 43, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 5 November 2018.
She is also the chairlady of the remuneration committee of
the Company and a member of each of the audit committee
and nomination committee of the Company. Ms. Pau holds a
Bachelor degree of Business Administration in Accounting in
the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and a
Master degree of Science in China Business Studies in the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Ms. Pau has around 18
years of experience in several multi-national corporations and
international accounting firms, expertise in Hong Kong, the
PRC and overseas tax advisory, group restructuring, merger
and acquisitions. Ms. Pau is currently a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Ms. Pau
is currently a senior tax business partner of a multinational
enterprise.

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit, aged 50, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on
5 November 2018. He is also the chairman of the audit
committee of the Company and a member of each of the
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Company. Mr. Wong holds a Master of Business Administration
Degree from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Wong
has over 19 years of experience in accounting and financial
management, mergers and acquisitions gained from certain
senior finance related positions including companies listed
in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the HKICPA.
Mr. Wong is currently an independent Non-executive Director
of Culturecom Holdings Limited (Stock code: 343) and
Sprocomm Intelligence Limited (Stock code: 1401), both of
these companies are listed on the Stock Exchange.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEAEREBE

Mr. Yuen Hoi Po, aged 59, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 5 November 2018.
He is also a member of each audit committee, remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company. Since
1990, Mr. Yuen has been engaging in various industries
including trading, real estates, tourism and services, acquiring
extensive experiences in the commercial sector. Mr. Yuen is
currently serving as an executive director and chief executive
officer of Huayi Tencent Entertainment Company Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 419),
as well as a member of its remuneration committee and the
Chairman of its executive committee, corporate governance
committee and strategy committee.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheng Haoliang, aged 34, was appointed as the Group
chief financial officer on 18 October 2019. Mr. Cheng has
many years of experience in financial management, banking
and corporate finance. Prior to joining the Company, he
worked in renowned banks and listed company in Hong Kong
and served senior roles in finance function.

*  For identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Man Sang International Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) recognises the
importance of achieving the highest standard of corporate
governance consistent with the needs and requirements of its
businesses and the best interest of all of its stakeholders, and
the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) is fully
committed to doing so. The Board believes that high standards
of corporate governance provide a framework and solid
foundation for the Group to manage business risks, enhance
transparency, achieve high standard of accountability and
protect stakeholders’ interests.

The Group has adopted a corporate governance statement
of policy which provides guidance on the application of the
corporate governance principles on the Group, with reference
to the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”).

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has applied all the
principles of good corporate governance and complied with all
code provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the year
ended 31 March 2022.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the
code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by
the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, upon specific
enquiries made by the Company, that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code during the
year ended 31 March 2022. To ensure Directors’ dealings in
the securities of the Company (the “Securities”) are conducted
in accordance with the Model Code and securities code of
the Company, a Director is required to notify the Chairman
in writing and obtain a written acknowledgement from the
Chairman prior to any dealings in the Securities.
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EEERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the
Group, which includes leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions,
internal control, risk management and performances. The
management team is delegated with the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the day-to-day management
of the Group. The delegated functions and work tasks are
periodically reviewed. Major corporate matters that are
specifically delegated by the Board to the management
include (1) the preparation of interim and annual reports and
announcements for the Board’s approval before publishing;
(2) implementation of adequate systems of internal controls
and risk management procedures; and (3) compliance with
relevant statutory and regulatory requirements and rules and
regulations. It is the responsibility of the Board to determine
the appropriate corporate governance practices applicable to
the Company’s circumstances and to ensure processes and
procedures are in place to achieve the Company’s corporate
governance objectives.

The Board has maintained the necessary balance of skills and
experience appropriate for the business requirements and
objectives of the Group and for the exercise of independent
judgement. Each Director with various professional
qualification, experience and related financial management
expertise have contributed to the effective direction of the
Company and provided adequate checks and balances
to safeguard to the interests of both the Group and the
shareholders. Hence, the Board believes that the current
Board composition satisfy the balance of expertise, skills and
experience to the corporate governance requirements of the
Group as well as the ongoing development and management
of its business activities.

The Board currently comprises five executive Directors, namely
Mr. Hu Xingrong (chairman of the Board), Mr. Huang Xiaohali,
Mr. Jin Jianggui, Mr. Li Zhenyu and Mr. Xu Haohao and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee
Ling, Mr. Wong Kwan Kit and Mr. Yuen Hoi Po.

The biographies of the existing Directors are set out in “Profile
of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 19 to 22 of this
annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as
well as the operation and financial performance of the Group,
and to review and approve the Company’s interim and annual
results. During the year, six Board meetings were held and the
attendance of each Director at the Board meetings is set out in
the section headed “Board and Committees Meetings” of this
annual report.

Regular Board meetings for each year are scheduled in
advance to facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. All
Directors are given an opportunity to include matters for
discussion in the agenda. The Company Secretary assists
the Chairman in preparing the agenda for meetings to comply
with all applicable rules and regulations. The agenda and the
accompanying Board papers are normally sent to Directors at
least three days before the intended date of a Board meeting.
Draft minutes of each Board meeting are circulated to Directors
for their comment before being tabled at the next Board
meeting for approval. All minutes are kept by the Company
Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable time
on reasonable notice by any Director.

Pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company, all Directors
appointed to fill a causal vacancy shall hold office only until
the next following general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at the meeting. At each annual
general meeting, at least one-third of the Directors for the time
being shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.

There is no relationship between members of the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEERRE

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
(the “CEQ”) of the Group are clearly defined and segregated
to ensure independence and proper checks and balances.
The Chairman focuses on the business strategy and direction
of the Company and has executive responsibilities, provides
leadership for the Board and ensures proper and effective
functioning of the Board in discharging of its responsibilities.
The CEO is accountable to the Board for the overall
implementation of the Company’s strategies and the co-
ordination of overall business operations.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the roles of the
Chairman and the CEO are separate. Mr. Hu Xingrong was the
Chairman while the role of the CEO was performed by Mr. Xu
Haohao.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has complied with the requirements under Rules
3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company
has received confirmation of independence from all three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee
Ling, Mr. Wong Kwan Kit and Mr. Yuen Hoi Po in accordance
with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has reviewed the independence of all independent
non-executive Directors and concluded that all of them
are independent within the definition of the Listing Rules.
Furthermore, the Board is not aware of the occurrence of any
events which would cause it to believe that the independence
of any of the independent non-executive Directors has been
impaired up to the date of this annual report.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a service agreement with the Company pursuant to which
each of them is appointed for service with the Company for
a term of three years commencing on 4 November 2019 and
shall continue thereafter. Their terms of appointment shall be
subject to the rotational retirement provision of the bye-laws of
the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board does not have a Corporate Governance Committee
and the Board is responsible for the corporate governance
function as a whole. During FY22, the Board had performed
the following duties:

1. Developing and reviewing relevant corporate
governance policy and practice of the Company.

2. Reviewing and inspecting continuous professional
development and training of the Directors and senior
management.

£k Reviewing and monitoring the policies and practices

of the Company being in compliance with the statutory
and other regulatory provisions.

4. Developing, reviewing and checking code and provision
of conducts applicable to the Directors and employees.

5 Reviewing that the Company being in compliance
with the code and corporate governance reporting
requirements.
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EEERRE

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Upon appointing a new Director, each new Director receives
an induction package covering business operations, policy and
procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory
and regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure that
he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities under the
Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements.

The Directors, on an ongoing basis, will receive amendments
to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In
addition, the Company encourages the Directors to enroll in a
wide range of professional development courses and seminars
relating to the Listing Rules, Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and corporate governance practices so that they can
continuously improve their relevant knowledge and skills. The
Company has also provided reading materials to all Directors
to develop and refresh their professional knowledge.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Directors participated
in the following continuous professional development:
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”)
on 22 August 2013 (an updated version was adopted with
effect from 1 January 2022) which sets out the approach to
achieve diversity on the Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at Board level
as an essential element in supporting the attainment of the
Company’s strategic objectives and sustainable development.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to age, gender, talents, skills, experience, independence and
knowledge. The Company will also take into consideration its
own business model and specific needs from time to time.
All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having
due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises eight
Directors, amongst them, three are independent non-executive
Directors, thereby promoting critical review and control of the
management process. The Board is also characterised by
significant diversity, whether considered in terms of gender,
age, professional experience, skills and knowledge.

Having reviewed the Policy and the Board’s composition, the
Nomination Committee considered that the requirements of the
Policy had been met.
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EEERRE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

An Audit Committee has been established by the Board with
specific written terms of reference and all members of the
Audit Committee are Independent Non-executive Directors.
Pursuant to the Audit Committee’s terms of reference, the Audit
Committee is authorised to commit Company’s funds in order
to obtain advice from outside legal counsel, accountants,
investigatory services or other expert advice. Details of the
authority and responsibilities of the Audit Committee are
available on the websites of the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee Ling, Mr. Wong Kwan
Kit and Mr. Yuen Hoi Po. Mr. Wong Kwan Kit is the chairman of
the Audit Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Audit Committee
held three meetings including the review of the annual results
for the year ended 31 March 2021 and the interim results
for the six months ended 30 September 2021 before their
submission to the Board and monitored the integrity of such
consolidated financial statements. The attendance of each
member of the Audit Committee is set out in the section
headed “Board and Committees Meetings” of this annual
report.

The Audit Committee has also discussed and reviewed the key
audit matters determined by the external auditor under Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing for the year ended 31 March
2021.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A Remuneration Committee has been established by the Board
with specific written terms of reference and the majority of the
members of the Remuneration Committee are Independent
Non-Executive Directors. Details of the authority and
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee Ling, Mr. Wong
Kwan Kit and Mr. Yuen Hoi Po, and two executive Directors,
namely Mr. Hu Xingrong and Mr. Huang Xiaohai. Ms. Pau Yee
Ling is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to approve the remuneration
packages for the individual Directors and Senior Management
of the Company. The attendance of each member of the
Remuneration Committee is set out in the section headed
“Board and Committees Meetings” of this annual report.

Details of the amount of Directors’ emoluments for the year
ended 31 March 2022 are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the annual salary of the
Senior Management (exclude Directors) of the Company falls
within the following band.

Remuneration band
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TEERRE
NOMINATION COMMITTEE REZET

® A Nomination Committee has been established by the Board ZZ&CRKVIEZEZES jfiﬁéTﬂﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁéﬁﬁ
with specific terms of reference. The Nomination Committee is B - RZZE 28X (HHP B WEAEAET
responsible for, amongst other things, identifying individuals TEE &K 8 EEEEESUNESETH
suitably qualified to become Board members, considering 2| Wit FitEBRESSREEER:S - 248
the reappointment of the Directors and succession planning & B€ 2 B & B8 18R AR | KB 32 B 48 uh
for Directors and making recommendations to the Board in  AJ{t&R] o
respect of the aforesaid matters. Details of the authority and
responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
The Nomination Committee comprises three independent non- EHREZE@H -—ZBBIIERNTEBTLEERL LT -
executive Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee Ling, Mr. Wong Kwan SEERLARRBEILEALMAHNITE SIS
Kit and Mr. Yuen Hoi Po, and two executive Directors, namely M%E&%B%/?EEZEW o LR S A BIRAE
Mr. Hu Xingrong and Mr. Huang Xiaohai. Mr. Hu Xingrong is EB&E/F °
the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Nomination &{ZE2022F3A31BItFE ' RELLZ B S8BT
Committee held one meeting to review the structure, size and — X &% @ W EZTS228E RELRAEAS @ I
composition of the Board and concluded that members of the RAEESREEHBZBENBLBISTHN A
Board has possessed the expertise and independence to carry Hﬂ@f?%% 2BERET - RBELEESREE
out the Board’s functions and responsibilities. The attendance ZHFERHIAAFERIEETe R TETSH | —
of each member of the Nomination Committee is set out in £ °
the section headed “Board and Committees Meetings” of this
annual report.
NOMINATION POLICY REBE
The Board has adopted the nomination policy (the “Nomination HEEE€EHEMIEZBE(IRZBE]) » ZHEH
Policy”) which sets out the nomination criteria and procedures  FISE AR A GIEIZERJREMAEE S 2 RRAZIRSA
for the Company to select candidate(s) for possible inclusion 1ZEREF o IRABEK AR AR QR EIR AR A
in the Board. The Nomination Policy could assist the Company ZE&%Z bl iRAEEEMNEPETRIZEY
to achieve board diversity in the Company and enhance the A& -
effectiveness of the Board and its corporate governance
standard.
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When assessing the suitability of a candidate, factors such as
the qualifications, skills, integrity and experience will be taken
into consideration as a whole. In the case of independent non-
executive Directors, they must further satisfy the independence
criteria set out within Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Since the
selection of candidates should ensure that diversity remains a
central feature of the Board, a range of diverse perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, or professional experience would be
considered.

The process to identify potential candidates for the Board
would be as follows:

(1) identifying potential candidates, including
recommendations from the Board members,
professional search firms and the shareholders of the
Company;

(2) evaluating the candidates based on the approved
selection criteria through methods such as reviewing
the resume and conducting the background checks;

(3) reviewing the profiles of the shortlisted candidates and
interview them; and

(4) making recommendations to the Board on the selected
candidates.

The Nomination Policy also includes the Board succession plan
to assess whether vacancies on the Board would be created
or expected due to the Directors’ resignation, retirement, death
and other circumstances and to identify candidates in advance
if necessary. The Nomination Policy will be reviewed on a
regular basis.

EEERRE
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BOARD AND COMMITTEES MEETINGS

The individual attendance records of each Director at the
various meetings of the Company during the year ended 31
March 2022 are set out below:

EESNZTEEESE
HE2022F3A31ALLFE  SEEHFEART]
ZEeZE 2 @R HFELESESIMT

General Audit Remuneration Nomination
meetings Board = Committee Committee Committee
Name of Director ESnR BRRAE EXg ENZES FMEEE REZES®
Mr. Hu Xingrong TR 22 6/6 = 111 111
Mr. Huang Xiaohai BEESLE 22 6/6 S 1/1 111
Mr. Jin Jianggui SITHLE 22 6/6 = = =
Mr. Li Zhenyu FRFEE 2/2 6/6 = = =
Mr. Xu Haohao RERRLE 22 6/6 - - -
Ms. Pau Yee Ling MikERL 22 6/6 313 11 il
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEENAE 22 6/6 33 11 11
Mr. Yuen Hoi Po RBREE 2/2 6/6 3/3 111 il
ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT BEREZE

The Board is responsible for overseeing the preparation of
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2022 which gives a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2022, and of the
consolidated financial performance and cash flows for year
then ended. In preparing the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board has selected
appropriate accounting policies, applied them consistently in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants which are pertinent to its operations and relevant
to the consolidated financial statements, made judgements
and estimates that are prudent and reasonable, and ensured
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements on the
going concern basis.

The Group endeavours to present a balanced, clear and
comprehensible assessment of the Group’s performance,
position and prospects. The interim and annual results of the
Company are announced in a timely manner within the limit of
two months and three months, respectively, after the end of the
relevant periods in accordance with the Listing Rules.

EECAEEEREEE2022F3A31HILEE
CIRAEMBHRE  NWEEAFHRBEAEER
2022 3H31A G MR A A REEZ B Lt
FEZHGEAUKEEREERE - REREZR
2022F3AZIHILFEZREMBHRERN - EF
SERAABENHE  ERERBTESM
AREMBEHREEERREVEREEEZES
Bk R ENEERAE 2 B KGR
WHERIZ I B S RIRRUR A IS HRE -

REEBKFE Bk FEAEER
B RRARAIR - NRARZTFHAREFREEDR
EHRANZIRE - HRIERBHEEREMEA
R=EAZRARNER QS o
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The Directors have acknowledged their responsibility for
preparing all information and representation contained in the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the remuneration paid/

EEERRE

BEDME ?&i*ﬁf&fﬁ%ﬁﬂ#ﬁizozﬁ
3A31RIEEEARD AEUBREANNIEE
BBt o
RS

B E2022F3A31BILEE - N EREKT

payable to SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited and its affiliated firm  # (& #) €t E5MABR AR L EBE AR 2
is set out as follows: BleEmHnT -
Services rendered Fri it AR & Fee paid/payable
e ENEA
HK$'000
FET
Audit of consolidated financial statements EZEr B M HRE 1,760
Agreed-upon procedures on Interim Report HEHREYEREF 190
Non-statutory audit service IEEE BZIRTS 700
2,650
INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT REPESIE R R b B
The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for EE2BEREH R MATRIELT LERKEE
the design and implementation of internal controls and risk < 2HEEE ' BREAEENFER - &8 - 68

management which covers financial reporting, operations,
compliance and risk management of the Group, as well as
continuous monitoring the effectiveness of such internal
controls and risk management. The Board has delegated
such responsibility and the internal audit function to the
management of the Company. The management, under the
supervision of the Board, has established an on-going process
for identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks faced
by the Group.

The Audit Committee reviews the internal controls and risk
management that are significant to the Group on an on-going
basis. The Audit Committee also considers the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function, as well as their
training programmes and budgets.

KMEREREE ]Uii*ﬁfﬁ?i;iiilﬁ*%ﬁ*% kR
RERZKR BEFGCAARAEREERIKZ
FREMAREZBE E§$§%§ CER
EBEWMBERRF - A& - FEREEAEE
FRES 2 ERER ©

BRZEERBAERYARENTEBEAZAR
EREkEREE BELZZREENERAKEES
qu&Eﬁ“Ei&H& ENEZER BIERERKER

BRH  URBTIMER ZEIRENEBE
”"E'EZEEO
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The Company has complied with the risk management and AR RIEBBIATHNETREEIE R AIPEIE
» internal control code provisions in the following manner: TRIRRE -
(a) the process used to identify, evaluate and manage (@) FRBR -  FEREBEAERBZERF
significant risks
The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage REBER - S REBEEARERPTERA
significant risks by the Group are summarised as EFEe T
follows:
Risk Identification E g5
. Identifies risks that may potentially affect the . BRI RE E AR B E R EEEK
Group’s business and operations. BETEZRERE -
Risk Assessment BB FF A
. Assesses the risks identified by using . FAEERE S E 2T HEET G
the assessment criteria developed by the ARk R
management; and
. Considers the impact and consequence on the . ZREEB I ERBRUARLR
business and the likelihood of their occurrence. BT ERER ZATREM
Risk Response JEL & 5] JE
. Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of . FREREREERBRBREE
the risk assessment; and BERF &
. Determines the risk management strategies and . EETREREERRRAIEZER
internal control processes to prevent, avoid or Fr- LATER - @R IORE ZE R
mitigate the risks. % o
Risk Monitoring and Reporting EBREZERIFE
. Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the . FERTHELRRR  WHERRER
risk and ensures that appropriate internal control BEABEEIERR
processes are in place;
. Revises the risk management strategies and . —BIBERAEREMEREL - BIE
internal control processes in case of any FIRREERERANIEZERF
significant change of situation; and 54
. Reports the results of risk monitoring to the . EHREEERESFEREEZER
management and the Board regularly. MAESR ©
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(b)

(c)

(d)
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the main features of the risk management and
internal control systems

Control procedures have been designed to safeguard
assets against misappropriation and disposition; ensure
compliance with relevant laws, rules and regulations;
ensure proper maintenance of accounting records for
provision of reliable financial information used within the
business or for publication; and to provide reasonable
assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.

an acknowledgement by the Board that it is
responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. It
should also explain that such systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss

The Board is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company and reviewing
their effectiveness. The Board oversees the overall risk
management of the Group and endeavours to identify,
control impact of the identified risks and facilitate
implementation of coordinated mitigating measures. The
risk management and internal control systems of the
Company are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failures to achieve business objectives
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

the process used to review the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems and
to resolve material internal control deficiency

The Company establishes an internal control team
to review the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. The results and findings were
presented to the Board and Audit Committee for
reviewing its effectiveness.

(b)

(c)

(d)

ERERRE
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(e)

The Board has also engaged an external risk
management and internal control review adviser (the
“Adviser”) to conduct the annual review of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group
as a whole for the year ended 31 March 2022. Such
review is conducted annually and cycles reviewed are
under rotation basis. The scope of review was previously
determined and approved by the Board. The Adviser
has reported findings and areas for improvement to the
Audit Committee and management. The Board/Audit
Committee are of the view that there are no material
internal control deficiency noted. All recommendations
from the Adviser are properly followed up by the Group
to ensure that they are implemented within a reasonable
period of time. The Board therefore considered that
the risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate.

the procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information

An information disclosure policy is in place to ensure
potential inside information being captured and
confidentiality of such information being maintained
until consistent and timely disclosure are made in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The policy regulates
the handling and dissemination of inside information,
which includes:

o Designated reporting channels from different
operations informing any potential inside
information to designated departments;

° Designated persons and departments to
determine further escalation and disclosure as
required; and

° Designated persons authorised to act as
spokespersons and respond to external
enquiries.

The Board is satisfied that the internal control system
in place covering all material controls including
financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions for the year under review
and up to the date of issuance of the annual report is
reasonably effective and adequate.

(e)

EZgNEIINE—RABREE R ANIBE R
EHBEMAR(ERMD - UREZE2022%F
SABHILFE ASEERERARERE R
NEELHEEITFERT - ZRTESF
HIT o WERR S MR - R EE L
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EAEEFEERE  UBRZSESTRN
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EERNIEEHERD B

BEERBHAREEZEFNANEZRE
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BEEARBERLINARE - BER LT
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged in a service contract with an
external service provider, Ms. Ho Wing Yan (“Ms. Ho"),
who was appointed as the Company Secretary. Mr. Cheng
Haoliang, the chief financial officer of the Company is the
primary corporate contact person of the Company with Ms. Ho.

Being the Company Secretary, Ms. Ho plays an important role
in supporting the Board by ensuring good information flow
within the Board and that the Board policies and procedures
are followed. Ms. Ho is responsible for advising the Board
on corporate governance matters and should also facilitate
induction and professional development of Directors. During
the reporting period, the Company Secretary has complied
with the relevant professional training requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a Special General
Meeting (“SGM”)

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws and the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (the “Companies Act”), registered
Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth (10%) of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company (the “SGM Requisitionists”)
can deposit a written request to convene a SGM at the
registered office of the Company (the “Registered Office”),
which is presently situated at Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. The SGM Requisitionists
must state in their request(s) the objects of the SGM and such
request(s) must be signed by all the SGM Requisitionists and
may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by
one or more of the SGM Requisitionists.

The Share Registrars will verify the SGM Requisitionists’
particulars in the SGM Requisitionists’ request. Promptly
after confirmation from the Share Registrars that the SGM
Requisitionists’ request is in order, the Company Secretary will
arrange with the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient
notice to all the registered Shareholders in accordance with
all the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements. On the
contrary, if the SGM Requisitionists’ request is verified not in
order, the SGM Requisitionists will be advised of the outcome
and a SGM will not be convened as requested.

EEERRE
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The SGM Requisitionists, or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves convene a SGM if within twenty-one (21) days of
the deposit of the SGM Requisitionists’ request, the Board
does not proceed duly to convene a SGM provided that any
SGM so convened is held within three (3) months from the
date of the original SGM Requisitionists’ request. A SGM so
convened by the SGM Requisitionists shall be convened in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings
are to be convened by the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to Put Forward Proposals at
a General Meeting

Pursuant to the Companies Act, either any number of the
registered Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth
(5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company (the
“Requisitionists”), or not less than 100 of such registered
Shareholders, can request the Company in writing to (a) give
to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next general
meeting notice of any resolution which may properly be moved
and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate
to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next general
meeting any statement of not more than 1,000 words with
respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or
the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of
the Requisitionists; and it must be deposited at the Registered
Office with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
relevant expenses, not less than six weeks before the meeting
in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not
less than one week before the meeting in the case of any
other requisition. Provided that if an AGM is called for a date
six weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, the
requisition though not deposited within the time required shall
be deemed to have been properly deposited for the purposes
thereof.
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Shareholders’ Enquiries and Proposals

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s share registrar, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong (with effect from 15 August 2022, the
address will be changed to 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong), or call its customer service hotline
at (852) 2980 1333.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The annual general meeting provides an opportunity for
shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The chairman
of the Board and the chairman of Remuneration Committee,
Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee had attended
the 2021 AGM of the Company held on 23 September 2021 to
answer shareholders’ questions.

The public are welcomed to give their comments and make
enquiries through the Company’s website and by means of
emails to the investor relations department (email address:
ir@msil.com.hk). The management always provides prompt
responses to any such enquiries.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that our employees, customers
and suppliers and business associates are key stakeholders
to the Company’s success. We strive to achieve corporate
sustainability through engaging our employees, providing
quality products and services to our customers, collaborating
with business partners (including suppliers and contractors)
to deliver quality sustainable products and services and
supporting our community.

The Board has adopted the dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) which sets out the appropriate procedure on declaring
and recommending the dividend payment of the Company.
The Company takes priority to distributing dividends in cash
and shares its profits with the shareholders of the Company.
The dividend distribution decision of the Company will depend
on, among others, the financial results, the current and future
operations, liquidity and capital requirements, financial
condition and other factors as the Board may deem relevant.
The Board may also declare special dividends from time to
time. The Dividend Policy will be reviewed on a regular basis.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

® There was no change to the Company’s bye-laws during the
year. The Company’s bye-laws is available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

By Order of the Board
Hu Xingrong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 June 2022
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Man Sang International Limited (the “Company”), together
with its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
is pleased to present our annual Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG”) report for the year ended 31 March
2022 (“ESG Report”), to provide an overview of the Group’s
management of material environmental and social matter.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report illustrates the Group’s initiative and
performance regarding the environmental and social aspects
during the reporting period from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022
(the “year”).

REPORTING SCOPE

This ESG Report covers all subsidiaries of the Group in the
PRC (including Hong Kong) and Japan with core business that
principally engaged in the development, sales and leasing of
properties, provision of hotel services, property management
services and renovation and decoration services. The Group
will continue identifying and assessing the impacts on major
ESG aspects of its business and to include them in the ESG
Report.

REPORTING BASIS

The ESG Report is prepared with reference to the ESG
Reporting Guide set out by Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules.
The Group has complied with the disclosure requirements of
the “comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide. The Group will continue to optimise and improve the
disclosure of KPIs. The ESG Report is prepared and published
in both English and Chinese. In the event of contradiction or
inconsistency, the English version shall prevail. During the
process of preparation of this ESG Report, we summarized the
Group’s performance in corporate and social responsibilities
based on the principles of “Materiality, Quantitative, Balance
and Consistency”. Please refer to the table below for our
understanding and response to such reporting principles.
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RIE HEREREE

Reporting Principles Our Understanding Our Response

*ORERA KA R B 179 19 (21 FE

Materiality The issues covered in the ESG Report Through our continuous stakeholders
should reflect the significant impacts engagement together with our
of the Group on the economy, materiality assessment, we can
environment and society, or the identify current material sustainable
scope of assessments and decisions development issues.
of stakeholders being affected.

5214 BIR HegkERAREMEENZE BRERBOHENREBRAREZMLT
ERMAEBMELE RERLEN G BMOATEANERNNEKRAFESR

BARE  IXTEFOHENFER REHE-
IREREE o

Quantitative The ESG Report should disclose key The Group quantitatively discloses
performance indicators (“KPIs”) in a its environmental and social KPls,
measurable manner. and provides textual explanations on

quantitative resources.

21 RRE HEREABREEUAGE AEESCEBEARERMSHERE
FRABEAREEE(HARERE XES UHECHBREXTH
=) - 2o

Balance The ESG Report should reflect fairly ~ The Group has explained in detail
the overall sustainability performance the sustainable development issues
of the Group. that have a significant impact in the

business to provide an unbiased
picture of its performance, including
the results achieved and the
challenges it faces.

1 RE HEhEABRSEATREE AEECHABREBEHXEKEEATE
SEMNEBARERRRS - WA REREZE  UAnMmE2®mA

xI - BEFTEGRIAR K& PTE H &
e -

Consistency The Group should use consistent The Group will ensure that the
disclosure principles for the disclosure scope and reporting
preparation of the ESG Report. methods of the ESG Report are

generally consistent every year.

—Bt AEBRERA BN EBERIGHE AEEEBREER HgRkELARS
B g REBRE - MR EEE NS T A EFABRE

iﬁ 5
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GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group has established an ESG framework to promote
and implement the Group’s sustainability strategy. To ensure
effective ESG management, our ESG governance structure,
composed of the Board, ESG working group, respective
functional departments and subordinate companies, is
established to promote ESG management and disclosure.
The Board, the ultimate decision-making body of the Group, is
responsible for the Group’s ESG governance. The Board steers
the Group’s sustainable development forward and bears the
overall responsibility of its ESG efforts. In the future, the Board
will continue to strengthen ESG risk management and improve
ESG working mechanism and regulatory processes to enhance
its ESG governance standard. The ESG working group, serving
on the supervision and coordination level, is responsible for
implementing ESG governance strategy, coordinating ESG
matters, compiling ESG reports, and reporting relevant work
progress to the Board on a regular basis. Each functional
department and subordinate company, serving on the
execution level, is responsible for rolling out initiatives set
up by the ESG working group and reporting relevant work

progress and data.

Decision-making level

RiE - B REBRE

B

ARECREYIRE - HERERER - REBR
BERAKENAIRHERRRE - BERBRNIR
CHERERER  RMASRYHESE R
B odHeghEAIEN  SBEFFIRTEA
AMAKHIRE - B REARE - AHEBIRE
HEREREEMEKE BEFSRAKENKZR
REHIE  BEARENRE HEghER-E
ZeRSIAKEAFERRT R - LAEHIR
BodeRERTIFNERRT - AR BEFE
BEBINRRE  HEREARERE  TER
B HeRERTIFRHIMEETRRE - KRR
B HEREAKF - RE - HERERIEN

AEREERHRARE  AERTRE HEkER
RES > BHRERR  HEREREE RERR -
HeRERRE  YEHRETSREHEEILIE

ER - BREMEALTBRRERSNTE  8&
FRIRE  teREATIENMBITENEE I
HERBIIEERLEUE -

/

The Board

REE

/

v

Supervision and /

B

/

N / ESG working group

v

guideline level 4

EEEIE /

v

Execution level

/

L4
/ B HEREATEM

v

Functional departments

BiTRE

/

» ¢4 and subordinate companies
/ BeEBMHRTEAR

SECCFER RAEBERAR
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group values input and feedback of its stakeholders as
they have substantial contributions to the Group and bring
potential impacts to the Group’s business. Internal and external
stakeholders have been involved in regular engagement
activities to share views regarding the Group’s operations and
performances. The following table provides an overview of
the Group’s key stakeholders and the various communication
channels used to reach and listen to their expectations:

ERERE 2SR

AEBEREEDHBENRARLDE  BRK
FHAKERERAE - ARAKERBERERE
FE AMRINEEEABEECSEEHES
RAEBELELRAERER - TREHAKHE
TERABEEENLSR  ARAREBERERS
HEZRBBERRE -

Stakeholders Engagement channel Concern issues
BEEEE SHERE XS
Government Departments and  — On site visits and chats - Compliance with law and
Regulators - Work conferences, work together regulations
on research and discussions - Government planning on
- Company website feedback promoting regional economic
development and employment
- Proper tax payment
BT ERPT R BB e - BIR R R E# - BFRRIOER
- THea=Rifs T - U S5 4 P 3 [ 4 5 35 R L A 3
- ANGIEEVE] HREl
- HIEMTR
Shareholders and Investors - Annual general meeting and - Return to the shareholders

shareholders meetings
- Annual report and
announcements
- Newsletters

- Information disclosure and
transparency

- Protection of interests and fair
treatment to all shareholders

- Investor meetings and road

shows
RERIREE - BRERBFRERRRAE - L ETE:
- FHREAE - B MERE
- NSIFEE - RIERR RS R A FH AR
- REESHENEE
Employees - Staff orientation - Salary level and other welfare of
- Internal training, briefing and employees
appraisals - Working environment and

- Intranet and emails
- Newsletters

B8 - EROF
- REEY - BN R
- ABENES
- AFER

occupational safety
- Training and self-actualisation
- Anti-discrimination
- FBHOK T R B R BT
= THERERBELZS
- B RBHRER
- b7 LEI AR
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Engagement channel
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RiE - B REBRE

Concern issues

EEEEE SHRE BERE
Customers Company website feedback, - Safe and high-quality products
brochures distribution and annual and services
report - Stable and trusted relationship
Customer feedback and service — Information transparency
hotline - Business ethics
Feedback forms - Integrity
B NRMUAEIEE - M F RER - T2 REBEEMRRS
EPERRRGRE - = 0E M AT SERR (R
BR&E - BiERE
- [HBESER
- EAE

Suppliers and Business

Partners

HERREBRH

Industry Associations

Financial Institutions

FTs R

Business meetings, supplier
conferences, phone calls and
interviews

Review and assessment

meetings
Xhes  HERERS  BF
Nk

it BT

Industry conferences and
meetings
Site visits

ERERERER

BERRE

Communications with relationship

managers
Consultation and regular
meetings

Reports
BREFKIEER

R R E e &

W&

- Stable and long-term relationship

- Information sharing

- Good quality control

- Mitigate transaction risk in every
aspect

- BERENBER

- DEE

- RyFE SR

- BFRESAENRZER

- Knowledge sharing

- Fair competition

- Professional standard
development

- ABAE

- AFEF

- EREERE

- Update compliance with law and
regulations

- Information disclosure

- Market information update

- B ETED RERNIER

- BRI R
- MIZEMEH
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Stakeholders Engagement channel Concern issues
EEMEEE SHRE BERE
Media - Company website - Improve our communication
- Media conferences channel and mitigate risk
- Announcements - Enhance our corporate image
LS - YNSIF R - HEBEBRELFERR
- ISR S - RAGERR
= nE
General Public and - Volunteer work of our staff - Understand our projected image
Communities - Charity activities and sociall within the general public
investment - Be a responsible company
- Announcements - Understand our environmental
and social impact to the society
- Announce our career
opportunities
AR KRR - EESERTIE - TREMERRRBRHOER
- RERPRHERE - EEARENAA
- N - THEMETEEFNRERIL
exve
- BHERMNTIEKS

The Group will continue to keep close communication with its
stakeholders to share and exchange ideas for advancing the
Group’s ESG management.

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK

The Group is committed to continuous improvement of its ESG
management. Please give your suggestions or share your
views with us via email at ir@msil.com.hk.

AEBFEERESHERETERUDZERR
MEBEERAEBRRE HEMEAREENE
El o

EZEEER

$’Elﬁl7ﬂ—iﬁ“&m“f&i HEREARER -
WMEAABMRERBIDZER  BEBRMY
Eaiﬁiﬁgijtlr@msn.com.hkﬂﬁp%ﬁﬁzﬁ °
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT EEMFML

The Group attaches importance to the materiality assessment AEBERIRE - HEREARZENEEET
of ESG issues for the purpose of timely and comprehensive  {& * AEAREF « 2HE THZEIRE  HekE
understanding of the materiality of each ESG issue to the JRFBHASBEXEKERNEZMRIETHBESE
business development of the Group and the expectation HHIE  EMREREAEEIRE HSRERESR
of stakeholders, in order to facilitate the Group’s effective Mﬁx&T&E§&$E BEEEEKENFERS - F
disclosure of ESG information and continuous improvement CAEEIRE  HEekESEEANEEZNMG
in the management level of relevant issues. The materiality i%f%ZZD"F :

assessment on ESG issues of the Group during the year

covers the following steps:

Step 1 The Group identified the following 21 issues in accordance with the disclosure requirements set out in
the ESG Reporting Guide and based on the business characteristics and daily operation of the Group.
These issues are considered to have impacts on the environment and the society during our operation.

F1H  AEEREBRE ?\i@&%ﬁ/ﬁi&%%%l ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ’ﬁ&@é%i&%él’?% ERESEREIBBTESENEAT
2UEZEE - 25 RBWEANKMNELBRPHREIMSELTE -

Step2 Based on the understanding of the demands and expectations of stakeholder during the daily operation,
the Group determined the materiality of ESG issues by benchmarking the key points and the trend of
ESG works of industry peers.

#26 HERBAFELSTERDNEMENFREMAEN TR  FAEFHUSRRATERER HekELITENEH KB
2MERE HEREREENEEE -

Step3 Based on the result of the materiality assessment, the Group discussed and determined the key
disclosure of the ESG Report for the year and the key points for improvement in the future ESG work of
the Group.

£3F HKEBEERUFGNER  FAEEFNRIBEFARE HELREABRETHNRBEHLIARAZEHRE
HERERTIENIRAZE -

Social Aspects Environmental Aspects
HEE®E RIEEM
1. Equal 5. Preventionof 9. Complaint 13. Community 14. Exhaust 18. Water
opportunity child labor and handling investment emissions consumption
forced labor
1. TEKE 5 BiHEREIR9. BFEE 13 HEIRE 14. BERHEK 18. FKE
SRS T
2. Employment 6. Selectionand 10. Protection of 15. Greenhouse 19. Paper
and employee evaluation of intellectual gas emissions consumption
benefits suppliers property rights

2. ERKkEERA 6. HERMAEER 10, REMBERE

15 B EREEHEA 19, HREHE
BaE
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Social Aspects Environmental Aspects
” HEEE BEEE
3. Occupational 7. Control and 11. Customer data 16. Waste 20. Management
health and managementon  privacy and management of risks
safety environmental data security associated with
and social risks Environmental
along the supply and Natural
chain Resources
3. BxEER 7 EEKEE 1L EPEEILER 16. EEWERE 20 TEREREA
=% HEEPHIRE %2 BIRAE R E b
Rt gRk
4. Employee 8. Service quality 12. Anti-corruption 17. Energy 21. Climate change
development and money consumption
and training laundering
4. BEEREK 8. REBEE 12. RE/RRKE 17. BERH R 21. RixE1t
=l
According to the results of materiality assessment, 3 material ~ RIEEZ VT HEAER - EEZZE (M HR
topics (note) are regarded as the most concerned issues AERIEEERAEEZKABTINZER - A%5E
of stakeholder and the Group. While taking into account fEFRERBENHEHEENRK - BiETZEEH
environmental and social responsibilities, the Group EZ&EF - IREERHERS LERAFEN
will pay more attention to the above areas, and strive to 2R o ER Ll FIE - BRRATERNNZ
achieve continuous improvement and sustainable business EHBREREIIERAIETENERE - L8k
development. And in light of the above assessment, KPIs B aMERH#KEE o
related to those topics that are considered as not material may
not be disclosed in the ESG report.
Note:  Presented in bold. FisE - LAMEEEF 27 o
A. Environmental A. RE
The Group pays significant attention to protect the AEEFBHIRFBRE - W OB
environment and is committed to the long-term EITEMNRERMAEREOITFEG - K
sustainability of the environment and community in SEZNT2ETEMIRBRER AR
which it operates. The Group is endeavoured to fully B BREBESFTERERTEDN - K
comply with local environmental protection rules and SEREEREATEBNEEMENE
regulations to ensure its business operations meet the WERBERFER AEEMEZEMED
required environmental standard. The Group stringently KERAREES BETERAEREA
controls its emissions and resources consumption in all MEBEEYER W RIRERLE  BFRE
their operating regions throughout their daily operations. RIRTE -
All operating regions of the Group have implemented
effective energy conservation measures to minimise the
environmental impact, such as raising the environmental
awareness, using resources responsibly, and managing
waste efficiently.
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Emissions

The Group strictly complies with national
and local laws and regulations related to
environmental protection and pollution control,
including but not limited to the followings:

the PRC Environmental Protection Law;

- the PRC Law on Water Pollution
Prevention and Control;

- the Law on the Prevention and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution of the PRC;

- the Law of the PRC on the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by
Solid Waste;

- the Air Pollution Control Ordinance of
Hong Kong;

- the Noise Control Ordinance of Hong
Kong;

- the Water Pollution Control Ordinance of
Hong Kong;

- the Wastes Disposal Ordinance and
Public Health and Municipal Services
Ordinance of Hong Kong;

- the Water Pollution Control Act of Japan;

- the Air Pollution Control Act of Japan;

- the Noise Regulation Act of Japan;

- the Vibration Regulation Act of Japan;
and,

- the Soil Contamination Countermeasures
Act of Japan.

During the year, the Group was not aware of
any material breach of or non-compliance with
the applicable laws and regulations related to
environmental protection.

Al

RiE - B REBRE

HH

AEEBRETER T AER
BRE NS REBIHDER AR -
BEETERATAR :

- REERROE -

- RIS RIAE |
- FRIRRISRPEEA

= b B [ RS RE W3R 3R 05 B0
VE

- BFREERISRE HIED
- FREREE BIED
- FBNTREHUES]

- EEEMAERPARAR
7 R BED

- BAVKESRIILLE

- BARKTSRIILA

- RAREEHE:

- BARBBESE : &
- BARLTIEFRHRL -

REE  AEEWDTHABEREXN
ERITETEARFREIRLER
MEE -
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Al.1:

Al.2:

Air Emissions

During the year, vehicles of the Group
consumed petrol and diesel for local travelling
of management of the Group and guests, which
contributed to the emissions of nitrogen oxides
(“NO,"), sulphur oxides (“SO,") and particulate
matter (“PM”).

Major air pollutants emissions from vehicles
during the year and the corresponding period in
2021 are as follows:

=SSR

AEE AEBEHEAEEE
BERE S R O8N TR R
st - EATMELDINO,) - B
LM (TS0, J) RA T (TPMI) ok
o

Al.1:

AEE K021 FEERIM £ E 8
SRS RPN

Air Pollutant Emissions

ZERI5 R R
Air Pollutant Emission Air Pollutant Emission
Type of Air Pollutants (kg) (kg)
ZRITREWHN ZE S5 R BER
ZERSRMER (F=) (F3)
2022 2021
SO, 0.15 0.11
NO, 14.68 53.03
PM 0.88 2.57

Greenhouse gases (“GHG”) Emissions

The GHG emissions from the operation during
the year and the corresponding period in 2021
are set out below:

A1.2: BEREE(EEREEDHEK
AEER2021FIHEHREEERE
RESBERE S I

GHG Emissions

BERBHN
CO, equivalent emission CO, equivalent emission
Type of GHG emissions (tonnes) (tonnes)
—E{emEEHN SR E B
BEREHRER () (Wg)
2022 2021
Scope 1 Direct emissions 1,051.82 227.39
HE—BEEIEM
Scope 2 Indirect emissions 7,479.35 8,416.60
#E RN
Total 8,531.17 8,643.99
waEt
Intensity (tonnes/employee) 21.71 21.66

RE W ER)
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A1.3:

Al.4:

A1.5:

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Note 1:

The calculation of the greenhouse gas is based on the
“Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard” from
greenhouse gas protocol and the “How to prepare an ESG
Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs” issued by the HKEXx.

Scope 1: Direct emissions from operations that are owned by
the Group including stationary and mobile combustion sources

Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation of purchased
electricity consumed by the Group

Scope 3: Other indirect emissions is an optional disclosure
which mainly related emissions that are not controlled by the
Group

Hazardous Waste

During the year, the Group was not aware of any
hazardous waste disposal (2021: Nil).

Non-hazardous Waste

Major non-hazardous waste generated from the
Group’s office operation was paper waste. Total
non-hazardous waste generated by the Group
during the year was 9,912 kg and its intensity
per employee was 25.22 kg (2021: 2,136 kg and
its intensity per employee was 5.35 kg).

Measures to Mitigate Emissions

The Group endeavours to identify sources of
high energy consumption, material consumption
and environmental pollution in its operations and
implement measures for improvement. Energy
conservation policies and procedures have
adopted to mitigate emission. Energy saving
mode has been adopted in the following aspects
(i) all the computers, all electrical power supply
must be switched off when they are not in use;
and (ii) labels have been used to remind staff
for ways to conserve energy. The Group also
regularly checks and keeps maintenance of
company vehicles to ensure the vehicles are in
their good form to reduce emissions.

A1.3:

A15:

RiE - B REBRE

DENBERBRERAN &
TR B2 PR g Mo 0 [ o o A Y
ERME - M= - BERE

BE— ARBEMESEGHEEIR(EE
B kB BIRER)

HBE— : AREHEREBNELRRIR

HE= RMEEHRVEERE  TER
I FEA G B AR S Y BE AR

HEEEY
NEFE - NEBIW NHEE A (E0
BEREEY(20214F : &) -

 BEERY

AEBMEEEEEEMTE AN
NRELBHMELERER - KAFE -
AEBEANEZEREZEMEER
9912F % ' BEABTEEBE25.22F
F (20214 : 2136 T % * BEAE
BE535F %) °

BRI
AEERIREEETBIRHEE
B BEXBERLIRBISRNRE -
W E MR o AN B E REUED
RN R - BNRER
XEEEARRTII0E - ER() B
AEEMBEREEKME=E=RHAM
BR R(NEGREB TR
ERIRE - AKRETNERRERE
ERREH - ERE®MER R TR
BE - R o

k- et 33
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A1.6: Waste Reduction and Initiatives

A2:

The Group aims to reduce generation of non-
hazardous waste (mainly paper waste) at source
whenever possible. The Group highly advocates
paperless office. A total of 5,105 kg paper was
used for daily office operation such as printing
of document, contracts, order forms, technical
drawings and meeting notes during the year
(2021: 2,246 kg). The Group reduces paper
consumption by:

° Developing management software (i.e.
Office Automation System) to support
establishment of a paperless office;

. Using recycled paper;
° Adopting double-sided printing; and

° Maintaining printers, copiers, and fax
machines to avoid wastage of paper due
to poor printing quality.

Use of Resources

Reducing energy use, reducing resources
consumption, and enhancing resources usage
efficiency are the Group’s principles in managing
its use of resources. The Group proactively
seeks opportunities to enhance resources usage
efficiency. The Group closely monitors the use of
energy and water to alert the senior management
on ongoing performance. Appropriate remedial
actions are taken whenever necessary to
improve usage efficiency.

A1.6 : JRERE

A2:

AEBEEZAUENLRERVESE
EBEFEY(FTERER) - ~5EE
ANBEEREPAT o NEE 4T
it - &R 578 - HiTE R
CREBEHENABEEASRFER
5105F 455K (20214 : 2,246F
7)o AEBFEBIT H R
FROHFEE ¢

BEEMEIMAZEBE B
&)

. 15 B IEAR
. EFEEmEITED ©

. RETHK - FHEMEER
M o RITENE RR =1 E

HEREAR -
BRER
BABERER - B BIRBEELE

HEREABERDNAEEERHEE
RERMRR - REBEEBS KK
ERABREARER - KEETY)
ERRRERARAK  BRaRE
BEABRENT LAEE - BRER
MEBRETE  HEEMAUEX -
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A2.2:

A2.3:
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Energy Consumption

Energy consumption by the Group during the
year and the corresponding period in 2021 are
set out below:

A2.1: BEJRIEFE

RFE R2021F HE AR E B

Energy Consumption

BERE #E
Energy consumed Energy consumed
Type of energy (kWh) (kWh)
HRHER BEREFES
pERER (FEE) (FE)
2022 2021
Unleaded petrol 3 oD 109,812.87 38,535.78
Diesel E S 11,934.12 46,409.26
LPG BILEHER 1,137,864.42 2,386.32
Kerosene JCN: 10,388.77 4,576.01
Heavy oil E=pi 1,690,660.62 838,515.66
Natural gas RAR 674,730.54 Nil
Purchased electricity BE 12,319,287.00 9,438,543.00
Total st 15,954,678.34 10,368,966.03
Energy intensity (kWh/employee) 8RS (F RS,

E8)

Water Consumption

The Group consumed freshwater supplied by the
municipal freshwater supplier. Water is mainly
consumed for general operation. There was no
issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.
Water consumption of the Group during the year
was 75,570 m3 and its intensity per employee
was 192.29 m3. (2021: 84,609 m® and its intensity
per employee was 212.05 m3).

Energy Usage Efficiency Initiatives

The Group controlled lightings and temperature
of air conditioners to reduce electricity
consumption. During the year, energy saving
mode was set for all computers, energy
efficiency was considered when purchasing
electric appliances, power supplies were
switched off while leaving, air conditions were
set at an appropriate temperate according to
location and conditions.

40,597.15

A2.2 : FHK

25,987.38

7N 5 8] 51 FE T BOA K L FE R IR A D
KK e FAIKEZERR —REE - £
SKEUE A /K A EI BT EE - K
FE AEERNAKERT755703
Tk BER192.29 K EE

(20214 : 84,6093 53K -

BE

212.053 K B E

A2.3 : BERR s 15

AR BEWE L REBORE -
MEE - AFE - FETH

Eﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ FEERE

R e

TRE - RBER TIER R /AR
FAE JHE - WARE B RIRIR#S
THRTEEABENAE -
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A2.4:

A2.5:

A3:

A3.1:

Water Use Efficiency Initiatives

Regarding water resources, the Group does not
have any issues in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose.

The Group encourages water conservation and
reduces water wastage through inspections and
maintenance of the water supply. Reminder and
notices were posted to encourage water saving.
Water saving taps were installed in pantry to
further saving water.

Packaging Materials

The Group did not generate any packaging
materials during the year due to its business
nature (2021: Nil).

In view of our continuous effort, we target to
maintain zero substantial non-compliance case
in relation to the emission of exhaust gases and
GHG, production of non-hazardous waste, paper
consumption, energy consumption and water
consumption in coming five years.

The Environment and Natural Resources

Significant Impacts of Activities on the
Environment

The Group raises staff's awareness on
environmental issues through education and
training and enlist employees’ support in
improving the Group’s performance, promote
environmental awareness amongst the
customers, business partners and shareholders
and support community activities in relation to
environmental protection and sustainability and
evaluate regularly and monitor past and present
business activities impacting upon health, safety
and environmental matters. With the integration
of policies mentioned in sections “A1: Emissions”
and “A2: Use of Resources”, the Group strives
to minimise the impacts to the environment and
natural resources.

A2.4

A2.5 -

A3
A3.1:

PR a5 15 1o
FRERE - ARBEAEKBUER

KR £ EAL AT

AEEBBREREBEK - EE
EARKERDIKRE - WRHIR
REBESEEIK o BB IR
LIKIKEESE « E—FHEIK o

GELE
AEE  mRAEBUE - A%E
I 19 2 A AE 1 B R (2021
%) -

ERRIFENS - ZATER
AREFEEBFBERIBEER
B ELEEERY  ARERE -

BEEREEMBAKTEEISTZEARAT
BIEMH -

RERAARER
JEBNEIIRIEEA &
REEFEBHE RIFIIARFEE
EYHNELrAEBEVWRRESEL
RIFEEEES  HIXF - £#B4E
ERHMBREEARREEH  IBR

REAFERBLREE - EH ?
HRETERERIRETLERER -
ERIRBEENEBEY - iﬁi@%&
AlA1: ElRlA2 : ERERIE
BRI R ER - $%.§Kﬁﬁ<\\5)ﬁi$‘§¥ﬁ
RERBARERNFE
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Climate Change

The Group is committed to mitigating climate
change and enhancing its resilience to adapt
to the increasing threat of climate-related
consequences.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and
manage significant risks (including significant
climate-related issues) by the Group are
summarised as follows:

Risk Identification

o |dentifies risks that may potentially affect
the Group’s business and operations.

Risk Assessment

° Assesses the risks identified by using
the assessment criteria developed by the
management; and

o Considers the impact and consequence
on the business and the likelihood of their
occurrence.

Risk Response

° Prioritises the risks by comparing the
results of the risk assessment; and

° Determines the risk management
strategies and internal control processes
to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

° Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring
of the risk and ensures that appropriate
internal control processes are in place;

° Revises the risk management strategies
and internal control processes in case of
any significant change of situation; and

° Reports the results of risk monitoring to
the management and the Board regularly.

A4:

RiE - B REBRE

RIZEE
AEBBARERGEE L RIRAH
FEERE NAEH R FEEBERREER
BEMNEE -

NEBAUER  FEREEEAKR
ER(BEEEAGNEAETE) N
BT

2% 8 5
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EEBER R

. EZREFXTZEREREK
THER AR o
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. 12 L8R e AT A B 4 R BE D
RBERRF : &
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As a result of above risk management process, EEEA%?EXLﬁHEA”ﬁkﬁ: R
5 physical risk and transitions risks arising from ﬂ%ﬁﬂ:ﬁ'ﬁ%@(ﬂﬁ,\ SR BB R,
climate change may not bring significant impacts RN NS E ] E’J%W’“XEK
to the Group’s business. As a supporter of the 52 {’EZ%# IRAB A TS 4R 28 T 1E
recommendations of the Taskforce on Climate- J\ZH% BXFE - RNEBEE
Related Financial Disclosure (TCFD), the Group HEEAEBERBERR - WAL
has assessed the potential climate related risks ?ﬁﬁiﬂ?ﬁﬁtﬂ%&ﬁ%?ﬁﬁ%
and identified the rising mean temperature and HNRR - KK KKERBRE)
increasing severity and likelihood of extreme ﬂ?ﬁ‘“ﬁi&—I ?”‘iﬁ'ﬁwaﬁsz’ﬁa
weather events such as rainstorms, floods, fire BeENTEZERER
and heatwaves as major physical risks impacting
our daily operation.
The Group’s ESG working group is responsible AEEMIRE L RERIEN
for identifying and assessing any climate- HEEHRRAHEARNEEEE
related risks to which the Group’s operations are Hﬁﬁffﬁ’ﬂﬁﬂﬂﬁ FER - WrE
exposed, and updating the Board with the latest FEETREERARITEEED
news and developments on climate regulations BHFBERER - REYHRIREH
and industry benchmark. In order to cope with mEk - AEEER ab’&?ﬂﬁ,u%
climate-related risk, the Group implemented Bl - W E KK EEEENRE
various emergency response mechanism and e EE RIH AR ©
purchase adequate insurance against natural
disasters so as to cope with extreme weather.
In the future, we will continue to identify potential ERR R SEREZRR BT
business activities impacting the environment BIRRWETSEE I GRS
and develop corresponding improvement S - DAE— TR R R EE R
measures, so as to further prevent the possible REHREFELEEETE -
negative impacts of our operation on climate
change.
B. Social Heg
1. Employment and Labour Practices 1. ERRETER
B1.  Employment B1: (EfF
The Group stringently complies with national AEEBREETEHERERSETIE
and local laws and regulations concerning BRI R Kot 77 A @B 5ARR - B
employment and labour practices, including but ARRATIERE -
not limited to the followings:
. Labour Law of the PRC; . R &L
. Labour Contract Law of the PRC; . PR BB RE
. Law of the PRC on the Protection of . R EIR AT AREE
Minors;
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° Law of the PRC on the Protection of
Disabled Persons;

. Provisions on the Prohibition of Using
Child Labor;

o Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong;

° Occupational Safety and Health

Ordinance of Hong Kong;

o Minimum Wage Ordinance of Hong Kong;

° Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance of Hong Kong;

° The Labour Standards Act of Japan;

° The Labour Safety and Health Law of

Japan;
o The Labour Contract Law of Japan; and
o The minimum Wage Law of Japan.

No non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
antidiscrimination, and other benefits and welfare
had been identified during the year.

. B R ARIEE

BILERETRE

. FERERD

. EEBER 2 REEED

. EEKEIERD

. FERHERTE S EIKF
K

. AARSBEEALL

. BASBHRE/HEE

. AARSBERZE : Rk

. BAKEIEE. -

AEE - HEEREMAELRE

B BERER IR K28 -

TERE Sl REBURE

fFEREMNAHAREREAY

ENMEMEARERTERBMR

———

-

FER REBBERAF
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Employee Benefits and Welfare

The Group abides by related labour laws in
respective jurisdictions and provides social
insurance, subsidies, holidays and other
welfare according to the statutory requirement.
Employment contract terms are stipulated
under the principles of fairness, voluntarism,
mutual consent, integrity and credibility. The
Group provides employees with competitive
compensation, holiday benefits and discretionary
bonus. Salary adjustment is performed annually
according to the work performance of individual
employee and the market trend. Employees
are entitled to annual leave, marriage leave,
maternity leave, paternity leave, medical
insurance and retirement benefit schemes.

During the year, no material non-compliance
in relation to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods and other benefits and welfare was
recorded.

Equal Opportunity

The Group provides equal opportunities for
employees in respect of recruitment, job
advancement, training and development, etc.
Employees are not discriminated against or
deprived of such opportunities on the basis of
race, nationality, religion, physical condition,
disability, gender, pregnancy, sexual orientation,
political status, age and any other discrimination
prohibited by applicable law. Employees shall
not act in discriminatory manner or they can
be subject to disciplinary actions. No material
non-compliance in relation to relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the
Company regarding equal opportunity, diversity
and anti-discrimination was recorded during the
year.

BEFBRER
AEBEBETEBEERNARS
o URBEEEBREHRTE SR
@~ R REIREMEN - BB
BRERTIRRYF - BFR - €5 F
B BERITENRATHE - K
SEREERFEAERF IHHH -
REIEA R BBIEA - BFERIF(E
MEBTHTIERRMMIGBEETT
AR  EEERZRAFE B
R ER GER BERRNIE
RiEFErE o

AEE - WESFFEEEE LR
BEREA - IR - KERREAM
FBRENERNENERTR -

FEHE

AREAREEERE THE
ENIRERS TSRS - BA
TRER  BE - 2K FBMR
R R MR BE MR -
BUAY 5 - B R AR L
1 B AR AR 0 B R S
HERE - BETBIEEFRT
% DARSTHETRARS -
AEE - EESEERT SR
BT RRIEE FEE AR AEE
B AP ENEMERERORET
SRER -
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Total Employees and Turnover EERERIRAE
Below is a detailed breakdown of our employees R2022F K2021F3HA31HZ
by gender, age group, employment type and Bl - FEAR - BEBAEKMIER
geographical region as at 31 March 2022 and HEISHESRAEHIIET -
2021:
2022 2021
Number of Number of
staff % of total staff % of total
HEEE H4BEE
BTEE BO BTHE Bt
By gender =B
Male Eof s 204 52 202 51
Female g 189 48 197 49
Total #Et 393 100 399 100
By age group R E R AE Bl
18-25 18-257% 86 22 37 9
26-35 26-355% 102 26 103 26
36—45 36-4573% 99 25 110 27
46-55 46-557% 77 20 87 22
56 or above 56553 A 29 7 62 16
Total HEt 393 100 399 100

By employment type RESER

Contract or short term & #) ok 5E 5 22 6 6 2
Normal —RR 261 66 239 60
Middle H 80 20 110 27
Senior = 30 8 44 11
Total HEES 393 100 399 100

By geographical region Zi#hEEE

PRC s 369 94 381 96
Japan =N 24 6 18 4
Total et 393 100 399 100
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Below is a detailed breakdown of our employee

® turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region during the year and the
corresponding period in 2021:

A [E N 2021 AR fE AR 1% B
Fh4ERI MR RIS E D/ EE R
KERPFMAETIOT

2022 2021
Turnover rate by gender RERBDHWRAE
Male B 84% 33%
Female 7 93% 35%
Turnover rate by age group RERARIE DR AR
18-25 18-255% 100% 78%
26—-35 26-355% 89% 44%
3645 36-45%% 69% 19%
46-55 46-55%% 61% 32%
56 or above 565% 3% A L 83% 18%
Turnover rate by geographical Rt E B &2 KR k=R

region

PRC H 93% 33%
Japan AR 13% 56%

There were total 346 employees left the Group
during the year (2021: 134 employees.)

B2:  Employee Health and Safety B2 :

Occupational Health and Safety

The Group has been maintaining a harmless,
non-hazardous, healthy and safe working
environment. Employees are required to
participate in regular fire drill. All employees
should be familiar with the locations of safe
exit, fire alarm and fire equipment. In addition,
employees are covered with insurance according
to local labour laws such as all employees in
PRC are entitled to social security benefits. The
Group has formulated different contingency
plans to handle different emergency situations.

AEEBRAFTEHBREEAEA
3464 (20214 : 134&RE) -

AEBBNORNBFHES  BEk -
RBERZENTIFRE - EEAZ
HEMEER - TEREHER
BREHO - NERHIRENL
B WH FTBEREBHOREE S
TEPIT ZRBRARE - HIANFTH
BEEHERZALERERF -
AEEC HIE TR R BT S AFE
HTRNBEZER
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During the development of our property,
safety environment shall be maintained jointly
by contractors, sub-contractors and their
employees and must comply with applicable
local, national laws and rules, health and safety
legislation and recognised codes and standards.
Site specific conditions and rules developed with
the consideration of all significant hazards and
their risks, and other items which are important
for the safe and efficient operation of the project
must be strictly complied and disclosed. The
safety and quality of properties are monitored at
all stages of construction by the Group to ensure
that they meet the highest standards. This
entails a dedication to stringent product safety
standards and a focus on health and safety
issues in property development practices.

During each of the past three years including
the year, no material work-related fatalities
and lost days due to work injury was recorded.
Also, the Group was not in violation of any laws
and regulations in respect of the provision of
safe working environment and protecting the
employees from occupational hazards that have
a significant impact on the Group during the
year.

Development and Training

People are the most treasurable assets of the
Group. Investing in people is one of the Group’s
focuses and a key factor contributing to the
Group’s continuous growth. The Group provides
comprehensive training and development
opportunities to all levels of its employees
including orientation training, on job related
training and department specific training.

The Group arranges trainings according to
needs of employees, which are identified
annually by individual departments.

B3 :

RiE - B REBRE

MY EFEER - L 2RIFAH AN
BoeEEkEREEARGE A
RETERAZT - BEERRR
- B2 B R 2EPIA KRR A ST

I

AIRARE - MARARE T RIKEERT
KFrB EXRERR R E R M6 E &
BT TE IR SR AR R - AR YRR
LERANEEZRERNEHMEA
B AEBEERMEMERRRER
MZeEREER BREENEES
RE - WABBRETEMRT 2R
% WEHTYERRAB TR T HEE
Rz Z2MHEE -

REERAFEEANBE=F%&
FASEYESFSETIBSARN
BAEIRTRI(EBENK - KF
B AEBENYEEREAAREE
HLZ2TERREMRERERTR
XeEERHAKEELAEAREN
MRRRRREM

R A5

AT DHAREZEENEE - AT
BREDARENRIER  TAAX
SERBEERNEREAR - A5E
RAARBRNERRE2EEI R
BHREE  BIAHE - TEE
BB R BB PR E £ A

AEEBFHASEARBFIEERNE
EEFT2WLHEI -
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The average training hours for employees by REFZIEMRE D 8 E & F1953

S gender during the year is as follows: BT -

2022
The average training hours for BRI B 5D 8 BT 39553
employees by gender R
Male B 17.84
Female gk 22.69
B4:  Labour Standards B4 : ZTIE%E

In compliance with the employment contract, BREREGH AEERER KRB
the Group’s regulations and policies, the Labour K BTEP - BEREERIIAKR
Law, the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong FE - BERBAEAMBREE
and other related laws of the PRC, Hong Kong REBWHERAETHRALT o
and Japan, there was no child labour nor forced TERBERRERLBENEFER
labour working in the Group. The job application 185% - BERKBEREFRE
requirement specifies that job applicants must Ko KBESMDKBAEEREBRS K
be at least 18 years old. To ensure that job B - BT AT RBEZY -
applicants can meet the age requirement, ANBRHEBETESAS - BFE
identities of job applicants are verified against KEBERENER - WEESHER
their valid identity documents, relevant EBREFEFRERRIE
permits and certificates. The human resources
department is required to carry out background
checks to authenticate information provided
by job applicants and is required to fill in forms
that confirm hired employees have met the age
requirement.
Besides internal monitoring process, contractors BrNEPEEIERE AN - AP IR AR
are also subject to stringent requirement on the SEETERENRKBETEMES -
Group’s labour standard, no child labour and AEEFMEERBEHIEERAE
forced labour can be tolerant in all the Group’s T Rog:ABT o
development projects.
No non-compliance in relation to laws and REE - BEEBEHEETI KA
regulations that have a significant impact on BTHHAQREEERNTENE
the Company regarding prevention of child and BIEMRRERTR °
forced labour was recorded during the year.

64 Man Sang International Limited Annual Report 2022



B5:

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

The Group engages with various suppliers,
contractors, sub-contractors and service
providers in different segment of business on
daily operations. The Group has well established
tendering policy to select and manage its supply
chain. Potential candidates are evaluated in
terms of mainly their capability and track record
on environmental and social responsibility.
The Group endeavour to exert a positive
influence on our supply chain by working and
communications. To mitigate the supply chain
risk, the Group evaluate their performance
regularly.

According to our tendering policy, the Group
compares different suppliers/service providers
to select qualified candidates (based on criteria
such as certification and qualification related
to environmental protection, specifications,
compliances, quality control and corporate
social responsibility performances, etc.) before
the Group enters into contract.

Thus, we believe there are no significant
environmental and social risks for our
management decision on supply chain
management during the year.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s
number of suppliers and service providers by

geographical location during the year:

Number of suppliers and service

B5 -

RiE - B REBRE

EEEH
HERE T

()
B RF R - ARBEEHIET
EZHRHE - AEREEREME
o BERERFNEERKRFHE
REMMGEETENEELCETD
APfAR R - REBEBDBBIIE
KaBHEMNHERTRIERY
2 - BREREHERRR  ~AEEE
HIRHA R ERR -

BERPNBERER - AKEFILAE
Mz A E LR R ER, IR H
&R - WRBERBRERERE
Big - B aRBR - EEEH
REEHEEERREEEELR
2.

At - ZFRR/AFETEBRRE
Pt RE RN EIRERRNEKNR
BREERR

ARF R IR IR [R5 8 0 B AR R E R
FER M ARG HEREE DT

RBEERE SN HERR

providers by geographical region R ER 2 A 2022
PRC a3 402
Japan AR 64
Total Bt 466
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Bé:

Product Responsibility
Product Assurance

The Group sets high standards to deliver quality
products and services to our customers. The
Group exercises stringent quality control policies
and processes on our product/service throughout
the entire process of supply chain management
(Please refer to section B5 for details). Product
quality is evidenced by awards obtained in
past years such as Chongging Kingstone Land
Co. Ltd* (EEEREHMBRAF]), one of our
subsidiary of the Group who is responsible for
the Group’s property development in Chongging,
has obtained an award of “2019F B> #+K[F
Lrxanhg” for the quality product delivered to the
customers and consumers in year 2019.

The serviced apartments have been officially put
into operation during FY21, and were awarded
the “2020 Best New Opening Apartment Hotel”
by the selection panel of the China Best Hotel
Awards. Besides, Zhejiang Huiyong Property
Management Service Co,. Ltd.* (T THE Kz
EERIE AR A F]), one of our subsidiary of the
Group who is engaged in providing property
management services in various provinces of
the PRC, was recognised as the “2020 Top 100
Property Management Companies in China” by
the China Index Academy and was awarded the
title of “China Property Service Company with
Featured Brands” during the year.

Quality control and Recall

The Group exercises stringent quality control
policies and processes on our product/service
throughout the entire process of supply chain
management (Please refer to section B5 for
details). The Group also exercises rigorous
quality control management to ensure our
product/service not only can reach industry/
market standards but also can comply with local
laws and regulations in environmental and social
aspects.

B6 -

Em AT

ERET

AEBBRUSIEE  AEFPRHE
BEMRRRTG - AEBEREEMLE
BEEARPHRMOER, R
EMESNE SRR RRRE
(G535 20B5—H) - BEZFE
SHREEFRMNERLEE - W@
BEAEERNEENYELERNAR
EEEF—HNBRREEERAE
WHERAR @ BRER2019F R
FRERHEEENELDERMNG
[2019 B{E+KIF O mbg]

RBRABR2021EHBFEEDIE
NWABE - UHFBEREDEA
BREB T ABI2020F E & 1E
FHEBEAE] o o - HTTE
KMEBERBERAR(NER
ETN—ZRRPERSEIREMEEE
RIS HI BB A ) A 5 1 7 b &F
BER[2020F PR MERS ERDE
¥ YRAFELEEPRYER
B MR ¥ TR -

HETHI AR
AEERBEHEREEEEDY
BMOER/REEERBEROES
ZHIBR LR iE (F 15 R 2 MB5s—
1) c AEBTEREEHNEERE
HIER - BREMNERRED
BERITE/THEE EFAE
WRERLGEBEAERER
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During the year, there was no products sold/
service provided subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons and no material complaints about
our products and services received.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group has complied with laws and
regulations that related to protection of patents
and trademarks in each operating jurisdictions.
To protect third party intellectual property rights
and comply with relevant licensing terms when
software is used, employees are prohibited
from duplicating, installing or using software in
violation of its copyright or license terms as part
of the Group’s information security policy and
staff handbook. Use of free software products
is stringently controlled; and making copies of
copyright works is strictly prohibited.

Customer Data Protection

The Group are committed to complying with
all relevant laws and regulations related to
customer’s rights and privacy protection,
including but not limited to:

° The Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of
Hong Kong;

° The Personal Information Protection Law
of Japan;

o Consumer Protection Fundamental Act of
Japan;

° The Law of the People’s Republic of China
on the Protection of Consumer Rights and
Interests; and

° Various guidelines and laws in the
People’s Republic of China related to
personal data protection, such as the
PRC Cybersecurity Law.

RiE - B REBRE

AEE  TEESEEMKCRHER
BRZE2REERAMAAD - 7§
EREAERMERMREHEKR
G

AR EETE

AEBEBTREERIEREH
BN RASRRENERER - /R
EE =T ABERY EERR R
ETHEBMERGR - BETFE
B REYLEM R RRESE R G
ROEE - B AKREERZ 2R
RERBITFMO—2D - ERRE
BHFEMXEBES - WEREER
R FE(ER °

BEFBERE
AEBMENETHAEETFEN R
TLEBREREIRES - B81EE
TR

. BREABR AR FD

. B AEA B RREE

. AAHBEEREAOX

. REARLMBESESE RS
REE &

. I AR AN EE R A SR
REM B M Z 0 E 5l BOA
2?2 MPEE8ERE -

SEoCFER REBBERAD 67



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERBRS

B7:

The Group manages information in a systematic
approach. The Group has developed a policy
on customer data control and a procedure
on control of information assets. Employee
handbook has stated electronic communication
system usage policy to provide guideline on
managing data and information. Sending of
private email to customers is strictly prohibited,
all customer information should restricted under
the domain of the company email. All staff are
requested to logout their computer system and
close down their computer network after work.

To maintain network security, the Group has
set up firewalls, installed anti-virus software
and implemented interactive processing for
password verification. Robust support has
been provided for network and servers involved
in major operations. IT department has set
restricted connections between office and
commercial networks to prevent unauthorised
data use, export and copy.

No non-compliance with laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group in
relation to customer data protection and privacy
was recorded during the year.

Anti-corruption

According to the Group’s anti-corruption policy,
all employees shall abide by the laws and
regulations of the PRC and Japan, and the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 21) of
Hong Kong and shall not engage in any illegal
activities. Employees shall uphold the code of
ethics, advocate fair competition and act against
bribery according to the Group’s procedure
manuals. Any bribery, fraud, money laundering
and embezzlement are prohibited. Employees
must not accept or request any improper
benefits including banquets, gifts, securities,
valuables and high-expenditure entertainment
activities from business partners, suppliers
and merchants, etc. The prohibition against
the provision of anything of value applies to all
clients, suppliers, and any person with whom

B7 :

AEBUARGETAEREAR - K
SEEHERFBEERRENE
MEEERRERF - EEFMEAE
FREZSREARK  REEEE
REMREHRES - BERTPEX
FLAEE  FIBREFERERRA
RIEBESG - MBERETHEAZHK
FMEMELS - YRR TEm L
7 A A 1% 5 TRk O 4 3%

REREREZE  AEEERED
Kifg - WREHRESRE - BEA
mHREESEN  TEHIEE
REBFEHESNBERARES - &
ARSAPIERDNERBEREZ
MR ARMES - B IERERE
/A Bh MEREE -

AEE  AEEYEBRGSERER
EFEBERERLBAHAKREE
EERFENAREANTERE

RE)T

REASENRESHER AR
SHAE TR ENEARRER A
KBS LREED (F21F) - &
BUREEMIIPZED - BEBARE
AEBHEF T MR EEmEL
REATHES - WRERITEREEH
B o TR - HRGF - ARE R
RRREELELL - BET/EXK
BREEEH  HEBAEBRFR
HEFRTLEENG  BHRES 2
oA BEEYmAEEERE
EE o MBEILRMEERS - HER
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the Group does or anticipates doing business.
Employment opportunities must not be used as
an inducement to anyone to act improperly so
as to obtain or retain as advantage in business.
The Group prohibits bribery committed by
third parties acting on its behalf. The Group
mandates appropriate due diligence on all such
third parties, and the application of suitable
contractual terms and governance to reduce
the risk of bribery. The Group reserve the right
to terminate its relationship with an associated
person who commits, or is suspected to have
committed bribery.

When there is any alleged case in violation of
laws, regulations, code of conduct or Group’s
policies, the Group will investigate and impose
disciplinary actions upon offenders after
verification. Anti-corruption training was provided
to a total of 45 employee (including management
and staff) during the year.

The Group complies all applicable laws on
prohibiting corruption and bribery of the PRC
and Japan that have a significant impact on
the Company during the year. There was
no concluded legal case regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its
employees during the year.

Community Investment

As a socially responsible company, the Group
is committed to understanding the needs of the
communities in which we operate. The Group
strives to develop long-term relationship with our
stakeholders and seek to make contributions
to programs that have a positive impact on
community development.

Thus, the Group will constantly be aware of
the importance to make contribution to the
community such as encouraging employees to
dedicate their time and skills to support the civil
society.

* For identification purpose only

B8 -
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

The directors (the “Director(s)”) of Man Sang International
Limited (the “Company”) herein present their report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The Company is an investment holding company. During the
year, the Group is principally engaged in the development,
sales and leasing of properties, provision of property
management services and renovation and decoration services
and hotel management.

The principal activities of the Company’s major subsidiaries
are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
operating segment is set out in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development are
provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 6 and 7 and
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 8 to 18 of this
annual report.

The capital risk management and financial risk management
objectives and policies of the Group are shown in notes 6 and
7 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
using financial key performance indicators is provided in the
Financial Highlights on pages 4 and 5 of this annual report.

Discussion on the Group’s environmental issues and
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Company are contained in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 43 to
69 of this annual report.

REBBARAR(EARRNEZ(EE)E IR
REBEEERE  BRAARAREHMB AR (KB
[REBE DEZE2022F3 A31H It FE KT
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ARBIZEEWNBRAAINEBZERIREEME
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AEBRFRREENREDZEERANTE
RERE SRR -

EXAEI]

REBRAF AR TS B B M AR E B R IRER
BOFwOPNENAFRFBORTEEFRERSE
SE18EEEEFMENT ©

AEENEARREE MM BRREREBZERK
RO RIENER G M RERMEOMT
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The Company’s key relationships with its employees, customers
and suppliers and business associates that have a significant
impact on the Company and on which the Company’s success
depends are contained in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 43 to 69 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 94 and 95 of this annual
report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2022.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company does not have any distributable reserve in
accordance with the provisions of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981 as at 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

Details of the distributable reserve are set out in note 40(iii) to
the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” of this annual report and in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreement
was entered into by the Company during the year.

PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

Details of movements in investment properties and properties
held for sale of the Group during the year are set out in
notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the five largest customers
of the Group together accounted for 28% (2021: 49%), with
the largest customer accounted for approximately 9% (2021:
35%) of the Group’s total revenue. The five largest suppliers/
contractors of the Group together accounted for 69% (2021:
33%), with the largest supplier/contractor accounted for 47%
(2021: 19%) of the Group’s total purchases/construction during
the year.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, other than the second
largest, the fourth largest and the fifth largest customer of the
Group in the year, which are entities under control by Mr. Hu
Xingrong (“Mr. Hu”), an executive Director and the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company and contributed
HK$9,124,000, HK$3,981,000 and HK$3,362,000 to the
Group’s total revenue of the year, respectively, none of the
Directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest
in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or customers during
the year.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A five-year financial summary of the Group is set out on page
227 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hu Xingrong (Chairman)

Mr. Huang Xiaohai

Mr. Jin Jianggui

Mr. Li Zhenyu

Mr. Xu Haohao (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Pau Yee Ling
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit
Mr. Yuen Hoi Po

In accordance with bye-law 87 of the Company’s bye-laws,
at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for
the time being shall retire form office by rotation. Accordingly,
Mr. Hu Xingrong, Mr. Jin Jianggui and Mr. Yuen Hoi Po shall
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENT

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has entered into any
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and Senior Management
are set out on pages 19 to 22.

DIRECTOR’S MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION
TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

Save as disclose herein, no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company’s holding company, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the
Company and the Director’s connected party had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company has been entered into or existed during the year.
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COMPETING BUSINESSES

The interests of the Directors of the Company in competing
business that were required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
8.10 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as
informed by the relevant Directors were as follows:

Mr. Hu Xingrong (an executive director and the chairman of
the Company) is the chairman of the board of directors of Doof
International Holding Group Company Limited* (% # BIpR %
i@ AR AR (“Doof Group”), a company established in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) which is a large-
scale comprehensive privately-owned enterprise group,
which has business of properties development in the PRC.
The Company is an investment holding company whose
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the development, sales
and leasing of properties, as well as provision of property
management services and renovation and decoration services
and hotel management. Therefore, the business of properties
development in the PRC engaged by Doof Group (the
“Excluded Business”) may be regarded as being potentially
competing (directly or indirectly) with the Group’s business,
and Mr. Hu Xingrong is regarded as being interested in the
Excluded Business.

The Doof Group has a number of properties and land reserves
in various regions in the PRC, and the Group has no plans to
invest in properties in the same regions. While there is one
overlapped region, being Chongqing, the Group’s businesses
and the Doof Group’s business in Chongaing differ greatly in
terms of project size, nature and target customers. The Doof
Group’s development projects generally target middle-class
households, whereas the Group targets upper middle and
upper class households and high-end customers.
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Apart from Mr. Hu Xingrong, Mr. Huang Xiaohai, Mr. Jin
Jianggui and Mr. Li Zhenyu (all being executive Directors
of the Company) are vice presidents of Doof Group. To the
best knowledge of the Company after making all reasonable
enquiries, Mr. Huang Xiaohai, Mr. Jin Jianggui and Mr. Li
Zhenyu had no shareholding interest in Doof Group. The
Company was informed by Mr. Huang Xiaohai, Mr. Jin Jianggui
and Mr. Li Zhenyu that they were merely maintaining their
positions as vice presidents of Doof Group in a non-executive
nature.

The Group and the Excluded Business under Doof Group are
managed by separate companies with separate management
and administration. With the overseeing and supervision of
the independent non-executive Directors of the Company,
the Board is of the view that the Group should be capable
of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s
length from, the Excluded Business of Doof Group. The
Board shall also regularly assess the Company’s business
development to ensure there is no issue of competition.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme which
was adopted on 17 August 2012 are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO”)), which (a) were required to be notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which the
Directors have taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or
(c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange were set out below:

EERTRARER KRG - HEROKE
ZEBERARE

MR2022F3A31H » EERAA A) S H (T F8 8
EE (B H R BE GG ([FH R EBE G FEXV
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Nt RS RAB YT

Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.50 each held

FBEEREESE T2 EERHE

Percentage
of the
issued share

Capacity/ Direct Deemed Total capital of the
Name of Director nature of interest interest interest interest Company
R N
BIEH BBITRA
BEsnR B REtE HiEER R HER Bott
Mr. Hu Xingrong Interest in a controlled 477,327,672 477,327,672 73.75%
corporation (Note)
FREER A XEEEER (f5E)
Note:  These shares were directly owned by China DaDi Group Limited (‘China  Ffst : ZERMOBETEAMEBRBR AT ((FE KA ]|) H5EZ

DaDi"), which is 100% owned by Mr. Hu Xingrong.

The interests stated above represent long positions.

A MPBEAWBIMAEEEEZEHRE -

PRI R R ©

76

Man Sang International Limited  Annual Report 2022



Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, none of
the Directors had, as at 31 March 2022, any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors have taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant
to the Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse or
minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or
was the Company, its holding company, fellow subsidiaries or
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 March 2022, substantial shareholders’ interests and
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company, other than the Directors, as recorded in the register
of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

FERRREMALRARTRED RAERBK
DHERZEERAXR

MR2022F3H31H ' REBEARAILRBEBELR LT
BAIEIBHRTFEZTERRELMAH F 2
BERESRINERARGRODERIEBEROFHE
ZREFRRBWT ¢

Number of ordinary shares

EERER

Percentage
of the issued
Name of Capacity/ Direct Deemed Total share capital
Shareholder nature of interest interest interest interest of the Company
LSRN
B 2 BITRA
RERER B RntE =R 4 AR R ERe
China DaDi Beneficial owner 477,327,672 - 477,327,672 73.75%

(Note)

A B K b BB A (PR 5E)

Note:  These Shares were directly owned by China DaDi, which is 100%

owned by Mr. Hu Xingrong.
The interests stated above represent long positions.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Company
has not been notified of any person (other than the director of
the Company) or entity had an interest or a short position in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules for securities transactions
by the Directors. Having made specific enquiries with all the
Directors, they have confirmed compliance with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the year
ended 31 March 2022.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Board has assessed the independence of all the independent
non-executive Directors and is satisfied of their independence.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee, which comprises three independent non-
executive directors of the Company, has reviewed with the
management in conjunction with the auditor, the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed
the internal control, risk management and financial reporting
matters including the review of audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Connected Transaction in relation to subscription of new
ordinary shares of the Company under specific mandates

On 17 August 2021, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement (the “Subscription Agreement 1”) with Total Idea
International Limited (“Total Idea”), a company incorporated
under the laws of British Virgin Islands and indirectly wholly
owned by Mr. Hu, pursuant to which Total Idea conditionally
agreed to subscribe for and the Company conditionally
agreed to allot and issue 142,500,000 subscription shares at
the subscription price of HK$1.60 per subscription share in
settlement of certain promissory notes issued by the Company
to Total Idea with a principal amount of HK$228,000,000 (the
“Promissory Notes”).

On the even day, the Company entered into another
subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement 17,
together with the Subscription Agreement |, the “Subscription
Agreements”) with Faithful Goal International Limited (“Faithful
Goal”), a company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong
and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and Mr. Hu, pursuant to which Mr. Hu conditionally agreed to
subscribe for or and the Company conditionally agreed to allot
and issue 62,500,000 subscription shares at the subscription
price of HK$1.60 per subscription share in settlement of the
principal amount of unsecured borrowings from Mr. Hu by
Faithful Goal of HK$100,000,000 (the “Loan”).
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The above-mentioned subscriptions (the “Subscriptions”) were
completed on 12 October 2021. Pursuant to the Subscription
Agreements, the subscription shares were registered in the
name of China DaDi Group Limited, the nominee of both Total
Idea and Mr. Hu.

Mr. Hu is an executive Director and ultimate controlling
Shareholder of the Company, and Total Idea is wholly-
owned by Mr. Hu, therefore each of Mr. Hu and Total Idea are
connected persons of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Reasons for and Benefits of the Subscriptions

Prior to completion of the Subscriptions, the aggregate
outstanding principal amount of the promissory notes issued
by the Company to Total Idea was HK$778,000,000 and the
Loan in the principal sum of HK$100,000,000 was outstanding.

The Subscriptions allowed the Company to settle the indebted
sums owed to Total Idea and Mr. Hu without utilising existing
financial resources of the Company while reducing the gearing
level and finance cost of the Group and hence strengthen the
financial position of the Group.

For details of the Subscriptions, please refer to the circular
dated 16 September 2021 and announcements dated 17
August 2021, 5 October 2021 and 30 November 2021.

Continuing Connected Transactions relating to the
Master Agreement in Respect of Provision of Property
Management Services and Decoration and Renovation
Engineering Services (the “Services”)

On 24 February 2021, the Company and Mr. Hu entered into
the master agreement, pursuant to which the companies
within the Group (the “Group Companies”) shall provide the
Services to Mr. Hu and Mr. Hu'’s direct or indirect wholly owned
or 30%-controlled companies during the period commencing
from 24 February 2021 (or upon fulfilment of all conditions
precedent of the master agreement, whichever later) and
ending on 31 March 2023 (both days inclusive) unless
otherwise terminated (the “Master Agreement”). Mr. Hu is an
executive Director and ultimate controlling Shareholder of the
Company and is therefore a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

Tl REEE(RESZTE])ER2021F10712
AR - RIEREHZ - RERHOUBEKIBE
BERAR(AEERMALTEZRBANNEEE
e

HEERARBNATES RERRERKR - M
2EHPLREZERD - HURELTHRA - 48
EEREBH/ARANEEAL -

EITREFEENER R

RABBEEZRA - ARRAEEEHTREER
$48%85778,000,0008 T 2 & A B - MASEE
/£100,000,000/8 TR E ZX M A EE -

RBEREARBEBETBAARNRRRB T K
BRNBEATEEEREERAXENER - F
HREEAKRENEEABL R RMBERA - M
Do A £R B BV BA AR ©

FHARBEEMNFE  F2EHHAE202149A8
16 H 3 KA K B BB A2202148 8178 ~ 20214
10A58 K&2021F11 A 0EKIAE -

FRAREMEEERBEURREREH TERKE
(ZERBDNEHBNFRBERS

R2021F2H24H « AABIEEAFLER T E W
OB BRIEEMFRKLE  AEEETA
AIEE AT ER2021F2 8248 (S F Tz
BIFTA R I EERE - UEBESR %) R
IRE2023F3A3TH(BREMABIEEA) A RD
MMM EERPLECEEXMEEZERAHN
30%XIENRIRBZERS ((EHE)) - AkE
BEARBTMITEERERIZERKRE - RE L™
RABARRB ZB@EAL -

80 Man Sang International Limited Annual Report 2022



The consideration under individual agreements for the
Services shall be determined through procedures for tender
and bidding pursuant to the relevant rules and regulations of
the PRC; or an approach which brings greater profit to the
Group; or if the Group Companies intend to bid for a project,
the bidding documents should base on the requirements set
by the tenderer and submit the same to the management of the
Company for approval; or the consideration price is according
to the scale of each project with reference to comparable
market prices of independent third party service providers; or
in permitted cases where the tender process is not required,
an agreed price shall be adopted according to “reasonable
costs of the project + reasonable market profit range”,
expected profit margin of the services to be provided by the
Group Companies shall be no less than the profit margin the
Company charges an independent third party. Relevant laws
and regulations concerning specific requirements for the
Services, including in particular, the Property Management
Regulations ({¥1% &2 14f1)) and the Construction Law of the
People’s Republic of China ({1 #E A R HEFIE £ 4E7%)) shall be
strictly complied with.

The annual cap for each of the provision of the Services under
the Master Agreement three years ending are RMB55,500,000.
The annual cap for the year ended 31 March 2022 had not
been exceeded.

Reasons for and Benefits of Entering into the Master Agreement

Since around 2019, the Group has adopted a concrete
expansion strategy to diversify revenue sources and
create shareholders’ value, in particular, by taking property
development as the Group’s core business and integrating
upstream and downstream light assets businesses of the
industrial chain, and to continuously explore opportunities to
make investments and/or acquire businesses or projects that
have promising outlooks and prospects.

Through the acquisitions of subsidiaries from Mr. Hu or his
associates as disclosed in the previous announcements of the
Company, the Group has been steadily acquiring new and
improved resources, skills and technology, while at the same
time increasing its project scale and staff size, with an aim to
promote business growth and enhance the Group’s goodwill in
the property development industry as a whole. Notwithstanding
such acquisitions, property development, investment and sales
and leasing remain as the Group’s principal business.
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By entering into the Master Agreement, the Group can
accumulate relevant experience and improve its reputation
and goodwill in the property management services and
renovation and decoration services businesses through
transactions with the Mr. Hu Controlled Companies on large
scale and noteworthy projects, which would also bring stable
income, reinforce the Group’s revenue stream and cash flow,
and facilitate the future development plan of the Group. The
Master Agreement could bring about significant synergy effect
and further promote the business growth of the Group in the
property development industry in the long run. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 24
February 2021 and the circular of the Company dated 15
March 2021.

Confirmation from Independent Non-executive Directors

Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Master Agreement and confirmed that (i) the transactions
carried during the year ended 31 March 2022 have been
entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the
Master Agreement and that the profit has been substantially
retained by the Company, and (ii) any new contracts entered
into, renewed or reproduced between the Group and Mr. Hu
during the year ended 31 March 2022 are fair and reasonable,
or advantageous, so far as the Group is concerned and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 March
2022, there were no other connected transactions (including
continuing connected transactions) of the Company that
required for the reporting, announcement, annual review and
independent shareholders’ approval under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The Company confirms that it has complied with
the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

All independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31
March 2022 were:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of the Group’s
business;

2. on normal commercial terms or better to the Company;
and
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ok in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

Confirmations from our Company’s Independent Auditor

The auditor of our Company has confirmed in a letter to the
Board that, with respect to the aforesaid continuing connected
transactions entered into during the year ended 31 March
2022:

1. nothing has come to their attention that causes
the auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions have not been approved by the
Board;

2. for transactions involving the provision of goods or
services by the Group, nothing has come to their
attention that causes the auditor to believe that the
transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

ok nothing has come to their attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing such transactions; and

4. no transaction has exceeded the cap.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under Bye-law 166(1) of the Company’s bye-laws, the
Directors shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
or any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of
any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices,
provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in
respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attached to any
of them. Such permitted indemnity provision is currently in
force and was in force throughout the year.

The Company has also taken out and maintained Directors’
and officers’ liability insurance policy throughout the year,
which indemnifies against costs, charges, losses, expenses
and liabilities that may be incurred by the Directors in the
execution and discharge of their duties.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EZERS

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Employees

The Group believes that Directors, senior management
and employees are the key to our success, their industrial
knowledge and understanding of the market enables the
Group to maintain market competitiveness. Thus, the Group
provides competitive remuneration package and benefits, and
commits to create a harmonious working environment without
discrimination.

Customers

The Group’s largest customers are property developers in the
property management services segment and renovation and
decoration services segment, and property investors in the
Chongqing Property segment. Save for the second largest,
fourth largest and the fifth largest customer, which are entities
under control by Mr. Hu, all major customers of the Group were
independent third parties.

The Group provides high-quality and reliable service for
customers, and maintain good relationship with existing and
potential customers to keep abreast of the market trend,
which enables us to adjust our operation and marketing
strategies timely, it is critical for the development and success
for the Group. Meanwhile, we have no material dispute with
customers.

Suppliers

The Group’s largest suppliers/contractors are constructors and
renovation and decoration service providers in the Chongging
Property segment. All major suppliers/contractors of the Group
were independent third parties.

The Group maintains the solid and stable relationship with main
suppliers/contractors to ensure the product quality and plan
progress. The Group cooperates with its suppliers/contractors
and closely monitors its product quality, routine construction
engineering and timely settles for the completed works.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float during the year and up to
the date of this Directors’ Report under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2022 have been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Save as disclosed herein, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 March
2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual
report.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

No significant events took place subsequent to 31 March 2022.

On behalf of the Board

Hu Xingrong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 June 2022

* For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BY B E

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
MAN SANG INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Man Sang International Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 94 to 226, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F., Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan Avenue
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss
of HK$375,610,000 during the year ended 31 March 2022
and, as of that date, the Group had total current liabilities of
approximately HK$364,548,000 while the Group had bank
balances and cash of approximately HK$31,770,000. As stated
in note 2, these conditions indicate that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current year. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Valuation of investment properties

Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements and
accounting policies on page 127.

The key audit matter
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

Bz & NAEERRER

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of investment
properties was stated at fair value of approximately
HK$1,957,299,000 based on valuation performed by
independent valuer, with a decrease in fair value of
approximately HK$69,366,000 recognised for the year ended
31 March 2022.
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We have identified the valuation of investment properties
as a key audit matter because of their significance to the
consolidated financial statements and the involvement
of significant judgements and estimates made by the
management of the Company in assessing its fair value.
ERNHGEMBREAMEBEARSRNTGAABER B
AEIEREAELERAE RMEE - HBEMEBTHREDE
Bl REARETEE -

Our procedures were designed to challenge the
valuation process and reasonableness of the key
assumption and estimates adopted in assessing
the fair value of investment properties.
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We have challenged the reasonableness of the
methodologies, key assumptions and the input
data used in the valuation with reference to the
recent market transacted prices and internal
business plans, together with market and other
externally available information.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BE RS

Assessment of net realisable value of properties held for
sale

Please refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements
and accounting policies on page 129.

The key audit matter
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How the matter was addressed in our audit
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As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of properties held
for sale amounting to approximately HK$465,440,000.
202253 A31R - FEHEYE Z RE{EA /465,440,0008

JC °

Management of the Company assessed the carrying amount
of properties held for sale according to the net realisable value
of the property units with reference to the valuation performed
by independent valuer, which involves significant degree of
judgements and estimates.
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We have identified the assessment of net realisable value of
properties held for sale as a key audit matter because of their
significance to the consolidated financial statements and the
involvement of significant judgements and estimates made by
the management of the Company.
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Our procedures were designed to challenge the
impairment review process and reasonableness
of the key assumption and estimates adopted in
assessing the net realisable value of properties
held for sale.
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We have challenged the reasonableness of the
methodologies, key assumptions and the input
data used in the assessment in estimating the
net realisable value, including estimating selling
expenses and selling prices with reference to
the local economic developments, recent sales
transactions of the Group and other available
market information.
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets

Please refer to notes 20 and 22 to the consolidated financial
statements and accounting policies on pages 120 to 121, 128
to 129 and 142.

The key audit matter
BRETBIR
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

Bz &N AEERRER

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets amounted
to approximately HK$633,604,000 (net of accumulated
impairment loss of HK$161,267,000) and HK$203,110,000
(net of accumulated impairment loss of HK$56,700,000)
respectively.
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Management of the Company assessed the impairment of
carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets according to the respective recoverable amounts
with reference to the valuation performed by independent
valuer, which involves significant degree of judgements and
estimates.
SERRERERBB Y GEMETHEMSNHZEAILKRSE
FEME BMEMRBULEREEEZREERE 895
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We have identified the impairment of the property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets as a key audit matter
because of their significance to the consolidated financial
statements and the involvement of a significant degree of
judgements and estimates made by the management of the
Company in assessing the recoverable amounts.
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Our procedures were designed to challenge the
impairment review process and reasonableness
of the key assumption and estimates adopted in
assessing the recoverable amounts of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.
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We have challenged the reasonableness of the
methodologies, key assumptions and the input
data used in the assessment in determining the
recoverable amounts by reference to the external
and internal source of information.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BE RS

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we concluded that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors of the Company and Those
Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act and our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

° evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors of the
Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BE RS

o conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

. B BERAREERARELESERZ
REMEELER  UREMERZETR
& RERAFEESEHEIBRAEBZIE
ATHEERE  KmAeEsy 58
ZIEBERERNEEETREE - WRMA
REEEATHERNR @ MALEERH
AR SRR AE TR HEEPBEHRRD
MARERE - MEBEET R - BERR
PNER - Bz Em I EREEZEE
HERBIAG2ERE - A - KK
EFRABAAEEYN BEEETHEFEL

:%‘:o

. G MBRR CEBEHRS N - &
ERAE  BREEEER  UREGEMBER
KRERNFRBERR S NFE -

. # BEEENERAXBEHIUBER
ERRRMEE 2ENERE  UWEHES
MBHREZERER - RMIBEKEETZ
A BEERST  RPIRESAERARE

2HEE -

BPEERER(EP BB 2 BEE - &
LR EREFRRBR  ZFERBERM
EETBRP BRI AR 2 I EXERE -

BATREREELRE  BHRMENAEH
BY 2 AEEREFR  YEFFZBAERS
ERAEXERMBIM ZMBBRLEMSE
H - ARREUHRR BUE 15 bt sk AR RE B 045 it (40
@A) -
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current year and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Lau Kai Wong.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lau Kai Wong

Practising Certificate Number: PO6623

Hong Kong
23 June 2022

e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

meEBEER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

2022 2021
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
P& FTER FAT
Revenue WA 8 116,656 158,729
Cost of sales SHE AR (125,050) (183,007)
Gross loss Fi8 (8,394) (24,278)
Other income and gains (losses), net E AU A K& Sz (B18) 10 (771) (10,599)
(Decrease) increase in fair value of  E AR EEFABZZ S
financial asset at fair value through & E 2 A7 BECED) &0
profit or loss 21 (8,799) 2,312
Selling expenses SHERX (13,835) (18,358)
Administrative expenses THHAX (82,830) (103,742)
Impairment loss on right-of-use asset {& F#E & R E &1 - (52,124)
Impairment loss on property, plant  #1% « = &R EREEE
and equipment - (149,920)
Impairment loss on properties RIELEYERERBR
held for sale 19 (5,710) -
Decrease in fair value of investment & &% A 4 EER D
properties 18 (69,366) (4,088)
Finance income IR TN 11 63 230
Finance costs BB RAR 11 (185,602) (154,398)
Loss before tax FRELRIESE 12 (375,244) (514,965)
Income tax expense FriS TR X 13 (366) (5,144)
Loss for the year FNEE (375,610) (520,109)
Loss attributable to: LA AL FE{GESE -
Equity holders of the Company ZAYNET S (371,735) (521,821)
Non-controlling interest FEFE R = (3,875) 1,712
(375,610) (520,109)
LOSS PER SHARE BRER
- basic and diluted (HK dollars) -BEARAREEC(ET) 16 (0.69) (1.26)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

meEakEtEEKER

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss for the year FREE (375,610) (520,109)
Other comprehensive income Hig 2 E KA
Items that may be reclassified HErfEE DR B2
subsequently to profit or l0ss: EH -
Exchange differences on translation {2 & FINERE 2 [E 3 =58
of foreign operations 48,641 124,084
Total comprehensive expenses for — FAZHE S 4258
the year (326,969) (396,025)
Total comprehensive (expenses) LWTATEEEAZE D)
income for the year attributable to: ~ Ug A 4258 :
Equity holders of the Company ZiN/NET 3 (323,153) (397,998)
Non-controlling interest IR (3,816) 1,973
(326,969) (396,025)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PR R

AT 31 MARCH 2022 7202243 H31H

31 March 31 March
2022 2021
20224 20214
3H31H 3A31H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T FExT FHET
Non-current assets EREEE
Investment properties A 18 1,957,299 1,954,762
Property, plant and equipment M - BE kB 20 633,604 654,191
Financial asset at fair value through  Z AR EETABZZ &/
profit or loss BE 21 2,741 11,235
Right-of-use assets EREEE 22 203,110 200,532
Intangible assets mEEE 23 1,706 1,688
Other receivables H At R U AR 5K 24 9,794 9,835
2,808,254 2,832,243
Current assets REEE
Properties held for sale FHELHEME 19 465,440 455,873
Inventories FE 4,586 5,184
Trade and other receivables B 5 KkE M EKERR 24 26,363 34,546
Contract assets BHEE 24 9,691 5,388
Amounts due from related FEUFE R B FIR
companies 27 6,164 15,778
Cash and cash equivalents BeRERES® 25 31,770 153,787
544,014 670,556
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 NEM RN 26 152,221 208,284
Amounts due to related companies  FE{RE R A58 27 2,421 4,632
Tax payables FEfIFIIR 160,121 154,914
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEER 28 32,949 20,636
Unsecured borrowings from a EEEKPEER
director 30 14,765 -
Lease liabilities HEARE 22 2,071 3,163
364,548 391,629
Net current assets REEEZEE 179,466 278,927
Total assets less current liabilities AEERREBEE 2,987,720 3,111,170
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e PR RR

AT 31 MARCH 2022 7202243 A31H

31 March 31 March
2022 2021
20224 20214
3831H 3A31RH
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
PR FTER FET
Non-current liabilities FkRBER
Deferred income tax liabilities BLEMEHAE 31 15,060 21,116
Promissory notes A EE 29 868,052 1,042,307
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEER 28 1,508,937 1,441,351
Unsecured borrowings from a EEEKPEER
director 30 377,561 404,411
Lease liabilities HEAE 22 10,782 12,857
Other payables H {th FE T AR 5K 26 17,169 =
2,797,561 2,922,042
Net assets EEFE 190,159 189,128
Capital and reserves EXRHEE
Share capital A&7 32 323,599 221,099
Reserves w1 (132,332) (34,679)
Equity attributable to owners of the ~ ANA G A AFE(LHER
Company 191,267 186,420
Non-controlling interest IR S (1,108) 2,708
190,159 189,128

The consolidated financial statements on pages 94 to 226 were
approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on

23 June 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

FO4E226 B TE AT A B HREK E 1202296 A
23HEEE e E RIRETE

MERE

WHIATALR

Hu Xingrong Li Zhenyu
tHE S FIRF
Director Director
EF 2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

LN PN
PRC Non-
Share Share Merger statutory  Translation  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve osses Total interest Total
kx RPEE  AbRE vEEAEERRE  ENRE Zithl gt kERER &5t
HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$O000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000
TEn T T TEn TEn Tér  THEn T T
(Note il (Note i)
(B i) i)
Balance at 1 April 2020 RONEAR1R K5 190,617 446,244 665 386 (161,680) (79428) 396,804 - 396,804
(Loss) profit for the year EREE(ET) - - - - - (521821)  (521,821) 1712 (520,100)
Other comprehensive income: At 2EKA :
Exchange differences on HESNEBZES

translation of foreign operations 8 - - - - 123,823 - 123,823 261 124,084
Total comprehensive income ERZERARR)

(expenses) for the year ot - - - - 123,823 (521,821)  (397,998) 1,973 (396,025)
Transfer to statutory reserve BEEETRE - = = 90 S (920) S S S
Issue of shares on placements REEREARY

(note 32) (#332) 14,110 35,276 - - - - 49,386 - 49,386
Consideration paid for business REESIT 2 EBARN

combination under common xtZ KB

control (notes 32 and 38) %38) 16,372 50,752 7,104 - - - 138,228 - 138,228
Acquisition of subsidiaries YR B 2 7] (BfzE30)

(note 39) - - - - - - - 73 73
Balance at 31 March 2021 RANFIAIN A o 221,099 532,272 71,769 1,306 (37,857) (602,169) 186,420 2,708 189,128
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[

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERZEBR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
ALAHEARL

PRC Non-
Share Share Merger  statutory Translation  Accumulated controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total interest

Bx  RGEE  AUEE rEiRERE  EARRE ZithR & FERER

HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000

T TEn ThR Thx Thn Thx Thx Thn
(Note ii) (Note i)

(G (Kt

Balance at 1 April 2021 RONEARIR 5 221,099 532,272 71,769 1,306 (37,857) (602,169) 186,420 2,708 189,128
Loss for the year ERER - - - = = (371,735)  (371,735) (3875 (375,610)
Other comprehensive income: H2ENA -
Exchange differences on BERNSBCERER

franslation of foreign operations - - - - 48,582 - 48,582 59 48,641
Total comprehensive income EREZEHAFREE

(expenses) for the year - - - - 48,582 (371,735)  (323,159) (3,816)  (326,969)
Transfer to statutory reserve - - - 302 - (302) - - -
Issue and allotment of new shares

for subscription (notes 32) 102,500 225,500 - - - - 328,000 - 328,000
Balance at 31 March 2022 Ho020E3A31H 2 55 33509 572 TAT9 1,608 10,725 (074208) 191,267 (1,108 190,159
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

Notes:

U]

(i)

Under the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) laws and regulations,
companies registered in the PRC are required to provide for certain
statutory reserve, which are to be appropriated from the net profit
(after offsetting accumulated losses from prior years and before profit
distribution to equity holders) as reported in their respective statutory
financial statements. The statutory reserve is created for specific
purposes. The PRC companies are required to appropriate 10% of their
statutory net profits to statutory reserve. A company may discontinue its
contribution when the aggregate sum of the statutory reserve is more
than 50% of its registered capital. The statutory reserve shall only be
used to make up losses of the PRC companies, to expand the PRC
companies’ production operations, or to increase the capital of the
PRC companies. In addition, the PRC companies may make further
contribution to the statutory reserve using its net profits in accordance
with resolutions of the board of directors of the PRC companies.

The merger reserve represents the following:

(a) the difference between the carrying amount of net assets
of the acquired subsidiary, Zhejiang Huiyong Property
Management Services Co., Ltd* (“#/TiE X ¥ 3 E R IRIE B R
‘A R)") (Huiyong Property Management”) (formerly known as
Zhejiang Doof Property Management Services Co., Ltd* (“}if
TZHMEBTLREERAAF")), at the date the Group and
Huiyong Property Management become under common control
and the consideration for the acquisition of Huiyong Property
Management of RMB500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$545,000); and the capital contribution of RMB467,500
(equivalent to approximately HK$510,000) from the prior
shareholder, Mr. Hu Xingrong (“Mr Hu”), in April 2019; and

the difference between the carrying amount of net assets
of the acquired subsidiaries, Tafutsu Kabushiki Kaisha*
(KX &t%%) ("Doof Japan”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred as the “Doof Japan Group”) and the
consideration for the acquisition of the Doof Japan Group of
approximately JPY848,394,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$67,124,000); and adjustment for the shareholder’s loan of
approximately JPY1,975,537,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$138,228,000).

* For identification purpose only

MEE

(i) RBPEARKMBE ((FEIERER - NP BEEM
ZRRARETAERBIRRE  YNEREER
ZEEMBREA /AN EHEEFRFABERRE
RRAERB A DKM A PR o EEREBEREE
BHIRRZ - PEIRRAGEA0RE AN EEETER
o BAR AT BHREBLEEMERL0%H -
ARAMEIEHK - AERBETARBHETEAEE
B BATERREEXRBHIRNTHEAREAR - It
Sh - FERARARBHEESS 2 RERD BN AL
TR — PR -

(ii) SHHEBIEATSE

WUEEH B AR IE KM EETERSEHR
ARk E] - AITEMIZHYMEETER
BAERARDRALERE XY E S HRIES
B FEERAERKBEKNENRE
AR #500,0007T (#HE 7 £1545,000/%7T) 2
PR ZERE  LRATARERAE S 4 ((HA% 4D
R2019F4 A K EE AR 467,500 (FHER
#9510,00087T) : &

(a)

WRBHBARKAELZH(ZHRBEAR])
LEMBAR(SAEIZHBAEE]DNF
EEREEANESZABALEEZRED
848,394,000 H [B] (18& 1A 4767,124,000/% 7T.)
2 R ZERE R R R E L 1,975,537,000
A Bl (18 & 7 49138,228,00075 7T) ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&xT FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KEEE
Loss before tax BT BB 1R (375,244) (514,965)
Adjustments for: BT SIEEL < FHE -
Finance income U S ON (63) (230)
Finance costs B 75 A AN 185,602 154,398
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BEREETE
equipment 38,282 40,512
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 5,712 9,032
Decrease in fair values of investment BEMERREBERD
properties 69,366 4,088
Decrease (increase) in fair value of BARBEFABSZCREE
financial asset at fair value through 2N EERS M)
profit or loss 8,799 (2,312)
Government grant E&H??ﬁag (531) (832)
Impairment loss on trade and other B 5 K CH e BR FOR B 5 18
receivables - 4,253
Impairment loss on properties held for BEEHEYERMEER
sale 5,710 -
Impairment loss on right-of-use asset FRAEEERERBE - 52,124
Impairment loss on property, plant and W - BELZREREEE
equipment - 149,920
Write off of other receivable L th R 5 BR SR 8 - 19,153
Operating cash flows before movements EEcHIRI LERENE
in working capital (62,367) (84,859)
Decrease in properties held for sale BIEREWERD = 51,169
Decrease (increase) in trade and other ‘& 5 Kz £ b & Ug B8R Zmi 4> (B8 on)
receivables 10,255 (22,264)
Increase in contract assets BHEEIE N (4,088) (5,388)
Decrease (increase) in inventories FER A GEm 766 (511)
Decrease (increase) in related companies #:E X &1 2> (3 40) 10,117 (12,813)
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 K E fth FE A BR 5RO (41,805) (35,593)
Cash used in operations CETEACRS (87,122) (110,259)
Income taxes paid BEETER (6,786) (1,743)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING RETHMACRESFR
ACTIVITIES (93,908) (112,002)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REBRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

2022 2021
® HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FHET

INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETEE
Purchase of property, plant and BEYHE BERK

equipment (3,490) (3,392)
Payment for additional construction costs 3z /4% & ¥ % 8 INE AL AN

of investment properties (6,710) (40,844)
Net cash inflow from acquisition of W B A RIR &R A FRE

subsidiaries (note 39) (P 5E39) - 1,883
(Advanced to) repayment from related (MEER B BIOBEATEER

companies (56) 405
Interests received EFE 63 230
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REZBAACR T FE

ACTIVITIES (10,193) (41,718)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEH
New bank and other borrowings raised ~ FEBRITREMEE 34,451 =
Repayment of other borrowings EEHEMEE (6,672) (814,050)
Interest paid EfTFE (103,941) (107,676)
Repayment to related companies EEBEATRIA (3,792) (31)
Repayment of unsecured borrowings from EER A EE 2 EXAEE

a director (512,400) (502,933)
Advanced from related companies =N EENETESEZE N 1,469 2,463
Unsecured borrowings raised from BESFEE 2 BEEREE

a director 566,667 291,693
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAE (4,872) (5,952)
Interest paid on lease liabilities HERGENFEA (1,054) (996)
Receipt from government subsidies R FT B W A 531 832
Proceeds from placements of shares fic & A% 10 FT 15 3008 = 50,427
Directly attributable expense on RERNEZEEERX

placements of shares - (1,041)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING RMETBAZREFE

ACTIVITIES (29,613) (1,087,264)
NET DECREASE IN CASH REeERERREFD FE

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (133,714) (1,240,984)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT S{IzBE&RERES

THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 153,787 1,381,528
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [EREB)F £ 11,697 13,243
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT S XzHe&RERE S (FiE25)

THE END OF THE YEAR (note 25) 31,770 153,787
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

GENERAL INFORMATION

Man Sang International Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (as amended). The addresses of its registered
office and its principal place of business are Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and
Unit WF, 25th Floor, Eight Commercial Tower, 8 Sun
Yip Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong, respectively. The
immediate holding company and the ultimate controlling
party of the Company is China DaDi Group Limited,
which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the
“BVI") and Mr. Hu Xingrong (“Mr. Hu”), an executive
director of the Company, respectively.

The shares of the Company are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are currently engaged in the
development, sales and leasing of properties, provision
of property management services and renovation and
decoration services and hotel management. Details of
the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in
Note 41.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the
Group reported loss for the year of approximately
HK$375,610,000. As at 31 March 2022, the Group had
total current liabilities of approximately HK$364,548,000
while the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$31,770,000.

—REHR
REEBEBBERARATERAAZERER
REQIBIFRARZE) (BEIERR
EaMRKyARERREREELA - H
A EEREEL EHE 2t 5 7l
#Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda}z & i S 5
EE8WH /R EREISBERE - A A
BEEERARREEZESFD A RPEAX
MEEBRAR(ENEBELHS ([ EE
B EES ) M A L) R R a8 5 A (A%
] ARBMITES) ©

ARABMREEBARXSMABRAF
(BT DER BT -

AR REWBLF (HBIAKEDRIE
REVMERER  HENEE  RBHYEE
BRI REAE REMAREARBEEIR o
BRARBFEMB AR 2 FBERM T
41

REEEMBEBRRARRB 2GR BT
(METDINE -

RRGEMBRR 2EE

HE2022F3A31BILFE - "EEEKR
BHFEANEE375,610,0008 7T » 7A2022
F3A318 ' AEESGRBEELTY
364,548,000/8 7T + MAK BB RITLE
# NIR € 4931,770,0008 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

In view of the above, the directors of the Company have
reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections covering
a period of twelve months from 31 March 2022 which
have taken into account the following measures:

(1) The operation of the property project of
Chongging Kingstone Land Co., Lid.* (EE£H
BHAR A (“Chongqging Kingstone”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, is expected to continue to generate
operating cash inflows to the Group;

(2) The continuous financial support from Mr. Hu
with unutilised facilities as at 31 March 2022
amounted to approximately HK$414,646,000
available for drawdown at the Group’s request;
and

(3) The continuous financial support from a related
company which is beneficial owned by Mr. Hu
with unutilised facilities as at 31 March 2022
amounted to approximately HK$75,309,000
available for drawdown at the Group’s request.

Based on the above, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to fulfill its financial obligations as and when
they fall due in the coming twelve months from 31
March 2022. Accordingly, the directors of the Company
are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare these
consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

Since 2020, the epidemic of the Coronavirus Disease
2019 (“COVID-19”) has spread across China and
other countries. COVID-19 may affect the financial
performance, position of the property development
industry and hotel industry. The Group kept continuous
attention on the situation of the COVID-19 and reacted
actively to its impact on the financial position and
operating results of the Group.

* For identification purpose only

ARG ESMBRR 2EE (R

EREER  ARBEECDEMALER
ME2022F3A31HE T @A ABHK 2
Ben=HEA - EFREEENTEER:

(1) ARARZEREZENBAREER
AEMERARTEEEANZY
XEHKEHEHRHERAEETK

RERSRA

(2)  HAEAER202243A31HEEMH
AOAMECEBEVEIFEOA
414,646,00087C + Al EAEEE
SKIREL &

(8) HAKEERMA ZEEARN2022
FIAARBZABARME 2
B TEH#)/575,309,0005 7T
AT EEEERIRE -

EREER  KARAREEZERE  AEH
HERREELESBITHB202243A31
HRFIARR+ @A HEME -
I ARAREBENIRFECEEERSE
REMBRERBEE -

B 20205 A% - FHEREMES (FETEM
mEDRECHETEREMBEREA - 5
HERBSA T ENERBTEREE
RZMBREALN - AEBERERLH
DERBESNER  LEHEHEHARE
B BRARBEREER T E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first
time, the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”) which are effective for the Group’s
financial year beginning 1 April 2021:

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

Amendment to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent

Concessions

COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30
June 2021

Amendment to HKFRS 16

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial performance and positions for the current and
prior periods and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

3.

FE R R] RASIERT BB M| EER
(TEBHBHREERD])

RAFEE  AEBDEXERBE LSS
MAg((BEestMae)EmRERASE
B 202164818 BB BT ERBERT
THNEBY FEREER ZERTA -

FEMBRELNFNR - &F MEREER
BETERIEIE - FE  E-F
MERELEETR - BE  BER
R E L B4R REE
RS R FE 1657 218

AT

EBMBRMELEDF 1652 FTRTMHRRE

1BETA SHBAME
SER

BB RELEDE1652 202166 A

[EFIEN 308 2%
A
mE A
BHEEE

£

RAG LR BRI BB ER 2 5T A
HAEEASERBESENNTBEER
AR ERRR LGS BB RRYRE
LmEAYE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS ERHTREETEBIMEHREER
. TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING ((EEMBHREER ] (&)

STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet AT RIEETE M E N REMNE B

effective s

The Group has not early applied the following new and AEEWBIBFEAU TG REEBETE

amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are R 18] R AN B B I e S 22 R

not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related ARUBEREER REBEOREBETA
Amendments? F17 5%

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework! BRMBREEN  RAESER

EIRBITR

Amendment to HKFRSs  Annual improvements to HKFRSs BRI BREEN FEVBREEN20185ZE
2018-2020 cycle' EHES 2020F BRI F R AE!

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets between ERMBREEAE REFHABEAFARAE

HKFRS 10 and an Investor and its Associate or 10RREBEHE GCECANEELNEIE
HKAS 28 Joint Venture? flE2sR BT R &

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or AR ENE 1Ny AESIBARSIERIR
Non-current and the related CHEN BEREES(2020)5% 25
amendments to Hong Kong RBHRE-ERAHEE
Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of REXEERRZEHE
Financial Statements - Classification by R DB BT
the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause?

Amendments to Disclosure of Accounting Policies? BERGHENZIRR BHBEKIKE

HKAS 1 and HKFRS BEMBREER
Practice Statement 2 ERBmEER 2B
HEN
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates? BRQHERNES R, BIHBHIER’
BEIA

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and BB EANE12% B-RFELZEAERBE
Liabilities arising from a Single ZBIAR BRI
Transaction?

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, plant and equipment: Proceeds BB ERNE16% WE - BERSE  FEE
before Intended Use' ZIBETR R RRFEUE"

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts: Cost of Fulfilling a BB ERETHR BEAL : BTANKNMKA?
Contract? ZBIAR

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Extension of the temporary exemption BERMBREERN ERENREERBENEG
from applying HKFRS 92 EVE AL HIEN RS RIZE 0% 2 HAR?

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January L M2022F 1 A1A Sz B RB z FEBRREE

2022. R e
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 R2023F1A1Az & FRBz FEBREAE
2023. )
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be & PFE BEIk 2 &R 2 FEER AR -
determined.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

The Directors anticipate that, except as described
below, the application of other new and amendments to
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the results and
the financial position of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax
assets in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that, on initial recognition,
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group currently
applies HKAS 12 requirements to the relevant assets
and liabilities as a whole. Temporary differences relating
to relevant assets and liabilities are assessed on a net
basis.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group
will recognise a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference can be
utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all deductible
and taxable temporary differences associated with the
right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with early
application per mitted. The Group is still in the process
of assessing the full impact of the application of the
amendments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for
investment properties and financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), which are measured at
fair values.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants in the principal
(or most advantageous) market at the measurement
date under current market condition (i.e. an exit price)
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. Details of
fair value measurement are explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Group. If a subsidiary prepares its
financial statements using accounting policies other
than those adopted in the consolidated financial
statements for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to
that subsidiary’s financial statements in preparing the
consolidated financial statements to ensure conformity
with the Group’s accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power
over the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee; and (iii)
the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the
amount of the Group’s returns.

The Company reassess whether it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of these elements of control
stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control of the subsidiary and cease when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income of subsidiaries are attributed
to the equity holders of the Company and to the non-
controlling interest.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between entities of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration
test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business. The
concentration test is met if substantially all of the fair
value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a
single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable
assets. The gross assets under assessment exclude
cash and cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and
goodwill resulting from the effects of deferred tax
liabilities. If the concentration test is met, the set of
activities and assets is determined not to be a business
and no further assessment is needed.

Business combinations

Businesses combinations are accounted for by applying
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in
a business combination is measured at fair value, which
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs incurred to effect a business combination
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in
the business combination are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income
Taxes;

° assets or liabilities related to the acquiree’s
employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 19
Employee Benefits;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

. liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment transactions of the acquiree
or the replacement of the acquiree’s share-
based payment transactions with the share-
based payment transactions of the Group are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-
based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with
that standard; and

° lease liabilities are measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments as if
the acquired lease was a new lease at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which
(a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of
low value. Right-of-use assets are measured at
an amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted
to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests, unless as required by
another standards, are measured at acquisition-date
fair value except for non-controlling interests that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured either at fair value
or at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate
share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets on a transaction-by-transaction
basis.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised
in other comprehensive income are recognised on
the same basis as would be required if the Group had
disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. During the measurement period (see
above), the provisional amounts recognised at the
acquisition date are adjusted retrospectively or
additional assets or liabilities are recognised as of
that date, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Merger accounting for business combination
involving entities under common control

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements items of the combining entities or
businesses in which the common control combination
occurs as if the combination had occurred from the
date when the combining entities or businesses first
came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses
are consolidated using the existing book values from
the controlling party’s perspective. No amount is
recognised as consideration for goodwill or excess of
acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over cost at the time of common control combination, to
the extent of the continuation of the controlling party’s
interest.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss includes the
results of each of the combining entities or businesses
from the earliest date presented or since the date
when the combining entities or businesses first came
under the common control, where this is a shorter
period, regardless of the date of the common control
combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are presented as if the entities or businesses
had been combined at the end of the previous reporting
period unless the combining entities or businesses first
came under common control at a later date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESBUR (@)
v (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition BRUBA

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of RN B i il i ae R LB BETE BB &2

promised goods or services to customers in an amount BRERIREERESREBEz2ENEP

that reflects the consideration to which the entity EEAFERLRSE - BEEmE  A%E

expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods EA-—EBSREDRZ FERRLA

or services. Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step

approach to revenue recognition:

o Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer . F— BAEBEFITLZEH

. Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in . FE=L BAEHNPZBOEMT
the contract

. Step 3: Determine the transaction price J E=H EERHE

. Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the . FENY : BRGEBHIREEHNFTZ
performance obligations in the contract BAOELE

. Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the . FRE  REEERETKELER
entity satisfies a performance obligation. ER R A

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a REBER(KE) ST BN E R ERIK

performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” A BERERONETHBERSIRBE 2

of the goods or services underlying the particular [fEH | EBEERPR o

performance obligation is transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service BHEFREZEBRFEE RIS (G —Ht

(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a EmI R IAABHER s —RIINFEE

series of distinct goods or services that are substantially MRS -  REEBB—BRNEEZE

the same. For contracts that contain more than one W AEBREAEREEEEBRRHE

performance obligation, the Group allocates the PREREBRHNEL -

transaction price to each performance obligation on a

relative stand-alone selling price basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

° The customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

o The Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the asset
is created and enhanced; or

o The Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct goods
or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer, excludes
amounts collected on behalf of third parties, discounts
and sales related taxes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Contract assets

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services
that the Group has transferred to a customer that is
not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. A contract liability represents
the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services
to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer.

A contract liability would also be recognised if
the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a
net basis.

The Group recognised revenue from the following major
sources:

° sales of properties

° operation of serviced apartments

° provision of property management services

° provision of renovation and decoration services

on construction contracts

° hotel and golf club operations
o restaurant operations
o sales of goods
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Contract assets (Continued)
Sales of properties

Revenue from sales of properties in the PRC is
recognised at a point in time when the control of the
property is transferred to the customer, generally when
the customer obtains the physical possession or the
legal title of the completed property and the Group
has present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable.

Provision of property management services

Revenue from provision of property management
services is recognised over the scheduled period on a
straight-line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.

Provision of renovation and decoration services

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group
as a construction contract when the contract relates
to work on an asset under the control of the customer
and therefore the Group’s construction activities create
or enhance an asset under the customer’s control.
Revenue from renovation and decoration services is
recognised over time.

Serviced apartments income and hotel and golf club
operations

Serviced apartments income, hotel room revenue,
other ancillary services and income from golf club
operation are recognised over time by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation, as the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance as the Group performs.

Restaurant operations

Revenue from restaurant operation is recognised at a
point in time when the catering services are provided to
customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Contract assets (Continued)
Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered
which is taken to be the point in time when the customer
takes possession of and accepts the goods. Revenue
excludes consumption tax or other sales taxes.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation (Output method)

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Leasing
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract
is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract or
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease
arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-
term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option) and leases of low value
assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the
lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease unless another
systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
assets are consumed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at that date. The lease payments are
discounted by using the interest rate implicit in the
lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability comprise:

o fixed lease payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an

index or rate, initially measured using the index
or rate at the commencement date;

o the amount expected to be payable by the
lessee under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of purchase options if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the
options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease,

if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the
lease liability (using the effective interest method) and
by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESBUR (@)
\ (CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued) HE(E)

The Group as lessee (Continued) AEBERFAHEA ()

Lease liabilities (Continued) HEBEE)

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding WEIRATER - BIEMFEHEaEQE

adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever: AR AEEEELABERE) -

. the lease term has changed or there is a . HEREFMEYRTFERERTR
significant event or change in circumstances M G AR L2 BEREHRE (L
resulting in a change in the assessment of ZIE  EZBEAT HEAER
exercise of a purchase option, in which case the B RASIEETRIR R AR BT
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the ENREFE -
revised lease payments using revised discount
rate.

. the lease payments change due to changes . MENREEHH A ST LB E
in an index or rate or a change in expected REHKEET BN ES LR
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in FEH) - ERBERT - HEAGRE
which cases the lease liability is remeasured fEAMGEANIRE RAREIEFTHEE
by discounting the revised lease payments NEREFHE(BRIFEENTER
using the initial discount rate (unless the lease FENEREMEREY  TEE
payments change is due to a change in a 15 TR RIS ETRRIRER) -
floating interest rate, in which case a revised
discount rate is used).

. A lease contract is modified and the lease . HEAHBIENAHEBNTIES
modification is not accounted for as a separate —IHEREEAR EZEBERAT
lease, in which case the lease liability is HEBEBEREBENRERERBEBER
remeasured based on the lease term of the KAERTREIR EAVR SR E T 3K
modified lease by discounting the revised lease ZEEREE 2 HEEREN
payments using a revised discount rate at the =
effective date of the modification.

Right-of-use assets (& 1 &

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement FREEERFMEHEERRE KK A

of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments Bk < BIER M EN R R MBI E 5

made at or before the commencement date and any A - BB EHEEENVILTE - &

initial direct costs, less lease incentives received. AEEEERREBREEEE - REMN

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to BMEEFTEGNIEEBEEREERNE

dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site R R FT R TR AT R - 1

on which it is located or restore the underlying asset BRIEEBSGFTEREI7THREEEL - BT

to the condition required by the terms and conditions BRI ER N2 RE - ARG A

of the lease, provision is recognised and measured BEREEEDR  RIERFXNARTIAEE

under HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a FEmESE -

Contract. The costs are included in the related right-of-

use assets, unless those costs are incurred to produce

inventories.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Except for the right-of-use assets classified as
investment properties under construction and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets
are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. They are
depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and
useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers
ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the
right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to
exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use
asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying
asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement
date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet as a separate line in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The right-of-use assets that meet the
definition of investment property are presented within
‘investment properties”.

The Group applies HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets to
determine whether a right-of-use assets is impaired and
accounts for any identified impairment loss.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

° the consideration for the lease increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor
with respect to some of its investment properties.
Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers to allocate the
consideration under the contract to each component.

Rental income from operating leases (net of any lease
incentives paid to lessees) is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to equity holders of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

4.

FEETHBERGE

S ()
REEEBEA BRI EEME
HZERER  REELHNHEBRAARE

e

REINGEFBHRERME - NEEZRH
EBEENABEREBEMRZIRITESR
BERAKEZ2EREET - WA KRR
XEBRFRAZFHERBE - IELZ
ERERA)NE M2 E RS ERL RN
Rzt T IARE S B RAT -

RHEERINEB L EARBREIINEB R
RSO R REH BB AR (BIEE
SNRIF)IEFI ML E) - LA R RIRE
A ARGZEB MR DR A2 HBE
RERUBHNEERS -

BEEE

WiE - 2EREEREREERIRE R
REHETAEREREIHSE) BEREGZ
EERAR  MAZEEENKE BEE
EABEAERERGIHEZH AL -

FIEEMEERANGEELERRNZBEA

SEoCFER REBBERAD 123



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Retirement benefits cost

Payments to defined contribution plans/state-managed
retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) are recognised as
an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees in respect of wages and salaries and annual
leave in the period the related service is rendered at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid in exchange for that service.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from “loss before tax” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of their assets and liabilities.

4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or deferred tax assets for investment properties
that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment properties under construction are
depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment properties under
construction over time, rather than through sale. If the
presumption is rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and
deferred tax assets for such investment properties
under construction are measured in accordance with
the general principles above as set out in HKAS 12
Income Taxes (i.e. based on the expected manner as to
how the property will be recovered).

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences
relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are not recognised at initial recognition and over the
lease terms due to application of the initial recognition
exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties
recognised by the Group as right-of-use assets and
lease out under operating lease.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at their fair values. Gains or loss arising
from changes in the fair value of investment properties
are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

Construction costs and interest expenses from general
borrowings incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying
amount of the investment properties under construction.

Investment properties held by the Group as right-of-use
assets are measured initially at cost in accordance with
HKFRS 16 Leases. Subsequent to initial recognition,
they are measured at fair value, which are the right-of-
use assets, but not the underlying property.

An investment properties are derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment properties under
construction are permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the investment properties (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss
in the period in which the investment properties is
derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than freehold land
as described below, are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at
initial recognition. To the extent the allocation of the
relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in
leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in
the consolidated statement of financial position except
for those that are classified and accounted for as
investment properties under the fair value model. When
the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
non-lease building element and undivided interest in
the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

The freehold land represents parcels of land owned
by the Group is initially recognised at cost and not
depreciated.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Properties under development

Properties that are being constructed or developed for
future use as held-for-sales are classified as properties
under development and stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Net realisable value is determined
by reference to the sale proceeds of properties sold
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable
variable selling expenses and the anticipated costs to
completion, or by management estimates based on
prevailing marketing conditions.

Development cost of property comprises construction
costs, borrowing costs capitalised and professional
fees incurred during the development period. On
completion, the properties under development are
transferred to completed properties held for sale.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets when the construction of the relevant properties
commences.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost comprises development
costs attributable to the unsold properties. Net
realisable value is determined by reference to the sale
proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary course of
business, less applicable variable selling expenses,
or by management estimates based on prevailing
marketing conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible asset

Intangible asset with indefinite useful lives that is
acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset are measured at
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised
in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the first-in,
first-out method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash at banks and on hand, banks
deposits with an original maturity of three months or
less.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement
of financial position of the Company at cost less
accumulated impairment loss, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value, except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets at FVTPL) are added to or deducted
from the fair values of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial asset at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently
measured in their entirety at either amortised cost
or fair value, depending on the classification of the
financial assets. Financial assets are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised
cost and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’'s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are
met:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose obijective is to hold financial assets
in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are
credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) excluding the expected credit losses (“ECL”),
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross
carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
(Continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest method
(Continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount
at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before
adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently
at amortised cost. For financial assets other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets, interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is
included in the “finance income” line item (note 11).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) are measured at
FVTPL. Specifically:

° Investments in equity instruments are classified
as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an
equity investment that is neither held for trading
nor a contingent consideration arising from a
business combination as at FVTOCI on initial
recognition.

° Debt instruments that do not meet amortised
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified
as FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent
they are not part of a designated hedging relationship.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset
and is included in the “increase (decrease) in fair value
of financial asset at fair value through profit or loss” line
item. Fair value is determined in the manner described
in note 7(c).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
trade receivables, contract assets and financial assets
measured at amortised cost. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective
financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. The expected
credit losses on these financial assets are estimated
individually for customer with significant balances or
credit-impaired and/or collectively using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including
time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, including other
receivables, amounts due from related companies
and cash and cash equivalents, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless
when there has a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’'s external (if available)
credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular debtor,
e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor, or
the length of time or the extent to which the fair
value of a financial asset has been less than its
amortised cost;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

° significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if (i) the financial instrument
has a low risk of default; (ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term; and (iii) adverse changes in economic
and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk when
the asset has external credit rating of ‘investment grade’
in accordance with the globally understood definition
or if an external rating is not available, the asset has an
internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means that
the counterparty has a strong financial position and
there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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o
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRMET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 &% 202243 318 IF &
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESBUR (@)
\ (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued) B T A (&)
Financial assets (Continued) THEEE)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject DEEEZ A RIRE BB SRS ER
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued) FEOWATREZAMIEL (B
Definition of default BHTEER
The Group considers the following as constituting an REBRAEATEAGRABEERRER
event of default for internal credit risk management EMMEEKENTH  ARBTERRE
purposes as historical experience indicates that BAFE & LA T AR fa] — I8 14 & R I BR TR — AR
receivables that meet either of the following criteria are R
generally not recoverable:
. when there is a breach of financial covenants by . EFNERP S 2k
the debtor; or
. information developed internally or obtained . A EBEE A& sk HR B AN SR SRR 89 B B
from external sources indicates that the debtor is =B EBATKAUEREREA
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, (BRASE) 2BER(TERASE
in full (without taking into account any collaterals BEREmEmERm)
held by the Group).
The Group considers that default has occurred when REBERA  MerEESHHERE0A -
a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless AIZAZNEN  RIERAEEAEGHARE
the Group has reasonable and supportable information ERNEANREETEREEMNAEREE
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is # - BIYERER ©
more appropriate.
Credit-impaired financial assets EERESREE
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more WMEE—IBNZIBHSREEMFTRKR
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated EnEAFAEXENEH  aREER
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. HEERE SREEREEERENSE
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired BEREAEBETISHO]EREE
includes observable data about the following events:
. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the . BOIASBERALBEEKRYH
borrower; 2
. a breach of contract, such as a default or past o BREY  miERSGEEES
due event;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

° it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information as described above. As
for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the
reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the
current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime
ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the
current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by a group entity are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised
cost

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter
period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating unit,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value-in-use. In assessing value-
in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to the assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or the cash-generating
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the net realisable
value of properties under development, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically,
the Group categorised the fair value measurements into
three levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as
follows:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities.

Level 2 = Valuation technique for which the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly
observable.

Level 3 — Valuation technique for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured
at fair value on recurring basis by reviewing their
respective fair value measurement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 4, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenue and expenses reported and disclosures made
in the consolidated financial statements. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the accounting
policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart
from those involving estimations (see below), that the
directors of the Company have made in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements.

Going concern consideration

The assessment of the going concern assumption
involves making judgements by the directors of the
Company, at a particular point of time, about the future
outcome of events and conditions which are inherently
uncertain. The directors of the Company believe that
the liquidity of the Group can be maintained in the
coming twelve-month period from 31 March 2022 after
taking into the considerations as detailed in note 2. The
directors of the Company also believe that the Group
will have sufficient cash resources to satisfy its future
working capital and other financing requirements for the
next twelve months from 31 March 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying the accounting
policies (Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets arising from investment properties
that are measured using the fair value model, the
directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s
investment properties and concluded that the Group’s
investment properties are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. In
measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on such
investment properties, the directors of the Company
have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties measured using the
fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is
rebutted.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

Fair values of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair values in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. The
fair values of investment properties as at 31 March
2022 and 2021 are determined by an independent
professional valuer, CHFT Advisory and Appraisals
Limited (“CHFT”), and the fair values of investment
properties are set out in note 18. Such valuations were
based on certain assumptions and estimations, which
were subject to uncertainties and might materially differ
from actual results.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair values of investment properties (Continued)

In making these assumptions and estimations,
reasonable consideration has been given to the
underlying assumptions based on market conditions
existing at the end of the reporting period. These
estimates are regularly compared to available market
information for similar type of properties in nearby
locations.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of investment
properties is approximately HK$1,957,299,000 (2021:
HK$1,954,762,000) with the decrease in fair value of
approximately HK$69,366,000 (2021: HK$4,088,000).

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for estimated
unused tax losses and other deductible differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of
deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based
upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits
together with future tax planning strategies. At 31 March
2022, no deferred tax assets (2021: approximately
HK$2,163,000 have been recognised in respect
of estimated unused tax losses of approximately
HK$8,652,000) recognised in respect of estimated
unused tax losses of approximately HK$579,806,000
(2021: HK$302,506,000) and other deductible
temporary difference of nil (2021: HK$154,914,000). The
aggregate unrecognised estimated unused tax losses
at 31 March 2022 was approximately HK$579,806,000
(2021: unrecognised estimated unused tax losses
and other deductible temporary differences of
HK$426,044,000). Further details are set out in note 31.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether
an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an
asset can be supported by the recoverable amount,
in the case of value in use, the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable
amounts including cash flow projections and an
appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs. In
assessing whether there is any indication of possible
impairment for the property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets, the Group has considered the
recoverable amounts with reference to the valuation
performed by an independent valuer.

Changing the assumptions and estimates, including
the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the recoverable
amounts.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
were HK$633,604,000 and HK$203,110,000 (2021:
HK$654,191,000 and HK$200,532,000) respectively.
During the year ended 31 March 2022, no impairment
losses on property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets were recognised (2021: impairment loss
of HK$149,920,000 and HK$52,124,000) respectively.
Details of the impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are disclosed in
notes 20 and 22 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Net realisable value of properties held for sale

The management of the Group performs a review at the
end of each reporting period on the carrying amount of
properties held for sale. Based on the review from the
management of the Group, write-down of properties held
for sale will be made when the estimated net realisable
value has declined below their carrying amounts.
In determining the net realisable value of properties
held for sale, the management of the Group based on
the recent global and local economic developments,
recent sales transactions of the Group and other similar
properties in the surrounding areas, marketability of
the Group’s existing properties, fair value valuation
performed by independent property valuers, internally
available information and management’s expectation on
future selling price.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of
the properties held for sale is approximately
HK$465,440,000 (2021: HK$455,873,000). During the
year ended 31 March 2022, a write-down of properties
held for sale of approximately HK$5,710,000 was
recognised (2021:nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
The PRC land appreciation tax

The Group is subject to the PRC land appreciation tax
in accordance with the relevant rules and regulations.
However, the implementation and settlement of the
tax varies among various tax jurisdictions in cities
of the PRC, and the Group has made provision for
such expenses but has not finalised its PRC land
appreciation tax calculation and payment with any local
tax authorities in the PRC.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, no PRC land
appreciation tax was included in the income tax
expense (2021: HK$742,000).

Fair value measurement of financial asset at FVTPL

The Group’s investments in unlisted equity securities
in the PRC are classified as financial asset at FVTPL
and measured at fair value at the end of the reporting
period.

The fair value of the financial asset at FVTPL
is determined by an independent professional
valuer, CHFT. Such valuation was based on certain
assumptions and estimates with the use of valuation
techniques including available market information and
other unobservable market data as detailed in note 7(c).

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of the
financial asset at FVTPL is approximately HK$2,741,000
(2021: HK$11,235,000), with decrease in fair value of
approximately HK$8,799,000 (2021: increase in fair
value of approximately HK$2,312,000) for the year
ended 31 March 2022.
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T8
AEBRPEORETREZISRESR
REBEAABEFABZZEMEE IR
WEMRZ LA EERFE -

BARBEFABREZEREEAAEBE
MBY EXMEEMENEE - ZEERE
ETREEAEFTERABMHEER KA
TR BRMSHBREFHERIET 64
BRI L7 (c) 7t »

R2022F3H31H ' AR BEAER
2R EERMMEL2,741,0007% 7T (2021
F : 11,235,000 70) + BB E 202293 A
S1AIEFENAREERD 48,799,000
BT (20214 « AR EEE 2,312,000
BIT) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing its capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern in order to maximise the returns to its
shareholders and benefits to other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes bank and other borrowings, promissory
notes and unsecured borrowings from a director as
disclosed in notes 28, 29 and 30 respectively, net of
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this
review, the directors of the Company consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors of the Company, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the drawdown of
unsecured borrowings from a director, repayment of
bank and other borrowings, adjustment of dividend to
shareholders, as well as new share issues and share
buy-backs.

EXEBERE

AEBEAREE 2 BN ABERASE AL
NEFERE  NEERMERR 2EH R
REMFNESRZNeG  YEBREE
REEB IR B ARBA o

AEBzERERBEEFEB DR BRER
BERMIEE28 » 29302 $R1T R A M IEE A
EAREERESEEMES REMF
R & FRA RN R BER ARIE#ER(B
EEBTRARER)

ARRABFEUNFFREERFTENERE
ERRE —#7n  ARABEFEREARZ
RAREB—REAWE ZER - REARQ
AESMNEBRER AREREBENRE
EEENEE EERTREMEE - #
BRI B A R BT B A B R B B A
A ET R E AR EHE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

7.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. HKEBRERE
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) BT AER 9
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost ~ ZE R AT E 2
TREE 60,545 194,051
Financial asset at FVTPL BEARBEFABRZ
TREE 2,741 11,235
63,286 205,286
Financial liabilities kAR
Financial liabilities at amortised REHEX T EZ
cost TREE 2,938,229 3,090,399
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b)y HEEBREEAERBEE
policies
The Group’s major financial instruments $EIZE%EM‘%IE%¢ AR
include financial asset at FVTPL, trade and Bt N BRsREE  BHRH
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, b & W BR 7R iﬁi&ﬁl—ﬁﬁ?ﬁ =i
trade and other payables, amounts due %&ﬁ@fﬁﬁﬁéﬂ FEW 1~ &
from/to related companies, bank and other NRIFIE - RITREMEE - AH
borrowings, promissory notes and unsecured EBEURESEEREE - G@H
borrowings from a director. Details of the BIAZFIERAMMERE - &
financial instruments are disclosed in respective EZ%QM‘%I/E%F%ZH 2 BT 5
notes. The risks associated with these financial @ (B AR EFERR) - 8
instruments include market risk (foreign }_LIZM MBE TR - TXEFHFW
exchange risk and interest rate risk), credit risk A RZERR CEK - BEEE
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate BREFZERR  UBRERK
these risks are set out below. The management BRUREEE 2 1556 ©

manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

7.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk

(i)

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group was not exposed to significant
foreign exchange risk as the main
operations of the Group located in
the PRC and Japan only had limited
foreign currency transactions other than
functional currency of the respective
entities denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
and Japanese Yen. The directors of
the Company consider that the foreign
currency risk of the Group is insignificant
for the years ended 31 March 2022 and
2021, hence no sensitivity analysis is
presented.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to bank and other
borrowings (note 28), promissory notes
(note 29) and unsecured borrowings from
a director (note 30), which are carried at
fixed rates.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable-
rate bank balances (note 25). As all the
Group’s bank balances were short-term
in nature, any change in the interest rate
from time to time is not considered to
have significant impact to the Group’s
performance. The Group currently does
not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, management monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider other
necessary actions when significant
interest rate exposure is anticipated.

7.

B 7 L B 2 (D)
(b) HHEMEERBERBEGE

5 B
(i)  EXERE

(ii)

IR ES B 3P 4 [ R & K BE H R
% WA RBRUARE
(TAR® DK BEGEZHE
BEBNEEEEIN - RNEE
RPBRAERZEEEK
INEZZER - RARIESE
RBE - EHE2022F k2021
FIA3IBLEE K&EE
ZINE RN NE K - Bk
I 8 2 5 BURE DT ©

VUEIEN

AEB LR EE M R 5 S
RITREMEE (H5E28) -
AEERE (20 REFE
EIREE (ME30) EEA A
BEMXRER

REB LT B RIT AR
(F5E25) M ERIR & R EF =X
Rk - HRAKBAAIRTT
A BREBREE  FX2
TREHHISHAEEL
RPENERTE - AEHE
3R B X0 B A R EORERR o A
- EREeERNERER
W HREREBAN KRR EE
BEREE M N RITE ©
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7.
(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties
is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises
from trade and other receivable, amounts due
from related companies and cash and cash
equivalents (collectively refer to as “other
financial assets”). The carrying amounts of
these balances represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to financial
assets. The credit risk is managed in a group
basis.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group
obtains credit report from commercial information
providers to assess the counterparty’s credit and
defines credit limits by counterparty. Individual
credit limits of customers are reviewed by the
management of the Group periodically. In order
to minimise the credit risk, the management of
the Group has established credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.

7. HEBRAREEE

(b)

¥R EE B R R BUR ()

EERE
R2022%F3A31H  AEEESE
ERRGEHAERRELFH K4
FBITER G B RS AR I R 351 A 48 B 1
REMEENFERAENEIMEL
ISR -

AEBEERRIERNES LE
fib FEUR PR TR~ FEURRRE X BIFRIA -
RekFRBEE(RRIEMERE
El BARGEHZERERNEH
PREREEMARZEREER
o EERRIGIZESEEETE -

REMEAHELA  AREEH
BEEAHEERGEERS - A
AR BHF T 2 EELERTL
FERBE -AEEHEEESTH
BHEPBAGERSE - BEER
EEERR AEEEERECRL
EERE FEFHRHEMERERE
Fr o DARELR AETRAETTEN IR D78
HIERS -

SECCFER RAEBERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

7.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 7. BIEKERE (&)

° (b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) EIEEKEREBERBEKEE
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) =& 7 B ()
For trade receivables and contract assets, the REFEBERNEHNEEMS
Group has applied the simplified approach AEEDEAREVBREREDNE
in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at Oz B A ERHEHEREE
lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL on BrEBEEE AEEERNBAE
an individual basis for customer with significant EEBERRERACEMETE
balances by using a provision matrix, estimated L —RREOEMOR - (E AR R R Rt
based on historical credit loss experience, as W N E KK K PRI E T
well as the general economic conditions of the FEEEE BIME  ARFES
industry in which the debtors operate. In this RE - AEEZEERBEBEER
regard, the directors of the Company consider & -
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.
For deposits and other receivables, the Group ke REMEWRERNE - A%
has assessed whether there has been a lE%fEEﬁJ—WAEWﬁAﬁE BLAZR
significant increase in credit risk since initial EBREBEMN - WEERRAIEE
recognition. If there has been a significant mne AEEBZREEmIE12EATE
increase in credit risk, the Group will measure BEEBETEBEERE -
the loss allowance based on lifetime rather than
12-month ECL.
Management considered amount due from EEEFWJ%JEWF%L HIEBR
a related company to be low credit risk. ECL EERR o EUKEER Tm HRITE
for amount due from a related company was HEPEFEETEEK HItREE
insignificant and thus no loss allowance was 2022 3A31A L FEIW EERE
recognised for the year ended 31 March 2022. BEE -
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7.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables
balance as at 31 March 2022, approximately
HK$1,407,000 (2021: HK$1,727,000),
representing 14% (2021: 18%) of the total trade
receivables, is due from the Group’s largest
customer.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has
tasked its management of the Group to develop
and maintain the Group’s credit risk grading to
categorise exposures according to their degree
of risk of default. The credit rating information
is supplied by the management of the Group
using public available financial information
and the Group’s own days past due to rate
its major customers and other debtors. The
Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and
the aggregate value of transactions concluded is
spread amongst approved counterparties.

7. HEBRAREEE

(b)

¥R EE B R R BUR ()

=B ks ()
nBETNEERRER  AAY
FHREBREETINEBREES
SIEETREERTT -

R20229F3A31H 491,407,000
BT (20214 1,727,000/ 7T) B 51
ALEEE FREWERRAESHS - 652
HE SRR 2 14% (20214 -
18%)  MEWASEBHZAREF K
1A o

AEE A EER R
REEEERR  AKEEZRFEAR
SEEEEVNERERASENE
ERRFR - ARERFERORR
RESERR - FEFREHH
AEBEREERARANBHEE
BREREEE S BB SREE
UHEEERZEP REMEBRA -
AEBEEBRORRMESFIHOE
EFSeREREE  METAX
SHBRENENBANEFTHD
i o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 7.
’ (b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s current credit risk grading
framework comprises the following categories:

B 7 L B 2 (D)
(b)

=& ks ()

MR EREE B R RBUR(E)

A EE Y EEm R (E)

AEBEBRNEERRFFERE

EUTHE -

Category Description Basis for recognising ECL
il it BREHEEHENEE
Trade Other financial
receivables assets
B 2 EWR™ HihremEE

Performing For financial assets where there has Lifetime ECL 12-month ECL
low risk of default or has not been a (simplified
significant increase in credit risk since  approach)
initial recognition and that are not
credit impaired (refer to as Stage 1)

B4 HREANRRRESERRREVRE 2HBEHEEESE 12BAEBEEES
RN mAEIE N - BEWEREERE (B1b%) |
ZEeRMBEMNDERE—R)

Doubtful For financial assets where there has Lifetime ECL —not  Lifetime ECL — not
been a significant increase in credit credit impaired credit impaired
risk since initial recognition but that
are not credit impaired (refer to as
Stage 2)

RER HRNERARER B VINERLEEEIME 2HBEHREEEE 2HEHEEEE

VEREEREZEREENDRAR/FE
&)

- WREERE

- WR{EERE
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7.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 7.

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s current credit risk grading
framework comprises the following categories:

Bt 7 L B o 2R (D)

(b) BIBEREREERRBE )

=B ks ()

AEE L EER R (&)
AEEB RN EERRFFERE

BAT DA

Category Description Basis for recognising ECL
il it BRAPCEERNESE
Trade Other financial
receivables assets
B 2 EWR™ Hith e mEE

Default Financial assets are assessed as credit  Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
impaired when one or more events credit impaired credit impaired
that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of
that asset have occurred (refer to as
Stage 3)

24 HRTEAEERE  BZEEZE— 2HENEEESE 2HBRHEEESE
HeA EEHEEARKERRE - EERE - EERE
EXEREUTEZeREEDERE
=)

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written  Amount is written
debtor is in severe financial difficulty off off
and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery

s BRBETNEGAEARRENFERNE - SECME SN

M A% 5= [ 3 8 B R (O A BT =

SECCFER RAEBERAR

159



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 7. B R SR ()

° (b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) EIEEKEREBERBEKEE
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) =& 7 B ()
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued) KEEFRZEE R (B)
The tables below detail the credit quality of the TREIAEBEEREENEEEL
Group’s financial assets as well as the Group’s ZRAEENEREERR

maximum exposure to credit risk.

2022 2021
Gross Net Gross Net
Internal 12-month or carrying Loss  carrying el Loss  carrying
credit rating  lifetime ECL EINOIT N TEN V- DT e  amount  allowance  amount
122 HES
APEETR FEEE BEAE FERE REFHE REITEIEEN-T-- B
LGNNI LCH G LCH I HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TER  TEL Ry v v
Financial assets at
amortised cost
RERRAGENSR
&E
Trade receivables Note Lifetime ECL 10,180 - 10,180 9,764 - 9,764
(simplified approach)
BHENER Bt PHESRERR
(%)
Trade receivables Note Lifetime ECL 4,253 (4,253) - 4,253 (4,253) -
(credit-impaired)
BHRWER it LHESEERS
(FERME)
Contract assets” Note Lifetime ECL 9,691 - 9,691 5,388 - 5,388
(simplified approach)
aHEE Bt P EESEERR(S(LE)
Deposits and other Performing ~ 12-month ECL 12,431 - 12,431 14,722 - 14,722
receivables”
ReRELENER  BA 12ERREEEER
Amounts due from Performing ~ 12-month ECL 6,164 - 6,164 15,778 - 15,778
related companies®
[N B4 1EARBEETEER
Bank balances and N/A 12-month ECL 31,770 - 31,770 153,787 - 153,787
cash*®
RITEARAE T ER 12ERREEEER
* The loss allowance for these balances was not material as * R2022%F3A31H - RSB EIBRE
at 31 March 2022. N END
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7.
(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

Note:

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the
loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the
ECL on these items individually for customers with significant
balances or credit-impaired and/or collectively using a
provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss
experience based on the past due status of the debtors,
adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions and
estimates of future economic conditions. Accordingly, the
credit risk profile of these assets is presented based on their
past due status in terms of the provision matrix. Note 24
include further details on the loss allowance for these assets.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
location is mainly in the PRC.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation
of other borrowings and unsecured borrowings
from a director and ensures compliance with
loan covenants, if any.

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as
the Group reported loss for the year of
approximately HK$375,610,000. As at 31 March
2022, the Group had total current liabilities
of approximately HK$364,548,000, including
bank and other borrowings of approximately
HK$32,949,000 and constructions costs accruals
and payables of approximately HK$57,779,000.
However, the Group had only cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$31,770,000. The
directors of the Company are of the opinion that
the Group will have sufficient working capital to
meet its financial obligations and the details of
which are set out in note 2.

7. MERRREEE

(b)

BB B B R R BUR ()

=B E R ()
A& E iz Em R ()
B -

HREZRBERREGNEENS - A% H
ERAEBMBREENFIRA ML
% Re2BEREEBRSEEREE A
KRERBEAERAEEREZEFEBE
TR/ SEARBEEAAEEZSHEBZ
BEHEEER  EHEDENBRREBAZ
BREENTCHMEESHZBEFRERRE
8 0 WIFHEE FHEARRE AR R R
WA PR 2 fhEt - Bt - REEEES -
ZERAEZFERRBRREBAZBER
WRER2Y - HF24HAERZEEBRRRE
ZHE—LFE

AEBERWELEE SNEERREIEET
AP -

AEESEBUALKRE RERR
SHRFNEEERR/REZKYE
BN ASE 2 28 MRERSR
ERBRE EEEEEREH
fEEREETERREEZHAE
o URERETERZHANA) °

AEEEBRRHESER -
HRAEBAFESHSFHEYL
375,610,000/ 7T ° 202243
A31H - A&EEERBAERE
47364,548,000/8 7T © BIEIRTT
REMEEZ32,949,000/8 T &
BENNEFTERREMERY
57,779,000/ 7T © A « AEBE/E
HIR & RIBITE#4I31,770,0007
T AAFEERE  AEBEAMH
EHLEESABITAMGEE -
BRFFIBERME2 -

SECCFER RAEBERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 7. B 75 [ B B (48
* (b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) EIHEKEEERERBERE
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) FEELEE(E)
The following tables detail show the Group’s TRFMRBMERREAEEHKRTE
remaining contractual maturities at the end of Dz BEERE - DIRBEERmEEZ
the reporting period, based on the undiscounted KRR (BENERERS
cash flows of financial liabilities (including both RenE) RAEE ] EKER
interest and principal cash flow) based on the ZEFAEEE -
earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay.
The Group’s financial liabilities have contractual AEBEeRABCEOINEA N
maturities as follows: T
More than  More than
Ondemand  1yearbut 2 yearbut Total
orlessthan  lessthan  lessthan Morethan undiscounted  Carrying
1year 2 years S5years  Syears  cashflows  Amount
REXY  REIE  BEE RERRS
SME BORE  BIWSE  BBSE REEH BEf
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$000
Fin TEx Thn  TEn Fin TEL
At 31 March 2022 R2022F3531R
Trade and other payables BARHERER 116,375 17,169 = = 133544 133,544
Amounts due to related companies EEELTTE 2,421 = = = 2,421 2,421
Bank and other borrowings RIRAMEE 171471 213686 594564 1,375,073 2354794 1541886
Promissory notes AREE - 1,125,350 = = 1,125,350 868,052
Unsecured borrowings from a director ~ EZERAREE 14,765 440,663 = = 455428 392,326
305032 1,796,868 594,564 1,375,073 4071537 2,938,229
At 31 March 2021 R202153A31H
Trade and other payables 5 REMENEN 177,062 = = = 177062 177,062
Amounts due to related companies ERBEATNE 4632 = = = 4632 4632
Bank and other borrowings FRAMEE 155007 111129 503996 1497599 2357751 1461967
Promissory notes RAEE - 1125350 = - 1125350 1,042,307
Unsecured borrowings froma director ~ ESEHAEE - 48058 = = 48058 404411
336721 1664537 593996 1,497,599 4092853 3,090,399
1 62 Man Sang International Limited Annual Report 2022



7.

[ ]
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R M BRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £ 202243 A31H (L&
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 7. HEEREEE)
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) EIHEEKEREBERBGKE ¢
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REELEE (E)
In addition, the maturity profile of the Group’s oh - AEEHEBE R EAES
lease liabilities is as follow: R
Morethan  More than
Ondemand  1yearbut  2yearbut Total
orlessthan  lessthan  lessthan Morethan undiscounted  Carrying
1year 2 years Syears  Syears  cashflows  Amount
REXS  BEI1F  BEXN RERRE
SME BORE  BOWSE  BBSE hEEE KEf
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$000
Thn TEn Tén  TEn T TEn
At 31 March 2022 R2022F3531R 2,892 2,529 8,122 2,100 15,643 12,853
At 31 March 2021 R202153531R 4811 2811 7,59 4740 19,958 16,020
(¢)  Fair value measurement (c) 2DREMEFE

REGEM BRI ZER LB E

Fair value measurements recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position =
The following table provides an analysis of TRHEFINESMEARBLTE S
financial instruments that are measured at fair ERAABEFEZHMBIAS

value at the end of each reporting period for o RIBEAEEESHBER - HAR
recurring measurement, grouped into fair value BECIEBEREESBEEIANE
hierarchy Level 3 based on the degree to which BARBESEIE -
the fair value is observable in accordance to the
Group’s accounting policy.
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHExT FHT
Financial asset at FVTPL BRAAREBEFTAREZZ
EREE
Unlisted equity security, grouped D¥E ﬁj"‘c{ﬁ@%\?l"z
into fair value hierarchy Level 3 R EMRERE 2,741 11,235

There were no transfers between levels of the fair
value hierarchy during the year.

FRA RABEERZELERE

% o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

7.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 7. HKEMER ()
° (¢)  Fair value measurement (Continued) (c) ~DAREMEFEGE
Fair value of financial assets that are BBEEMHEEZNABETEN
measured at fair value on a recurring basis THEEAALER
The valuation techniques and inputs used in the REEEEESECMEELARE
fair value measurements of financial asset on a B AT A B (B F i K 8 A BUR L
recurring basis are set out below: AT
Relationship of
key inputs and
Valuation Significant significant
Financial Fair value  technique and unobservable unobservable
instruments Fair value hierarchy  key inputs inputs inputs to fair value
TERAHER
MEE  HERWR DMEENEATTEE
BHIR NEE B TERAHE EXTUBERARE BABENBE
HK$
BT
Unlisted equity security  As at 31 March Level 3 Asset-based (i) Marketability (i) The higher of
at FVTPL 2022: HK$2,741,000 approach discount of 20% marketability
(2021: HK$11,235,000) (2021: 20%); and discount, the lower
the fair value.
BRARBEFAER  R2020F3A318 : £3E BEERA () Z#moocs021 () E#HFNgs - A%
AEMEEES 2,741,000 F:20%): & BEWE -
(20217 : 11,235,000
AT)
(i) Minority discount of (i) The higher the
20% (2021: 20%) minority discount,
the lower the fair
value.
(i) DEERIIN0% (i) PEERTNES -
(20215 : 20%) DAEEBLE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(c)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

Fair value of financial asset that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement

of financial asset on recurring basis are as
follows:

Bt 7 L B o 2R (D)

(c) ~DAEBEEFEGR
BEEEMEERNAEEERY
ETHEENAEEE)
TREENFIEAABEFNER
REMEEHRRMT ¢

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHER FHET

At the beginning of the year REH 11,235 8,100
(Decrease) increase in fair value AREECR)IEM (8,799) 2,312
Exchange differences MEHZER 305 823
At the end of the year REXR 2,741 11,235

Fair value of financial instruments that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The directors of the Company considered that
the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements are not
materially differ from their fair values.

BEBEEUREE N EETBNMET
AR EE

ARRBEERR  HAMBRRNIZEH
RASIRzCREERERABIREE
HEANABERLIESAER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

8. REVENUE 8. g A
BRANEEWRANSTAT

Y An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2022

HZE2022F3A31 B LFE
Property  Renovation Hotel
Chongging management and operation
property services  decoration in Japan Total
EEYE MEEERE LEREH ANEEEE b
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER TER
Type of goods and EmkREES
services
- Sales of properties - HEME - - - - -
- Operation of serviced -REXATEE
apartments 28,981 - - - 28,981
~ Property management - MEERRY
services - 30,919 - - 30,919
~Renovation and - BIEREMRE
decoration services - - 40,329 - 40,329
- Hotel room - BERR = = = 1,736 1,736
- Restaurant operation -EERE - = = 223 223
- Golf club operation -BRARGEE = = = 5,894 5,894
- Other -Hft - - - 137 137
Total revenue from RERPAHN
contracts with customers VLGN 28,981 30,919 40,329 7,990 108,219
- Gross fixed rental income -BETHRSRA 2,786 = = = 2,786
- Gross variable rental income - &3 #HM 4 UA 5,651 = = = 5,651
Total revenue s A 37,418 30,919 40,329 7,990 116,656
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

WA (48)
BERASBRANDHAT « (B) <

REVENUE (CONTINUED) 8.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE2021F3A31ALEE
Property  Renovation Hotel
Chongging  management and operation
property services  decoration in Japan Total
EEME MEEERYE EEREHS BRBEZE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THIL THT TR THx THT
Type of goods and EmRkEBHESR
services
- Sales of properties - HEME 36,554 = = = 36,554
~ Operation of serviced -REAAEEE
apartments 22,478 - - - 22,478
~ Property management - MEEERE
services - 26,249 - - 26,249
- Renovation and - REREHRE
decoration services - - 62,394 - 62,394
- Hotel room -BEERE - - - 1,282 1,282
- Restaurant operation -ZE2E - - = 1,036 1,036
- Golf club operation -RRANEEE - - = 5,442 5,442
- Other - Het - - = 273 273
Total revenue from RERFPADH
contracts with BIRA
customers 59,032 26,249 62,394 8,033 155,708
- Gross fixed rental income - BETHESRA 741 = = = 741
- Gross variable rentalincome  — 2B S WA 2,280 = = = 2,280
Total revenue A 62,053 26,249 62,394 8,033 158,729
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

8. REVENUE (CONTINUED) 8. WA (&)
° Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with REZANEEIZEFSHBRA
customers by timing of recognition
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FAT
Timing of revenue recognition ON AT
- At a point in time - IR B 360 37,863
— Over time - PR 107,859 117,845
108,219 155,708
Transaction price allocated to the remaining PEEHTEASENRZER
performance obligations
As at 31 March 2022, the aggregate amount of R2022F3A318 - HEERETT (I
transaction price allocated to the performance DABITBHECNRZERBBHNE
obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially 19,578,000/8 7T (20214 : 11,173,000/
unsatisfied) is approximately HK$19,578,000 (2021: 7T) © Z e BETAHERN R RERHEE R
HK$11,173,000). The amount represents revenue HEMARTEIA ©
expected to be recognised in the future from renovation
and decoration services.
The Group will recognise this revenue as the service is REB KRR T FRER LA - T E
completed, which is expected to occur over the next BRRR12E18E A NBE A -
12-18 months.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors of the Company have been
identified as the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM”). Management determines the operating
segments based on the Group’s internal reports, which
are reviewed by the executive directors of the Company
for performance assessment and resources allocation.

The CODM reviews the overall results of financial
position of the Group as a whole prepared based on the
same accounting policies.

Upon the acquisition of Tafutsu Kabushiki Kaisha* (#& 3\
@1 %3) (“Doof Japan”) (note 38) and Wenzhou
Junshang Decoration Company Limited (note 39), the
Group has expanded into the provision of renovation
and decoration services in the People’s Republic of
China (“Mainland China”) and hotel operation in Japan
and thus had presented four reportable segments.

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and
managed separately according to the nature of the
operations and the product perspectives. Each of the
Group’s reportable operating segment represents a
strategic business unit that are subject to risks and
returns that are different from the other reportable
operating segment. Details of the reportable operating
segment are as follows:

1. Chongqing property — Property development,
sales and leasing of properties

2. Property management services — Provision of
property management services

3. Renovation and decoration — Provision of
renovation and decoration services

4, Hotel operation in Japan — Hotel operation in
Hokkaido, Japan

* For identification purpose only

2 ERE R
RRARHTEZTRIBLERRE(IE
BERRE]) - BEEERBAQFRNTE
EMEHMERAFAERERDEE 2 A%
BARREEELLENE

TBLERREFHNAKREREMER S
BB AN BEEAE -

RE®RA gL H(ZH AR (K=
38) LA ROR M E H &K & B IR 2 7] (M 7£39)
% AEBEBAERPEARLME
(IR B AR ) 3R i 3R AE I 5 o AR A5 A B 10
BAZERE  WHEIE 25 M{ER 28

DHB ©

REBBRRER ZMEREmMmFIED
BRMEEHEEERD - AREZEEA
EBRIREDMRER —EXERMEEN
H [ 0 () 3 £ EL At P] 2 3 2 I 0 BT
Rl o AI2W 2 LEDRFHBWAT :

1. EEVE - DEER  HEREE
SUES

2. MEEERY - UM EEERS

<) KA R K - KRG REMRSE

BAEELE - BALBENEE
2B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

. The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and

results by reportable and operating segments.

For the year ended 31 March 2022

9. IHERGE
TRRBZEAEZHREEEDBEHNAKHE
Wz R RE DT

HZE2022F3A31HILFE

Property  Renovation Hotel
Chongging management and operation
property services  decoration in Japan Total
/ES EER BAE &
EEYF EERE ot gE @t
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TR TEx TR TR TR
REVENUE KA
Revenue from external REMNPEPZBA
customers 37,418 30,919 40,329 7,990 116,656
Segment (loss) profit A E(EE)EF (267,055) 2,592 (11,485) (12,673) (288,621)
Unallocated income RABEWA 12
Unallocated expenses RAMEAX (86,635)
Loss before tax BRAIEE (375,244)
I
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE2021F3A31HLFE
Property  Renovation Hotel
Chongging  management and operation
property services decoration in Japan Total
S KER BARBEE
BEME EER% Fe 2iE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET TEx FAT THT
REVENUE 9N
Revenue from external REMNPEPZBA
customers 62,053 26,249 62,394 8,033 158,729
Segment (loss) profit D E(E18) & T (408,050) 4,293 7,679 (12,104) (408,182)
Unallocated income AOEKA 1,179
Unallocated expenses ADEHX (107,962)
Loss before tax BREATE R (514,965)
I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in note 4. Segment (loss) profit represents the (loss
from) profit earned by each segment without allocation
of certain finance income, certain finance costs, certain
expenses, certain impairment loss on property, plant
and equipment and certain impairment loss on right-of-
use assets. This is the measure reported to CODM for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and
liabilities by reportable and operating segment:

9.

2 EHER (&)

REDH NG BRAN T4 A AL
FEtBRAR - 2MBR)ENIESD
BRAT(EL 2 B8 MEUZEF - AL |
EETHHEA - ETHHBRE - BTH
X ETHE  BEERREREBEAR
ETERREERMERRE - LIBERD
RERRBFBATELERREER A
BHE

P HEEREE
AREEERABZOMEAEHREE
DEEINT

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Segment assets PHWEE
Chongging property EEWHE 3,223,200 3,358,222
Property management services S ERLNE 19,263 15,635
Renovation and decoration B8 M B A 27,285 37,561
Hotel operation in Japan A28 & & 58 72,174 79,030
Unallocated assets ROBLEE 10,346 12,351
Total consolidated assets e BERT 3,352,268 3,502,799
Segment liabilities PEEE
Chongaing property EEME 2,190,287 2,115,469
Property management services Y E R RS 8,502 7,374
Renovation and decoration BE LI 32,266 30,368
Hotel operation in Japan A28 & 2 58 19,268 19,269
Unallocated liabilities KobLafE 911,786 1,141,191
Total consolidated liabilities meRERRE 3,162,109 3,313,671

Segment assets exclude certain property, plant and
equipment, certain right-of-use assets, certain intangible
assets, certain other receivables and certain cash and
cash equivalents as these assets are managed on a
group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude certain other payables,
certain amounts due to related companies, certain
unsecured borrowing from a director, promissory notes
and certain lease liabilities.

SHWEETREETYE  BEREME -
ETEARAE  ETEMEE ETH
HEKERRETRSRERARS - AR
SEEIRAABEEE -

DHBREIBRETHEMEMNER - &T
ENEEARFIA ETHKAESHER
HER AARBRETHERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mREMBmERME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 &% 202243318 |LF &
9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. AHERGE
° Other segment information Hitn BER
For the year ended 31 March 2022 B E2022F3A31ALFE
Property  Renovation Hotel
Chongging management and operation
property service  decoration inJapan  Unallocated Total
BENE WEEERE #EREN AXEEEE AOE @t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TR TR TR TR TR TR
Amounts included in the measure ~ BFEREA HIEZT
of segment profit or loss or PPEENSH -
segment assets:
Depreciation of property, nE  BERZETE
plant and equipment 29,253 127 112 6,694 2,096 38,2682
Depreciation of right-of-use RRELERE
assets 5,712 - - - - 5,712
Impairment loss on properties HELENERESE
held for sale 5,710 - - - - 5,710
Bank interest income BITH Bz (39) (18) (4) - @ (63)
Decrease in fair values of RENERABERD
investment properties 69,366 - - - - 69,366
Increase in fair value of financial K2R BEGFABZZ
assets at FVTPL CREELREE
Zm 8,799 - - - - 8,799
Finance cost BBRAR 125,687 3 1,153 = 58,759 185,602
Additions to non-current assets REERBEE 4,533 268 49 1,803 = 6,653
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBmERME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 #; £ 202243 318 |5 /&
SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. 7 EBE R (&)
Other segment information (Continued) Hih 5 BER (&) "
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE2021F3A31BLFE
Property  Renovation Hotel
Chongging  management and operation
property service decoration inJapan  Unallocated Total
EENE WEERRE  REREH BABELE RAE &5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHL FHL FHL FHL FHL FHL
Amounts included in the measure ~ BFERTEA HIEHT
of segment profit or loss or PREENSH -
segment assets:
Depreciation of property, nE - BERIENE
plant and equipment 33,396 39 64 4,753 2,260 40,512
Depreciation of right-of-use RRELERE
assets 7,209 - - - 1,823 9,032
Impairment loss on right-of-use EREEERESR
assets 52,124 - - - - 52,124
Impairment loss on property, nE - BERRERE
plant and equipment B 149,920 = = = = 149,920
Bank interest income RITF B (204) (13) (13) = e (230)
Decrease in fair values of RENERARERD
investment properties 4,088 - - - - 4,088
Increase in fair valug of financial KA L BEGFABZZ
assets at FVTPL SREENAEE
bl (2,312) = = = S (2,312)
Impairment of trade and other BHRAMEWER
receivables HE - 3677 - 576 = 4,253
Finance cost BBRER 84,900 4 737 = 68,757 154,398
Written off of other receivable E R IR S 8 19,153 = = = = 19,153
Additions to non-current assets REFTHEE 40,963 330 333 = 2,610 44,236

* The balance has been presented as nil as a result of rounding.

* ARRHBBNERCENAT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 2 EHER (&)
° (a) Information about major customers (@ EFHXEEFZEH
Revenue from customers of the corresponding HEFEEASEEBEWABRI0%
year contributing over 10% of the total revenue WEFPIEALRT
of the Group are as follows:
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
THxT FHET
Customer A' EPA N/A
TEA 54,109
1 Revenue from renovation and decoration segment L ENEEFEYSET iban L ON
(b)  Geographical information (b) HEHHR
Disaggregation of revenue by geographical @ E YA
region
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Mainland China GRlCTPNS 108,666 150,696
Japan =N 7,990 8,033
116,656 158,729
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. IWBERGE)
(b)  Geographical information (Continued) (b) HEERE)
Disaggregation of non-current assets by B EE S R EE
geographical region
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHEx FHET
Mainland China Hp B K B 2,736,278 2,744,785
Japan H 65,510 70,401
Others Eb 3,725 5,822
2,805,513 2,821,008
Note:  Non-current assets excluded the financial assets at Bt : FERBEETBERAALBETA
FVTPL. BHZEMEE -
10. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (LOSSES), NET 10. HttW AR FRE (EIR)
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Exchange gain (loss), net b 5 F e (& 18) a1 (287)
Impairment loss on trade and B 5 K CE h FE W AR FOR(E 5 18
other receivables - (4,253)
Written off of other receivable LA 8 U5 BR SR 8 = (19,153)
Government grants (note) BT Ek (M) 531 832
Others ) (1,343) 12,262
(771) (10,599)
Note: PEE -

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recognised
government grants of HK$673,500 in respect of COVID-19-related
subsidies, the Employment Support Scheme provided by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region under the

Anti-Epidemic Fund. No such grant was received for the year ended 31

March 2022.

HZE2021F3A3NAIEFE - AEBEGRBEBFRITER
EBAREHEREESRENRMETSEBOH
R 55 4 7 55 40 B A B FE SR IR T 5 B 673,500 7T © B
£202293A31 B IEFE W MUEGZ AR AL ©

SEoCFER REBBERAD 175



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

11.  FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS 1. BMBBRARBBRE
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Finance income: FREURA -
- Bank interest income - IRITA B M E 63 230
Finance costs: B RAAN
— Interest on bank and other borrowings — 17 R EMEEF &5 107,876 108,919
— Interest on unsecured borrowings from — & HEEIKIHEEF &
a director 22,927 6,226
— Interest on promissory notes (note 29)  — # & Zi&F B (i 7£29) 53,745 62,112
- Interest on lease liabilities (note 22) -HEAER B (KFE22) 1,054 996
185,602 178,253
Less: amount capitalised on qualifying & : @B BEEENZ
assets (note) caACIEED) = (23,855)
185,602 154,398
Note: MEE
For the year ended 31 March 2021, the borrowing costs capitalised from HZE2021F3A31HLFE B —REEHEERL
the general borrowing pool are calculated by applying a capitalisation WEERERIHEEREENRZIEAEF7.35%H
rate of 7.35% per annum to expenditure on qualifying assets. No such BARCKETE - HE2022F3A31HIEFE - #ES
qualifying assets was applicable during the year ended 31 March 2022. MEEREERA -
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13.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

LOSS BEFORE TAX 12. KRBIATEE
Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging: PRAZAIES B TSR A T B IBER *

2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Staff costs (including directors of the BIRA(BERARRES)
Company)
- salaries and other allowances - He M EMER 64,413 60,743
- retirement benefits scheme — RIRAE R EH B
contributions 8,275 6,502
72,688 67,245
Cost of properties recognised as an ERER S 2 WEKAR
expense - 51,169
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEN B &
- Statutory audit services - AR EZIRE 1,760 1,900
- Non-statutory audit services - IEEEBZIRTS 890 165
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BELREEBTE
equipment 38,282 40,512
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 5,712 9,032
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 13. FB8HiRxX
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current income tax B EA Fr 18 8¢
- PRC Enterprise Income Tax - REMER 6,389 1,743
- PRC Land Appreciation Tax — PR I - 742
6,389 2,485
Deferred tax (note 31) EIEFLIE (PP EE31) (6,023) 2,659
366 5,144
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

13.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)
Hong Kong Profits Tax

No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided since no
assessable profits have been generated during both
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

Japan Corporate Income Tax

No Japan Corporate Income Tax has been provided
since no assessable profits have been generated
during both years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax in respect of
operations in the PRC is calculated at a rate of 25%
on the estimated assessable profits for the years
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 under the Law of the
PRC’s on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law.

The PRC Land Appreciation Tax

Land appreciation tax in the PRC is levied on properties
developed by the Group for sale, at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of
land value under the applicable regulations, which is
calculated based on the proceeds of sales of properties
less deductible expenditures including cost of land
use rights, borrowing costs, statutory deduction and all
property development expenditures.

13.

FriSBiRE % (&)

EBFEH
MEREEFSTETIREE - WIBERE
F2022F K 2021F3A31H L FEWEE
A AE ] JE AR B A o

BARGEFREH

BEE AR ESHATIREE - o/
REE 20224 202143 A318 IER{ESE
B E A ERTUREA o

FEI R EATER
EHTPRHEEZHPECEMSHERE
(CREMEMSTHE (EMSTHED K
(CEMBRIEEBIZN) st 8 2= 2022F &
20213 A31H L FE 5T FERBE FIZ
FRE25%+E -

B+ b E B

PRz THIBRERIAAREEREHE
ZWE  BELHZ FHEARETER30%
E60% R - B EIATRBERRE
PAH )5 P 1S SR IR HIBR AT H00RF S (B4R
THERERA - EEKA - JEE R
PIEMEZERMAS)FEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 13.
The PRC Land Appreciation Tax (Continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled
to the loss before tax per the consolidated statement of

profit or loss as follows:

FriS#ina < (&)

B £ b 3B B () o
AEEMEHAX A EEARRR RN
BRI AR AT

2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER FHET
Loss before tax B R ES 1R (375,244) (514,965)
Tax calculated at respective income tax EZAABATS M EAE 2 FHE
rate (85,814) (119,204)
The PRC Land Appreciation Tax ot b3 E TR - 742
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax ~ BBERT 2 WA 2 Fi 5z &
purpose (484) (185)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible ~ NAHIFHE Z X 2 ST &
for tax purpose 19,502 79,846
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ RIERH BB B Z MIEFE 67,162 43,945
Income tax expenses for the year AEEHSHHE 366 5,144

Details of deferred income tax are set out in note 31.

EEPTIS A BRI 531 -
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mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 14. EERIETHAEMS
* EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEBERFETHAEMS
The remunerations paid or payable to each of BT TR A R84 (20214 -
the 8 (2021: 8) directors and chief executive of BE)EFERTBTHRABZHEH
the Company were as follows: AT
For the year ended 31 March 2022 B E2022F3A31HLFE
Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
HiTES BUkYTES
Mr.Huang M. Jin Mr.Li ~ Mr.Xu Ms.Pau Mr.Wong Mr.Yuen
Mr.Hu  Xiaohai Jianggui  Zhenyu Haohao  Yeeling  Kwan Kit Hoi Po Total
HrE EBELE SIHEL ZRERE % BT EEAGE RERAE it
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn Tz THr TR TEx TEx  TEx  TER  TEn
Emoluments paid or A—BALER
recelvable In respect EZREEA
ofaperson's servicesas  FREEMFEN
adirector, whether ofthe Bl (T A
Company or its ARRGEN
subsidiaries ndertaking: ~ BAAEE) :
Fees we 3,600 350 350 350 375 220 220 220 5,685
Emoluments paid or HESEEER
receivable inrespectof  AAFRENE
diector’s other services ~ ARIFEEBHER
in connection with the RBE %Y
management of the e
affairs of the Company
and its subsidiaries
undertaking:
Other emoluments Hftie
Salaries i 840 = = - 2660 = = - 3500
Retirement benefit EAERE B
scheme contributions # 102 = = = 18 = = = 120
942 - - - 2,678 - - - 3,620
Total emoluments Hees 4542 350 350 350 3,053 20 20 20 9305
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 14. EERIETHAEMS(E)
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) ¢
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (@) EEBERIFETHAEMEGE
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2021 EHE2021FE3A31AILFE
Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
HES BUiRES

Mr.Huang M. Jin MrLi M.Xu  Ms.Pau Mr.Wong M Yuen
M.Hu  Xaohai Jianggui  Zhenyu  Haohao  Yeeling  KwanKit Hoi Po Total
fEE EREEE SIERE PETRL BREAE BREXT ERAKE REARE &
HK$000  HK$000 HK$000 HKSO00 HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
Tér TEr TEn TAr  TEr  TAr  TEn  TEn  TEn

Emoluments paid or R-BALER
recelvable in respect ESREEA
ofapersonsservicesas  FRISE (FIEN
adirector, whether of the Bl (T &

Company or its ARATENE
subsidiaries undertaking: ~ AFEE)
Fees He 3,600 600 600 600 600 220 220 220 6,660

Emoluments paid or HESEHER
receivable inrespectof  ARFAREME
diectors other services  AAEBAEL
in connection with the RBE RS

management of the Big -
affairs of the Company
and ts subsidiaries
undertaking:
Other emoluments e
Salaries e 840 - - - 3900 = = - 4T
Housing allowance FERE 2016 = = = = = = - 2016
Retirement benefit RIVEME I
scheme contributions E:g % = = = 18 . S S 113
2951 - - - 3918 - - - 6,869
Total emoluments k2 6,051 600 600 600 4518 220 220 220 13529
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 14. EERFIETHAEME (E)
® EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)  Directors’ retirement benefits and termination (b) EEBZERAEFEBEBER
benefits
Except for Mr. Hu and Mr. Xu Haohao, none of B Z=2022F K 2021F3A31HEF
the directors of the Company received or will B BT ERBRREZEEN - B
receive any retirement benefits or termination AN E)E BB S B E R
benefits during the years ended 31 March 2022 KA SRR AR A o
and 2021.

(c)  Waived or agreed to waive any emoluments (c) HMEIEDEHREETAHS
None of the directors of the Company waived H E20229F K2021F3A31H IFF
or agreed to waive any emoluments during the B MEARAEEHERRER
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. ZEAME -

(d)  Inducement to join or upon joining the Group (d) WIIMAEREESIAMALER
No emoluments have been paid by the Group to H E2022F 20213 A31H IEF
any of the directors of the Company or the five B AEBEVERAQREMNES
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join FhEmaITMATZNERBE
or upon joining the Group, or as compensation EREMAEREE LR IMAREE
for loss of office for the years ended 31 March B2 BB S E ARG E -
2022 and 2021.

(e)  Chief executive officer of the Company (e) EATTHAR
Mr. Xu Haohao is acted as the chief executive BREIZEEEERRTITHEH -
officer of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

15. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 15. EEEREFMAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments rEEBRAEEaTMALH  BEmE ¢
in the Group, two (2021: two) were directors of the (2021 : MB)BARAES ' HEME
Company and whose emoluments are included in HREXHFT42HEREER - $BRT=%
the disclosures in note 14 above. The emoluments of (20214 : ZB)ALZB&MT :
the remaining three (2021: three) individuals were as
follows:
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FET
Salaries and other benefits e MHAmEF 3,130 4,362
Contributions to retirement benefit RIRAEFFT B R
schemes 54 54
3,184 4,416
Their emoluments are within the following bands: BREMENFUATHE :
2022 2021
No. of No. of
employee employee
EE®E EE &R
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 2 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T = 1,500,000/ 7T 1 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £ 2,000,000/ 7T - 1
3 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

16. LOSS PER SHARE 16.

Y The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

BRER
AR ERA AN R8T
B TAREE -

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTER FHET
Loss =]
Loss for the year attributable to owners  FARFTESREARL
of the Company for the purpose of BEBEIARBER A
basic and diluted loss per share JEEARFEEE (371,735) (621,821)
’000 ‘000
TR T
Number of shares R EE

Weighted average number of ordinary ~ FIRsHE &I B AR K #5E
shares for the purpose of basic and 518 2 I AR N T £

diluted loss per share

538,240 415,514

The denominators used are the same as those
calculated above for both basic and diluted loss per
share.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purposes of calculating basic loss per share has been
adjusted, taking into account the share consolidation
(“Share Consolidation”) and the new shares issued
during the year ended 31 March 2022 as further
detailed in note 32.

Since there are no potential dilutive shares in issue
during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, basic
and dilutive loss per share are the same for both years.

PPN BE s EESRERNNEEER
PR &R -

ARETEEREABE BRI METH
HEELAE - ER 2 RPN FE325
gD & Bt ((R1H & 0F)) R B E 20224
3A31BIEFEEHITHHKG -

RN E E2022F N 2021F3A31R ILFE
REBEEECDHTRG  MZEFEN
EREARGESEEREAR -
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18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year
ended 31 March 2022, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period (2021:

nil).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The movement of the Group’s investment properties
and the reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement

are as follows:

HEC022F3A31B I FEWERMekE ¢

17. KE
HIRFHEMRE -
SERHEAIRR B (20214 : £8) o
18. BREYWE

AEEREMEZEHEE

SHEZHEMT :

Investment Right-of-use

BMEHRETTRER

properties assets Total
REYHE FRAEEE wat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FHT
FAIR VALUE NREE
At 1 April 2020 20204 1H 1,726,980 23,201 1,750,181
Additions = 40,844 - 40,844
Interest capitalised FMEERE 23,855 = 23,855
Lease modification MEBN = (12,420) (12,420)
Decrease in fair value (note) AR EERD G (11,371) 7,283 (4,088)
Exchange differences M 5 = %8 155,149 1,241 156,390
At 31 March 2021 and R2021F3H31H
1 April 2021 K2021F4A41H 1,935,457 19,305 1,954,762
Additions NE 6,710 - 6,710
Decrease in fair value (note) DREBEBD (M) (65,895) (3,471) (69,366)
Exchange differences PE N 28 64,563 630 65,193
At 31 March 2022 7A202263A31H 1,940,835 16,464 1,957,299
Note:  For the year ended 31 March 2022, decrease in fair value Mk : BZE2022F3A31ALEFE  AREERD

of approximately HK$69,366,000 (2021: HK$4,088,000) is
attributable to the changes in unrealised loss relating to
investment properties at the end of the reporting period.

#769,366,000/8 7T (20214F : 4,088,000/ 7T)
THERERREARLEME 2 REREE

=
=

SECCFER RAEBERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mREMBmERME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 #% 2022434318 I /&
18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 18. BEWHE(E)

. The Group’s investment properties of approximately AEBREWHEH1,940,835,000E 7T
HK$1,940,835,000 (2021: HK$1,935,457,000) have (20214 : 1,935,457,0007 7T) & EHK 38 LA
been pledged to secure the bank borrowings granted BERETAER 2 RITIEE (FizE28) ©
to the Group (note 28).

During the year ended 31 March 2021, there was a HZE2021F3A31AILFE EHREFTE
modification of a lease agreement for office premises W EwEETEN  BEREMEETE
and right-of-use asset under investment properties FAREE E 412,420,000/ 70 B HEFEBUH FE
of approximately HK$12,420,000 was derecognised R e
accordingly.
An analysis of the Group’s investment properties that R EREBRANBEAEZAEEE
are measured subsequent to initial recognition at BEWME  DEAREBEFSFEHABEBZA
fair value, grouped into fair value hierarchy Level 3 BREESHEAELAABESFIE  FED
based on the degree to which the inputs to fair value WEAT
measurements is observable is as follows:
Fair value Fair value
measurement measurement
under fair value under fair value
GIEICTOVARCEIRE  hierarchy Level 3
CURIRET PPl at 31 March 2021
R20225F3A31H ESAAEEC)EICEE
ZAREBEEIIE EAANEER]S
DAAEBHENE NAEEBEE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Recurring fair value measurements KEHAREERNR
- Investment properties situated in —“UREREE 2
Chongqing, Western China WEME 1,957,299 1,954,762
There were no transfers between fair value hierarchy RREFE 2R EEFIE - F2EEE
Levels 1, 2 and 3 during both years. 3fE 2 M e o
Valuation processes fHERE
The Group’s investment properties at 31 March AEER2022%3 4318 %202143 A31
2022 and 31 March 2021 were valued by CHFT, HOREMERBYUSEKREXAHELE
an independent qualified professional valuer not E R E s EMEETEE  ZE
connected with the Group who hold recognised relevant BRSERRI ZEAZTEERS - BEH
professional qualification and has recent experience HHEUME - REMEEELRLER - 5t
in valuing similar properties in the similar locations. In AEBMBREMELARBECMKEM
estimating the fair value of all of the Group’s investment T REDEEACASERAEER KK
properties, the highest and best use of these properties ER% -
in the current use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

18.

Description Fair value

i ArEE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

18. KREWEGEH)

E(F3EHEHEEN

Range of unobservable
inputs (probability
weighted average)
AUBRR\UEEE(HE
MEFHE)

Valuation technique Unobservable inputs

fhER TURRRARE

RRAERTIBERAMB A RAEET ¢

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value
TIBRBRAHEEL R
EEZRE

Chongging ~investment ~ 31 March 2022:

properties HK$1,940,835,000
(2021:
HKS$1,935,457,000)
EE-RENE 020537318 :
1,940,835, 0007 T2
(0215
1,935,457 00074 )
Chongging - 31 March 2022:
commercial building ~ HK$16,464,000
(Right-of-use assets) ~ (2021:
HK$19,305,000)
ER-HEAE 2002F3R31E
(FREEE) 16,464,007
(20215 -
19,305,00057T)

Direct comparison approach ~ Recent transacted price 31 March 2022: RMB32,000 -

(2021: Residual Method - by RMB164,000 (2021:
reference to recent sales RIMB25,000 - RMB185,000)
price of comparable per square metre
properties in price per square
meter basis using market data
which is publicly available and
taken into account of
estimated construction
cost that will be expended to
complete the development)

BRABE0E - BMEE  ROMRER 02253318  §THK
- EARAARATERY ARE3,00072
g - WETARZ AR 16400070
ERARESZMH RN (20215 : ARB25,000T2
FHER  YHRTKERD ABRH185,0007)
BRBER B RRAA)

Income approach - by reference  Prevailing market rents  Discount rate at 8%

to capitalised income derived (2021:8.5%)

from market observable
transactions

WAE-SETEBRR S  Rimsks NRE A%
BRLA (20015 : 8.5%)

The higher the recent fransacted
price, the higher the fair value

The higher the prevailing market
rent, the lower the fair value

BmsleRs  AAERE
R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

19. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 19. FEHEMHE
L ]
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FHET
Properties held for sale BIELEWE 465,440 455,873
In Chongging City, PRC HPEIEET 465,440 455,873
The properties under development was completed and REE2021F3A31BHILFE » BEFY
transferred to the properties held for sale during the ¥ERTUWEHBERELEWE - Ltk
year ended 31 March 2021. All of the above properties BRELEMERERRAEBE LT EER
held for sale are to be sold as part of the normal B —HoHE  AUSERERRBEAE
operating cycle of the Group thus they are classified as =3
current assets.
As at 31 March 2022, the Group has pledged 20226 3A31H  AEEEHEAK
the properties held for sale at carrying amount of EE#) 5465,440,000/8 7T (20214 -
approximately HK$465,440,000 (2021: HK$455,873,000) 455,873,000 70) < FH1ELEWME - 1R
to secure the bank borrowings granted to the Group REBBERBRITEE 2 ERE1FE28) ©
(note 28).
During the year ended 31 March 2022, impairment loss HZE2022F3A31HIEFE - FIELEY
on properties held for sale amounted to approximately ¥ 2R EEE495,710,000% 7T (2021 : £)
HK$5,710,000 (2021: nil) was recognised in profit or BERIBRER -
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & £2022F3A31H IEF &

20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 20. Y- BERRZE
Furniture,
Freehold Improvements  Serviced Buildings&  Leasehold fixtures and Motor
and onland apartments  structure improvements  equipment  vehicles Total
KAER BER ffh - RER

1# thAE  BEALR REY REETRE R hE Eh)
HK$000 HK§000  HKS000  HKS000 HK$1000 HKS000  HK$000  HK§OOO
TR TER TER TR TR TER TR TR

Cost A
At 1 April 2020 #R2020E4A 1R 11,786 47,501 675,381 29,438 13,633 52,779 7314 837,832
Additions AE - - - - 959 2,178 255 3,392
Acquisition of subsidlaries YEHBAR

(note 39) (H&E39) = = - = = = 4 41
Exchange differences EiES (236) (951) 48,69 (589) - 463 9 51614
At 31 March 2021 and R021E3R31A

1 April 2021 R021F481R 11,550 46,550 724,036 28,849 14,592 59,593 7,709 892,879
Additions AE - 448 - - - 17% 1,248 3,490
Exchange differences EiER - - 19,016 - - 2,618 62 21,696
At31 March 2022 R202E3A31A 11,550 46,998 743,052 28,849 14,592 64,005 9,019 918,065
Accumulated depreciation ZAHERNE

and impairment
At 1 April 2020 H2020E4A1H - 8,293 5,095 5162 13,633 5,035 3,241 40,419
Provided for the year EmgE - 2738 19,864 1,691 479 14584 1,156 40512
Impairment loss recognised RERNEDAE

in profit or loss B - - 138675 - - 11,245 - 149920
Exchange differences EiER = (166) 6,916 (100) = 1,151 3% 7837
At 31 March 2021 and #2021%3A318

1 April 2021 R2021E481H - 10,865 170,510 6,753 14112 32,015 4433 238,688
Provided for the year ERigE - 3,820 16,012 2,804 320 13,458 1,868 38,282
Exchange differences EHEE - - 6,361 = = 1,09 34 7491
At31 March 2022 R2022E3A31A - 14,685 192,883 9,557 14432 46,569 6,335 284,461
Carrying amount K
At 31 March 2022 R202253431H 11,550 32,313 550,169 19,292 160 17436 2,684 633,604
At 31 March 2021 R2021E3A31H 11,550 35,685 563,526 22,096 480 21,578 32716 654,191
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 # £ 202243 A31H [t F &

20.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment,
other than freehold land and construction in progress,
are depreciated on a straight-line basis, after taking
into account their estimated residual values, over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

2.5% —10%
20% — 40%

Buildings & structure

Furniture, fixtures and
equipment

Improvements on land

Leasehold improvement

Motor vehicles

Serviced apartments

4% —6.87%

Over the term of the lease
20% — 25%

33 years

As at 31 March 2022, the directors of the Company
conducted a review of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment and the recoverable amounts of relevant
property, plant and equipment was higher than the
carrying amount, no impairment loss is recognised. As
at 31 March 2021, the Group determined that a number
of those assets were impaired due to the operating
loss status of the Group and/or decrease in market
price of the relevant assets, the fair value less cost of
disposal of serviced apartments and furniture, fixtures
and equipment are lower than their carrying amounts,
impairment loss of HK$149,920,000 was recognised
during the year ended 31 March 2021. Market
comparable approach is used to measure fair value
less costs of disposal. As at 31 March 2022 and 2021,
the recoverable amounts of the relevant assets have
been determined on the basis of valuation performed
by a qualified valuer. The fair value measurement of the
recoverable amount is categorised within Level 3 of fair
value hierarchy.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has pledged
the serviced apartments with carrying amount
of approximately HK$550,169,000 (2021:
HK$553,526,000) to secure the bank borrowings
granted to the Group (note 28).

W - BB KRB (&)

BROKAEELI M RERZTIREIN - Lty
¥ BERREBBEEVYUESENE K
T RAAET RIS EER 2 BRI A F RN
™

BFEREREY 25%%10%

R KER 20% = 40%
B

Tk 